
AGENDA

POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING
Date: Wednesday, 28 October 2015
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

Membership:

Councillors Mike Baldock, Monique Bonney, Andy Booth (Vice-Chairman), Lloyd Bowen 
(Chairman), Katy Coleman, Alan Horton, James Hunt, Peter Marchington, Ben Stokes and 
Roger Truelove.

Quorum = 3 

Pages
1. Apologies for Absence and Confirmation of Substitutes

2. Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 16 September 2015 
(Minute Nos. 215 - 219) as a correct record.

3. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence 
of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, 
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Director of 
Corporate Services as Monitoring Officer, the Head of Legal or from other 
Solicitors in Legal Services as early as possible, and in advance of the 

Public Document Pack



Meeting.

Part B reports for the Committee to decide

4. Housing Allocations Policy

The Cabinet Member for Housing, Head of Residence Services and 
Strategic Housing and Health Manager have been invited to attend for 
this item.

1 - 30

5. Playing Pitch Strategy

The Cabinet Member for Localism, Sport, Culture and Heritage and the 
Leisure and Technical Services Manager have been invited to attend for 
this item.

31 - 218

6. Committee Work Programme

The Committee is asked to review and discuss the Committee’s Work 
Programme for the remainder of the year.

219 - 
220

Issued on Monday, 19 October 2015

The reports included in this agenda can be made available in 
alternative formats. For further information about this service, or to 
arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about this Committee please visit www.swale.gov.uk

Director of Corporate Services Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT



Policy Development and Review 
Committee

Agenda Item: 4

Meeting Date 28th October 2015

Report Title Housing Allocations Policy Review

Cabinet Member Cllr John Wright

SMT Lead Pete Raine

Head of Service Amber Christou

Lead Officer Rebecca Walker

Recommendations 1. To note the outcome of the review of the Allocation 
policy and make any recommendations as 
necessary.

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 The Housing Allocations Policy has been in place since April 2014, and a review 
of the impact of the changes to the allocation of social housing during this period 
is good practice.  

1.2 It is a statutory obligation under Part VI of the Housing Act, 1996 for all local 
housing authorities to have an adopted, published Housing Allocations Policy, 
setting out how it will assess the individual household need and requirements for 
social housing in the area and how those homes are allocated.

1.3 This report outlines the findings of the first year review and the impact of the 
changes made to allocations in Swale following the amendments to relevant 
legislation set out in the Localism Act 2011.

1.4 The significant changes were the implementation of new eligibility criteria 
including:

 Residency
 Affordability
 Homelessness
 Fraud Offences
 Rent arrears
 Housing need

1.5 The policy amendment that has made the most impact is the new Residency 
Qualification requiring residents to have lived in Swale for four of the past five 
years.  In additional, many homeless households are now no longer eligible to 
join the register and therefore ‘bid’ for social housing. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



1.6 There have also been a large number of applicants removed from the register or 
refused due to having no housing need, in relation to the policy requirement. 

1.7 Removing applicants from the register has led to a large number of appeals, and 
we have also seen an increase in MP enquires, mainly for the same reason.

1.8The Housing register currently has 1342 live applications including 490 transfer 
applicants.  

1.9 In the year 2014 to 2015 there were 572 homes let, including new build, comprising 
86 x 1 beds, 199 x 2 beds, 147 x 3beds, 6 x 4+ beds and 134 Sheltered flats.

2 Background

2.1 The Housing Allocations Policy was developed in accordance with the 
Government guidance for local housing authorities, which was published in June 
2012. This new guidance is aimed at assisting Local Authorities to take 
advantage of the provisions in the Localism Act 2011.

2.2 This legislation encourages authorities to make use of the new flexibilities to 
ensure that social homes go to people with the greatest need.

2.3 In addition, two new Statutory Regulations have also been implemented:
 
2.3.1 Armed Forces Personnel and their bereaved spouses with an urgent housing 

need must now be awarded additional preference if they have an illness, injury or 
disability which is attributable to their service. It is unlawful to apply a ‘residency 
criteria’ to these applicants. In addition those Armed Forces Personnel with no 
urgent housing need have also been included on the register but not awarded 
additional preference.

2.3.2 Right to Move regulations mean that social tenants relocating for work will be 
given greater priority under the 'reasonable preference' system. Councils must 
extend the 'hardship' criteria to include those moving for work

2.4 To date there has been no applications made under the Armed Forces regulation 
and two applications accepted under the Right to Move regulation.

2.5 The impact of each specific change to 20th September 2015 is detailed at table 
one below:

Policy Change Impact
Residency:                                                                                             

Households must have lived within the 
Swale boundaries for 4 out of the last 5 
years prior to the application being 

638 applicants have been removed 
from the register. 

194 applications classed as not having 
the required residency connection out 

Page 2



made. Residency in Swale must be by 
the applicant’s own choice. 

have been refused entry onto the 
register since April 2014.

300+ appeals against refusal have 
been submitted since April 2014. 

30+ MP enquiries received since April 
2014, mostly regarding refusals.

Affordability: 
                                                                                        
Applicants that have gross income of 
greater £35,000 or assets greater than 
£50,000 will not qualify:

14 applicants have been removed from 
the register due to the affordability 
criteria. 

1 application refused due to the 
affordability criteria.                                                 

Fraud:  
                                                                                               
Applicants who have been cautioned or 
convicted of housing or welfare benefits 
related fraud where that conviction is 
unspent under the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974. Any person may 
re-apply once this conviction is spent.

0 applicants have been removed from 
the register

0 applications received but have a 
fraud conviction.

Rent arrears:
                                                                                         
Applicants who owe arrears of rent or 
other accommodation charges to the 
Council, or any social or private 
landlord.

18 applicants have been removed from 
the register  
                                                        
12 applications received but have rent 
arrears

Homelessness:                                                                           

Homeless cases accepted as Full Duty 
(Band C)                    

Currently 19 applications in Band C - 
Homeless Full Duty 
  
2 applicants Band D Intentionally 
homeless  

Placing statutory homeless H/H in a 
lower band on the housing register 
does not appear to have impacted on 
the length of stay in temporary 
accommodation, however there is an 
increase in the number of homeless 
applications for 2014/15 at 271 when 
compared with previous years:

2014/15    271
2013/14    217
2012/13    180

Housing Need:                                                                                   There have been 606 new applicants 

Page 3



Applicants that are eligible and qualify 
must also have a housing need that fits 
into the criteria within one of the four 
bands.

considered to have no housing need.

Right to Move regulations (April 
2015): 

Social tenants relocating for work will 
be given greater priority under the 
'reasonable preference' system. 
Councils will have to extend the 
'hardship' criteria to include those 
moving for work

12 applicants who did not qualify have 
now been invited for reassessment 
under this new rule 

2 have been included on the register 
and a third one is pending

Applications from Mobile and 
Holiday Home occupants

23 applications state they live in a 
caravan or mobile home:                   
Band B = 6 (4 x major overcrowding 
and 2 x unsatisfactory housing 
conditions).                                                 
Band C = 17 (10 x medical, disability, 
welfare grounds and 7 x minor 
overcrowding).                                                  

Applicants who have Deliberately 
Worsened Their Circumstances

0 applicants identified as having 
'deliberately worsening circumstances'

Care leavers There are currently 6 applications on 
the HR:                                                         
Band B = 3                                                     
Band C = 3                                                  
Currently any KCC Placements are put 
to panel if living in Swale at the time of 
applying

Supported Housing There are 56 applicants currently in 
Band B 'Ready to move on from 
accredited supported housing schemes 
within Swale’. 

Refusals                                                                                  

Non-homeless applicants will be 
entitled to refuse three suitable offers of 
accommodation before being removed 
from the register. Applicants will be 
able to re-apply in 12 months.

112 refusals between 10th Feb – 10th 
Aug.

Page 4



3 Proposals

3.1 To note the outcome of the review of the Allocation policy and make any 
recommendations as necessary.

4 Alternative Options

4.1 There are no alternative options.

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.1 No consultation has been undertaken for this annual review. 

6 Implications

Issue Implications
Corporate Plan The Allocations Policy addresses all Corporate Plan priorities, but 

particularly supports the themes of a ‘Community to be proud of’ 
and a ‘Council to be proud of’. The review process allows for 
flexibility and the implementation of any changes that may be 
required throughout the year to ensure the policy remains flexible, 
relevant and reflective of local need.  

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property

The Allocations Policy review may incur a minimal cost associated 
with ICT enhancement in order to implement any recommended 
changes to the policy. Any cost associated with this will be met from 
the existing revenue budget and is not recurring. Staff resources 
remain and continue to be minimised by the introduction of the on 
line application. Any changes made from this review can be 
implemented using existing resources.  

Legal and 
Statutory

The publication of an allocations policy is a legal requirement and 
must take account of all statutory guidelines:

 The Council’s legal obligations regarding the allocations policy 
are contained in the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) Part VI of 
the Housing Act as amended by the Localism Act 2011

Statutory Instrument; The Allocation of Housing (Qualification 
Criteria for Armed Forces Personnel) (England) Regulations 
2012

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/housing/pdf/2060709.pdf

Statutory Instrument; The Housing Act 1996 (Additional 
Preference for Former Armed Forces Personnel) (England) 
Regulations 2012

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/housing/pdf/2060715.pdf

Page 5

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/housing/pdf/2060709.pdf
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/housing/pdf/2060715.pdf


 Right to Move: Statutory guidance on social housing allocations 
for local housing authorities in England

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-move-statutory-
guidance-on-social-housing-allocations-for-local-housing-
authorities-in-england

Crime and 
Disorder

The allocations policy promotes balanced and sustainable 
communities which will have a positive impact on crime and 
disorder.

Sustainability The allocations policy will have a positive impact on the creation of 
sustainable neighbourhoods and promotes choice within the 
community.

Health and 
Wellbeing

The allocations policy will have a positive impact of the health and 
well being of those requiring affordable and sustainable housing in 
the Borough, taking account of the specific needs of each applicant 
and their household members.

Risk 
Management 
and Health and 
Safety

There are no identified risks or health and safety implications 
associated with the allocations policy.

Equality and 
Diversity

Decision-makers are reminded of the duty under the Equality Act 
2010 to have due regard when making decisions to the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity 
and foster good relations between different groups. There is a 
statutory requirement to take account of the needs of those applying 
to join the housing register, however this is an operational process 
only and therefore does not impact on the strategic review decision. 
With this in mind, a community impact assessment has not been 
completed for the review.

7 Appendices

7.1 There are no appendices

8 Background Papers

8.1 Swale Housing Allocations Policy  

Page 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-move-statutory-guidance-on-social-housing-allocations-for-local-housing-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-move-statutory-guidance-on-social-housing-allocations-for-local-housing-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-move-statutory-guidance-on-social-housing-allocations-for-local-housing-authorities-in-england


Swale 
Borough 
Council

Housing 
Allocations 

Policy 
2013

Page 7



Contents Page

Part 1: Background Page 3

Part 2: Legal Context Page 3

Part 3: Choice and Constraints Page 5

Part 4: Eligibility Page 7

Part 5: The Priority Banding System Page 10

Part 6: Reasonable Preference and Priority Page 10

Part 7: Additional Priority Page 13

Part 8: Reviews and Appeals Page 14

Part 9: How to Make a Complaint Page 15

Part 10: Other Legal Duties and Confidentiality Page 17

Appendices

Appendix A: Banding Table Page 19

Page 8



PART 1: BACKGROUND 

In Swale the demand for social housing is considerably greater than the number of homes 
available. This Allocations Policy sets out how social housing within the borough is allocated.

SBC’s Allocations Policy defines:

 who can apply to Swale’s housing register

 the criteria used to determine priority for allocating social homes

 the service standards an applicant can expect

 the legal framework within which Housing Allocations sits

This Allocations Policy aims to:

 Provide a fair and transparent system to prioritise the allocation of social homes in 
Swale

 Help households in most housing need to access affordable homes
 Make efficient use of social homes available in the borough
 Promote choice and the development of sustainable mixed communities 

Swale Borough Council does not own or manage any homes but does work in close 
partnership with all housing associations that are integral to the delivery of this policy. All 
available housing association homes in Swale are advertised through Kent Home Choice.

The allocations policy cannot cover every eventuality and in cases where there are unique 
needs the Housing Options Manager has discretionary power to award priority, approve 
additional priority or agree to offers outside of choice based lettings.

PART 2: LEGAL CONTEXT

2.1 Legal Framework

Swale Borough Council’s Allocations Policy is positioned within a legal framework. 
 
The 1996 Housing Act (as amended by the 2002 Homelessness Act) requires local 
authorities to make all allocations and nominations in accordance with a published 
Allocations Policy.  A summary of the policy and general principles is available at Swale 
Borough Council offices, and is available on the Council’s website www.swale.gov.uk. 

The 1996 Act also requires local authorities to state what its policy is on offering applicants a 
choice of housing accommodation, or offering them the opportunity to express preference 
about the housing accommodation to be allocated to them. Further information on choice is 
given at Part 3.

The policy has regard to the Allocation of Accommodation: Code of Guidance for Housing 
Authorities 2012 which replaced all previous statutory guidance on social housing allocations 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/allocation-of-accommodation-guidance-for-local-
housing-authorities-in-england.

The policy is also framed to ensure that it is compatible with the Council’s equality duties 
including the 2010 Equality Act and has been subject to a full published equalities impact 
assessment.  

Page 9

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/allocation-of-accommodation-guidance-for-local-housing-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/allocation-of-accommodation-guidance-for-local-housing-authorities-in-england


2.2 Reasonable Preference

Swale Borough Council is required by law to determine the priority that a housing applicant 
should be awarded. This is particularly important when, as is the case in Swale, the demand 
for social housing is far greater than the availability of homes. 

The law requires that Reasonable Preference for housing must be given to those in the 
following categories set out in the Housing Act 1996 s167 (2) (as amended) the statutory 
Reasonable Preference categories cover:

 All homeless people as defined in Part VII of the Housing Act 1996, as amended. 
 People who are owed a duty under the Housing Act 1996 Act as amended, or the 

Housing Act 1985.
 People occupying unsanitary, overcrowded or otherwise unsatisfactory housing;
 People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including grounds 

relating to a disability);
 People who need to move to a particular locality within the district to avoid 

hardship to themselves or others.

2.3 Housing Allocation

The allocation of housing by a local housing authority is defined in s.159 of the 1996 Housing 
Act as: 

 Selecting a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of housing 
accommodation held by them (i.e. by that housing authority) 

 Nominating a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of housing 
accommodation held by another person (i.e. another housing authority) 

 Nominating a person to be an assured tenant of housing accommodation held by 
a registered social landlord / Housing Association 

The following are not “allocations” under this policy:

 An offer of accommodation to an existing social housing tenant (transfer 
applicant) with no reasonable preference. Under the Localism Act 2011 such 
cases are no longer subject to the Allocation rules set by section 167 of the 
Housing act 1996 Part 6. 

 Succession to a tenancy on a tenant’s death pursuant to s89 Housing Act 1985, 
or 

 Assignment of a tenancy by way of mutual exchange, or 

 Assignment of a tenancy to a person qualified to succeed to the tenancy on the 
tenants death, or

 Transfer of the tenancy by a court order under family law provisions or under the 
Civil Partnership Act 2004, or

 An introductory tenancy becoming a secure tenancy

 Social Landlord initiated transfers (e.g. decant to alternative accommodation to 
allow for major works).

Page 10



 Re-housing due to being displaced from previous accommodation by the Council 
or being re-housed by the Council pursuant to the Land Compensation Act 1973.    

 Provision of non secure temporary accommodation in discharge of any 
homelessness duty or power.

 Lettings which Housing Associations make outside of nominations agreements.

 Allocations where there may be public protection risks. 

PART 3: CHOICE AND CONSTRAINTS

Applicants who are eligible to join the housing register can express a preference over the 
area and type of accommodation in which they would like to live. 

All social and affordable housing within the borough is let through Kent Home Choice 
(Choice Based Lettings) scheme http://www.kenthomechoice.org.uk/choice/. When 
properties are advertised on the Kent Home Choice website applicants are able to express 
an interest (bid) for the appropriate size of home but with type and location of their choosing. 
These expressions of interest are then shortlisted and the property offered to the household 
on the shortlist with the highest position in the highest band. The more type and area choices 
an applicant makes the greater the chance the applicant will be successfully housed. The 
table below shows how many homes become available to let in each part of the borough 
during 2012/2013.

SITT SHEER FAV SITT SHEER FAV SITT SHEER FAV SITT SHEER FAV
Band 1 32 35 20 27 24 11 19 13 9 6 1 0 197
Band 2 53 13 12 26 25 5 19 27 8 3 0 0 191
Band 3 4 4 1 2 1 0 20 16 1 0 0 0 49
Band 4 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3
Band 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Band 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL 90 52 34 55 50 16 59 56 18 9 1 0
SWALE TOTAL

1 BED

10133121176

2012/2013

TOTAL

440

4 BED +3 BED2 BED

Accommodation Types:

In order to make the best use of the available housing stock, it is essential to let vacancies to 
those who need that size and type of property.  Examples include 3 bedroom homes with a 
dining room being let to a household requiring 4 bedrooms, older persons housing being let 
to those age 50+ and properties that have been built or adapted for a person with a physical 
or sensory disability. There are a variety of different types of accommodation as detailed in 
the table below:

Accommodation Type Description
General Needs Housing Flats, houses and other accommodation with no onsite support.
Older Persons Designated 
Housing (Sheltered Housing)

These are homes designed especially for older people. They offer 
independent living with security and peace of mind. 

To be eligible for this type of housing applicants must normally be:

 Aged 55 or over  
 In receipt of high level Disability Living Allowance
 Eligible for housing as per the published policy and appear in 

the appropriate Band 

Page 11

http://www.kenthomechoice.org.uk/choice/


 Assessed for support that is available by the Scheme 
Manager

 Suitable for the scheme and confirm they do not have support 
needs that cannot be met or would be detrimental to the 
Scheme or other tenants

These properties will be labelled on choice based lettings so that only 
applicants who meet the required criteria may bid.

Extra Care The purpose Extra Care Housing is to provide older people with their 
own home and tenancy within a support and care environment 
ensuring that appropriate personal and housing support are available 
as required. All applicants will be registered and assessed for re-
housing in line with Swale Borough Council’s Allocations Policy and 
be eligible to access social Housing. 

A medical assessment will be requested as per Swale Borough 
Council’s policy and procedures for housing applicants where an 
applicant says they have a medical need.

To be eligible for this type of housing applicants must be:

 Over 55 years of age 
 Eligible for housing as per the published policy and appear in 

the appropriate Band
 Prepared to agree to the scheme requirements and consider 

use of the care provider to meet any care needs 
 Have an up to date social care assessment outlining housing 

and social care needs and a medical/social history 
Supported Housing Accommodation that is designated as supported housing will be 

available only for applicants who are eligible for that particular 
accommodation.  For example, some supported housing is provided 
exclusively for people with learning difficulties, with mental health 
issues or for young people leaving care.

These properties will be labelled on choice based lettings so that only 
applicants who meet the required criteria may bid.

Low Demand Properties On rare occasions no bids will be made on a property or all applicants 
have refused the property.  On these occasions a direct offer will be 
made to households.

Refusals:

Non-homeless applicants will be entitled to refuse three suitable offers of accommodation 
before being removed from the register. Applicants will be able to re-apply in 12 months.

Homeless applicants will be entitled to refuse one suitable offer of accommodation which will 
be treated as a final offer to end the Council’s homelessness duty. The offer of 
accommodation could be a property the applicant has bid on through Kent Homechoice, or a 
property bid on by a Housing Options Officer on behalf of the applicant or a direct offer made 
to end the Council’s homelessness duty. The final offer will be confirmed in writing stating 
that the Council’s duty to the applicant under part VII of the 1996 Housing Act (as amended) 
will be ended. 

Every homeless applicant has the right to request a review of suitability of the 
accommodation offered in discharge of the Council’s Part VII duty. 
In all cases offers will be seen as suitable if they reasonably meet the housing and medical 
needs of the household. In considering suitability the Council will give regard to the overall 
supply and availability of accommodation and the demands placed on it by all priority groups. 

Page 12



Where circumstances are exceptional the discretion of the Housing Options Manager will be 
applied.

PART 4: ELIGIBLITY 

This section sets out who is eligible to apply for Social Housing within Swale. You can 
usually apply for a social home if you are living and settled in the UK and you are:

 a British citizen, or

 a citizen of another country with the right to stay in the UK with no restrictions on how 
long you can stay.

The following persons are not eligible to apply: 

 People who are “subject to immigration control” (unless they fall within a class 
prescribed by regulations as eligible).

 People who are not subject to immigration control, but are nevertheless prescribed by 
regulation as being “persons from abroad” (this may include British citizens). 

 Any other person as prescribed by the Secretary of State in future regulations. 

If the main applicant is eligible, non-eligible dependent children (under the age of 18 and in 
full time education) and other non-eligible household members residing with them will be 
considered for inclusion at the discretion of the Housing Options Manager particularly taking 
account of affordability. 

Housing Associations work in partnership with the local authority and have fully consulted 
policies on how they will let their homes.

4.1 Qualification

Section 160ZA Housing Act 1996 (as amended) gives power to Local Authorities to define 
classes of applicants that will be considered as qualifying persons. Qualification may be 
revisited at the point of offer.

Applicants will not normally qualify for inclusion on the Council’s Housing Register if they fall 
into one of the following criteria:

Criteria Detail
Residency Households who have not lived within the Swale boundaries for 4 

out of the last 5 years prior to the application being made. 
Residency in Swale must be by the applicant’s own choice. 

Affordability Applicants that have gross income or assets above a certain level 
will not qualify:
 The gross income level is likely to be set at more than 

£35,000 per annum per household.
 The asset level is set at more than £50,000. 
When looking at gross income everything will be taken into 
account including earnings, overtime payments, benefits, child 
maintenance and any other relevant income.  
The gross income level and the asset level will be based on the 
level of deposit required to buy an average priced property in the 
area and will be reviewed

Page 13



 as part of the annual policy review.
Fraud Applicants who have been cautioned or convicted of housing or 

welfare benefits related fraud where that conviction is unspent 
under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974. Any person may 
re-apply once this conviction is spent.

Rent arrears Applicants who owe arrears of rent or other accommodation 
charges to the Council, or any social or private landlord, in 
respect of the current tenancy or former accommodation, unless 
an appropriate agreement has been reached and sustained for a 
reasonable period. In assessing the application for registration, 
the Council will take into account the size of the debt, the means 
to pay and the degree of need.

Households who do not qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register will be given advice and 
information about other housing options that may be available to them.

Where circumstances are exceptional the discretion of the Housing Options Manager will be 
applied.

Please Note: Homeless legislation has a different residency qualifying criteria as set out on 
Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended).

4.1.1 Armed Forces Personnel

The following members of the armed forces will not be required to meet any requirement for 
residency (excluding those that have been dishonourably discharged):

 members of the Armed Forces and former Service personnel, where the application 
is made within five years of discharge

 bereaved spouses and civil partners of members of the Armed Forces leaving
Services Family Accommodation following the death of their spouse or partner

 serving or former members of the Reserve Forces who need to move because of a 
serious injury, medical condition or disability sustained as a result of their service 

4.2 Who can be included on the application?

We will assess the size of property you require based on who is included on your application. 
You can include only members of your immediate family who normally live with you (or who 
would live with you if it were possible for them to do so) or other people who have an 
extenuating need to live with you. Immediate family means: 

 You (the main applicant) 
 Your spouse or partner. By ‘partner’ we mean someone you live with as your partner or 

who you would live with as a partner if they were able to do so. This includes mixed-
gender and same-sex couples and whether or not you are married or in a civil partnership 

 Your children or your partner’s children, if they are aged under 21 and live with you all the 
time, or for four or more nights every week and you are in receipt of child benefit and if 
applicable child tax credits. 

The following household applicants cannot be included in an application: 

 Friends, lodgers, sub-tenants and any other adults not listed above wishing to be 
included in order to share accommodation with the applicant 

Page 14



 Anyone who has moved into the current property without good reason and caused 
the household to be overcrowded 

 Anyone who does not intend to move to any accommodation offered to the 
applicant(s) or does not intend to live with them permanently 

4.3 People who have an extenuating need to live with you in order to give or to 
receive care or support

You can include someone on your application if they need to live with you in order to give or 
receive care or support and no one in your immediate household is able to care for you. You 
will need to evidence on your application the reason why an additional person or a carer 
needs to live with you and demonstrate: 

 they or you need to be supported or cared for and are dependant upon this (this may be 
for an elderly relative who requires your care or an adult child who is still dependant on 
you as they are in full time education) 

 that other satisfactory arrangements cannot be made 
 that the arrangement is ‘permanent’ 

We will also require you to provide evidence such as that the person requires your support or 
care; for example proof that you/they are providing care, are in receipt of care allowances 
and are able meet any costs associated with the additional bedroom either through benefits, 
income or savings. 

4.4 Family members who are not currently living with you 

We will not include family members currently living abroad on your application and therefore 
they cannot be re-housed with you until such a time that they return to the UK and the 
Council is satisfied that they are eligible.

In cases where two parents or guardians have joint access to children, bedroom eligibility will 
be awarded to the main care provider. You will need to demonstrate 

 you are the main care provider (children live with you for more than half the week -
four nights or more) and you are in receipt of child benefit  and if applicable child tax 
credits

 that the arrangement is ‘permanent’

We will take into consideration both parents’ housing arrangements to ensure that one 
property has adequate accommodation for the children. This does not prohibit the other 
parent from maintaining their usual and agreed access to the children, but we will not be able 
to offer an additional bed space in both homes for the child.

4.5 Deliberately worsening housing circumstances

If the Council considers that an applicant has acted unreasonably to make their housing 
circumstances deliberately worse than their previous accommodation without good reason or 
with the aim of qualifying for a higher banding, no additional priority will be awarded. This 
applies where an applicant or member of their household has been found guilty of anti-social 
behaviour that would render them unsuitable for re-housing. Cases will be reviewed once the 
applicant can demonstrate that this behaviour has been addressed. Where applicable 
applicants will retain the banding and priority they held before worsening their circumstances.

Page 15



PART 5: THE PRIORITY BANDING SYSTEM

All eligible applications will be assessed and placed in one of four bands:

A: Urgent Housing Need
B: Serious Housing Need 
C: Reasonable Preference 
D. General Housing Need

The full banding table is included as Appendix A. 

PART 6: REASONABLE PREFERENCE AND PRIORITY

The law requires that Swale Borough Council give Reasonable Preference for housing to 
those set out in the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) as follows:

Reasonable Preference category s167 (2) (a) 

Applicants who are homeless within the meaning of Part VII Housing Act 1996.

This group comprises those cases that have been determined to be homeless and not in 
priority need. It also includes cases that have been found by Swale or another local authority 
to be intentionally homeless. 

Reasonable Preference category s167 (2) (b) 

Applicants who are owed a duty by any housing authority under section 190(2), 193(2), 
195(2) or applicants occupying accommodation secured by any such authority under 
section 192(3)

People who fall into this category are homeless households as follows:
 People who are in priority need and the Council has accepted that it owes the applicant a 

full duty under section 195(2) as being threatened with homelessness in the next 28 
days, and the Council is taking steps to try and prevent that homelessness from 
occurring.

 People who have been accepted as being owed the full homeless duty under section 
193(2) i.e. those who are deemed homeless, in priority need and unintentionally 
homeless. 

 People owed a section 190(2) duty that have been assessed as being in priority need but 
are intentionally homeless and have been provided with accommodation for a period of 
time to enable them to secure their own accommodation.  

 People owed a 192(3) duty that have been assessed as being not in priority need but are 
unintentionally homeless and have been provided with advice and assistance to secure 
accommodation. The Localism Act 2011 gives the council the power to end any 
homeless duty into private rented sector accommodation with a 12 month suitable fixed 
term tenancy. Once a suitable property has been offered the homeless duty will end as 
will the applicant’s statutory homeless reasonable preference status. Most accepted 
homeless households will have their duty ended with a 12 month Private Rented Sector 
Offer (PRSO) in the future.  Any offer made in this manner to a homeless applicant will be 
the only (final) offer made and if refused the homelessness duty will end. The final offer 

Page 16



will be confirmed in writing stating that the Council’s duty to the applicant under part VII of 
the 1996 Housing Act (as amended) will be ended. 

Every homeless applicant has the right to request a review of suitability of the 
accommodation offered in discharge of the Council’s Part VII duty. 

Reasonable Preference category s167 (2) (c)

People occupying unsanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory housing conditions.

Overcrowding
Those overcrowded by one bedroom or more will be granted reasonable preference. 
However in accordance with section 4.5 the Council has the right to consider that any 
applicant who has deliberately worsened their housing circumstances with the aim of 
qualifying for a higher band will not be awarded additional priority, may be given a reduced 
priority or withdrawn from the register.
 
For the purposes of Swale’s allocations policy, to minimise overcrowding and to ensure 
affordability, bedrooms will be allocated according to who lives with you and the relationship 
between household members. 

Dependent upon different factors within the household such as age, sex and disability each 
member of your household will be assessed as needing the following number of bedrooms:

Number of bedrooms needed
Household Members 1 2 3 4
A single person aged 16 yrs and over 
A couple wishing to live together 

A couple or single parent/carer with one 
child 



A couple or single parent/carer with 2 
children under 10 regardless of sex 



A couple or single parent/carer with 2 
children of the same sex aged between 
10 and  16 yrs



A couple or single parent/carer with 2 
children of the different sex aged 
between 10 and  16 yrs 



A couple or single parent/carer with two 
children of opposite sex one of whom is 
over ten 

 

A couple or single parent/carer with three 
children 



A couple or single parent/carer with four 
children (all of the same sex or two of 
each sex) 



A couple or single parent/carer with two 
children one under the age of 16 and the 
other over the age of 16 



A couple or single parent/carer with four 
children (three of one sex and one of the 
opposite sex over 10 yrs) 



Page 17



A couple or single parent/carer with more 
than four children 



A couple or single parent/carer with three 
children and one dependent adult 



In the event that a 5 bedroom property is advertised applicants who need that 
size property will be assessed in accordance with this table and the bedroom 
standard will also be considered if necessary1.

Households will also be assessed as needing one bedroom for each of the following if they 
are assessed as being included as part of the household:

 A tenant requiring a non-resident overnight carer

 Disabled child who cannot share a bedroom with their sibling due to their disability

 An adult child who is serving away with the armed forces

 A room for a foster child or children

Please Note: Due to the scarcity of larger homes, families requiring five bedrooms or more 
may be allowed to consider four bedroom properties. This will be at the discretion of the 
Housing Association who own and manage the property.

Reasonable preference category s167 (2) (d) 

People who need to move on Medical, Disability and Welfare grounds.

These cases are assessed by the Council and can take account of information provided in a 
Kent Agency Assessment form submitted by any statutory agency such as a Health or Social 
Services Professional. 

Medical or Disability Reasonable Preference cases

An applicant’s circumstances will normally only be referred for a medical assessment if an 
applicant has indicated that there is a serious medical or disability problem that is made 
substantially worse by their current housing. This priority will be awarded where an 
applicant’s housing is unsuitable and the conditions directly impact and worsen the ill-health 
or disability, but they are not housebound or their life is not at risk due to their current 
housing.

Welfare Reasonable Preference cases  

The criteria to be considered relates to the extent that the welfare of an applicant, or an 
immediate member of the applicant’s family, will significantly improve by a move to 
alternative accommodation. The assessment is not based on the seriousness of an 
applicant’s circumstances, but is solely based on the impact of their current housing on that 
condition and whether this would improve significantly through a move to alternative housing.

The following are examples of the statutory reasonable preference categories; i.e. medical, 
welfare or disability needs:

1 The Bedroom Standard is used for measuring overcrowding and takes account of any habitable room but does not include 
non-habitable rooms such as the bathroom or a non-dining kitchen or hallway.This means that the Council can consider 
additional downstairs rooms in houses for use as bedrooms. 

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200203/cmbills/046/2003046.pdf. 

Page 18

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200203/cmbills/046/2003046.pdf


 The applicant’s accommodation is directly contributing to the deterioration of the 
applicant’s health such as severe chest condition requiring intermittent 
hospitalisation as a result of chronic dampness in the accommodation. 

 Children with severe conditions such as autism, or cerebral palsy where their long 
term needs cannot be met without settled accommodation.

 A member of the household seeking accommodation is disabled and re-housing 
will enable that person to overcome physical barriers created by current 
accommodation and it has been established that the home cannot be adapted to 
meet needs e.g. steps and stairs.

 A person with a severe disability requiring substantial adaptations to a property 
which is not and cannot be provided for in their current accommodation.

 A person with a terminal illness or long term debilitating condition whose current 
accommodation is not having a significant impact on their condition but where 
their quality of life would be significantly improved by moving to alternative settled 
accommodation which may or may not be closer to support.

 A person suffering with mental illness or disorder where the medical condition 
would be significantly improved by a move to alternative accommodation.

Young People leaving care

Applicants must be a former “Relevant Child” as defined by the Children Leaving Care Act 
2002. This priority only applies to applicants that are vulnerable and whose urgent housing 
needs would be best met by the provision of long term settled housing and who: 

 Are ready to move to independent settled housing and is genuinely prepared for a move 
to independent living.

 Have the life skills to manage a tenancy including managing a rent account.
 Are in need of either a long term or medium term tenancy support.
 Has a support package in place.

All other cases will be expected to be assisted by Social Services with support from the 
Housing Options service to move on to private rented accommodation.

Reasonable preference category s167 (2)(e) 

People who need to move to a particular locality within the local authority’s district, 
where failure to meet that need would cause hardship to themselves or to others will 
be granted priority depending on the severity of the impact of their housing on their 
condition.   

The following are examples of when hardship grounds might be awarded:
 Those who need to move to give or receive care that is substantial and on-going.  
 Those who need to access social services facilities, and are unable to travel 

across the Borough. 
 Need to move due to infirmity caused by old age. These are cases where the 

current housing is inadequate and an assessment will be made by the council.

PART 7: ADDITIONAL PRIORITY

7.1 How is additional priority applied

Greater priority can be awarded by giving “additional preference” to applicants who meet one 
of the ‘reasonable preference’ categories and who also have exceptional or urgent housing 
needs. 

Page 19



Very urgent medical reasons 

An applicant who has an urgent need to move due to medical reasons or a disability that is 
made worse by their current housing situation. 

The following are examples of cases that would qualify:
 The condition is life threatening and the applicant’s existing accommodation is a 

major contributory factor.
 The applicant’s health is so severely affected by the accommodation that it is 

likely to become life threatening.
 The applicant is unable to get around adequately in their current accommodation 

and requires rehousing into accommodation suitable for their use and their current 
accommodation cannot be adapted to meet their exceptional need.

 The applicant’s accommodation is directly contributing to the deterioration of the 
applicant’s health such as severe chest condition requiring intermittent 
hospitalisation as a result of chronic dampness in the accommodation and the 
condition of the property cannot be resolved within a reasonable period of time – 
usually 6 months.

Armed forces Personnel

The Allocation Policy will award additional preference to those who are in urgent housing 
need and who meet the following criteria (excluding those that have been dishonourably 
discharged): 

 Is a person serving in the regular forces who is suffering from a serious injury, illness 
or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to the person’s service,

 A person who formerly served in the regular forces,
 A spouse or civil partner who is no longer entitled to or will soon have to leave 

accommodation provided by the MOD after the death of their spouse/civil partner 
whose served in the Armed Forces and whose death was due to service,

 Is a person serving or formerly serving in the reserve forces who is suffering from a 
serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to the 
person’s service.

Management Moves

A household with an immediate need to move, for example, because of fear of violence 
where a move within the borough is supported. Due to the exceptional circumstances of 
these cases the following applies:

 Only one suitable offer will be made
 The offer will be on a ‘like-for-like’ basis taking account of the number of bedrooms 

required and the property type
 Area restrictions apply and factors regarding personal safety relevant to the transfer 

will be taken into account  

PART 8: REVIEWS AND APPEALS

Review of Applications

It is the intention of the Council to review all cases on the Allocation Policy annually. Failure 
to respond to correspondence, for example, not providing up-to-date evidence such as a 

Page 20



medical report, in relation to the review will result in the application being deleted. Applicants 
who are deleted will be notified in writing.  If good reason can be shown why there was a 
failure to respond to the review then the application may be reinstated.

Change of Circumstances 

All applicants are required to notify the council immediately of any change to their 
circumstances which may affect their priority for housing.  Applicants who have had a change 
of circumstances and have not informed the Council, but it comes to the Council’s attention, 
may have their application status changed to ‘application is pending’ whilst an investigation 
takes place in order to determine eligibility. Applicants should notify the Council of any 
change in their circumstances in writing by correspondence or e mail. This will include for 
example:

 A change of address, for themselves or any other person on their application.
 Any additions to the family or any other person they would wish to join the 

application (Please note it is for the council to decide whether they will allow a 
person/s to join the application).

 Any member of the family or any other person on the application who has left the 
accommodation.

 Any change in income, assets or savings.

Appeals

Appeals in respect of any aspect of the housing application may be made within 21 days of 
the notification of the decision. Reviews or appeals can be submitted for the following 
reasons;

 If an applicant is not a qualifying person
 If an applicant is not eligible
 The band that an applicant has been placed into
 The decision to remove an applicant from the housing register
 Any other decision made about your application

Supporting information and documentation submitted after the period of 21 days will not be
considered as part of the application unless it contains information that warrants a 
reassessment.

Information about decisions and reviews 

Applicants have the following further and specific rights to information about decisions and 
rights of review of decisions:  

 the right, on request, to be informed of any decision about the facts of their case 
which has been, or is likely to be, taken into account in considering whether to 
make an allocation to them

 the right, on request, to review a decision mentioned above, or a decision to treat 
them as Ineligible or not qualifying to be a member of the Allocation Policy. 

 the right to be informed of the decision on the review and grounds for it.

PART 9: HOW TO MAKE A COMPLAINT

Applicants have the right to request such general information as will enable them to assess:

Page 21



 how their application will be treated and whether they will be given any preference
 whether housing accommodation appropriate to their needs is likely to become 

available and how long they may have to wait for an allocation of such 
accommodation 

An applicant who is not satisfied with the service that they receive may register a complaint 
with the Council’s Complaint procedure by telephone, e-mail or in person.  All complaints will 
be acknowledged and investigated. 

The best way to make a complaint is to do it directly. Making a complaint locally to the 
department will give the quickest results and get a response from those who are fully aware 
of the issues surrounding the complaint. 

A complaint can be made in person, by telephone, by post or by online form. The complaint 
will be answered within fifteen working days, or an explanation given if it will take longer. 

The applicant can ask someone else such as Citizen's Advice Bureau to make a complaint 
on their behalf. For those whose first language is not English, assistance can be obtained 
from the Council. Contact:

Housing Services 
Swale House
East Street
Sittingbourne
Kent
ME10 3HT

housingoptions@swale.gov.uk

If the applicant remains dissatisfied following the outcome of their complaint they may also 
make a complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman.

The Local Government Ombudsman investigates complaints of injustice and unfairness 
resulting from maladministration by local authorities. They can be asked to investigate 
complaints about most council matters, including housing.

The Ombudsman normally asks that in the first instance the Council is given an opportunity 
to deal with a complaint. However the applicant making the complaint remains dissatisfied 
with the action that the Council has taken, they can send a written complaint to the 
Ombudsman:

Local Government Ombudsman
PO Box 4771
Coventry
CV4 0EH
Tel: 0845 602 1983
Web: http://www.lgo.org.uk/

The Housing Ombudsman Service is available to anyone wishing to make a complaint 
against a registered social landlord/HOUSING ASSOCIATION (rather than the Council):

Housing Ombudsman Service
81 Aldwych

Page 22

mailto:housingoptions@swale.gov.uk
http://www.lgo.org.uk/


London, WC2B 4HN
Tel: 0300 111 3000
Web: http://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/

PART 10: OTHER LEGAL DUTIES AND CONFIDENTIALITY 

Equality and Diversity 

Our aim is to implement and maintain services which ensure that no potential or current 
applicant is treated less favourably on the grounds of gender, marital status, race, nationality, 
ethnic or national origin, disability, age or sexual orientation, nor is disadvantaged by the 
application of a rule, condition, or requirement, which has a discriminatory effect which 
cannot be justified by law.  Allocations will only be made to those persons who are eligible. 

The policy fully complies with the Equality Act 2010 and is subject to periodic equality impact 
assessments. 

The allocations policy and any changes to it will be reviewed annually to ensure it does not 
operate in ways that discriminate against or disadvantage any particular group.

Confidentiality 

The fact that a person is an applicant on the Allocation Policy will not be disclosed (without 
their consent) to any other member of the public. 

Data protection and information sharing

All information held is subject to the Data Protection Act 1998.  The Council will seek the 
express consent of applicants joining the Allocation Policy to share personal information 
about the applicant, and any member of their household.  

Information sharing without consent

Information may be shared about the individual and their history irrespective of whether their 
consent has been obtained in exceptional circumstances which will include:

 In accordance with the provisions of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (Section 
115).

 Where there is a serious threat to the other party’s staff or contractors.
 Where information is relevant to the management or support duties of the 

proposed landlord or support organisation to ensure the health and safety of the 
applicant, a member of his or her household, or a member of staff.

False statements or withheld information 

It is a criminal offence for applicants and/or anyone providing information to knowingly or 
recklessly make false statements or knowingly withhold reasonably requested information 
relevant to their application (s171 Housing Act 1996).  This includes but is not limited to 
information requested on the housing registration form, in response to correspondence at the 
renewal of the application, or relating to any other review of the application.  An offence is 
also committed if a third party provides false information whether or not on the instigation of 
the applicant. This would apply at any stage of the application process. 

Where there is suspicion or an allegation that a person has either provided false information 
or has withheld information, the application will be given the status ‘application is pending’ 

Page 23

http://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/


during the investigation and will be excluded from being considered for offers until an 
outcome is reached.

If the outcome of any investigation is that they did not provide false information or there was 
no withholding of information or such was not found to be withheld knowingly, then the 
application will be reinstated from the date of registration meaning the relevant applicant 
should not suffer prejudice.  However, where the investigation shows that false information 
was provided on the application form, or was deliberately withheld, this may render the 
applicant ineligible. 

Ground 5 in Schedule 2 to the Housing Act 1985 (as amended by the 1996 Act, s.146) 
enables the landlord to seek possession of a property where it has been granted as a result 
of a false statement by either the tenant or a person acting at the tenants instigation. Where 
this is the case the Council will pursue recovery of possession vigorously.

If the Council determines that an applicant directly, or through a person acting on his or her 
behalf, has given false information or withheld any required information it may result in an 
applicant being removed and rendered Ineligible.  

Lettings to Staff

This policy is designed to ensure Swale Borough Council is transparent and equitable when 
letting homes to Housing Association Board Members, Swale Borough Council staff, council 
members and their relatives. 

Staff, Housing Association Board Members, Council Members and their relatives are treated 
as any other applicant and must be seen to not be gaining any advantage or disadvantage or 
any preferential treatment in the course of their application. 

Therefore, the following procedure must be undertaken to ensure that any letting can be 
subject to a high level of scrutiny.

 The applicant who is applying for housing or their relative must have no direct 
input into any decisions regarding their re-housing. This includes not inputting the 
original application onto the Register system or adding any priority at any time 
onto the application. 

 Staff members must also not have any involvement in the inputting of the 
application or awarding of priority for any relative. 

 Applications should be clearly marked on the housing management system that 
the application is that of a staff member, Board Member, Council Members, or 
relative. 

 When such an applicant has bid for a property and is showing at the top of the list, 
or a direct offer is to be made, a ‘record of interest’ note must be completed and 
signed off before any offer of a property is made. The details of the offer must be 
scrutinised and detailed on the form and signed off by the appropriate Swale 
Borough Council Head of Housing the same is the case of Council Members or 
their relatives being offered accommodation 

 Attached to the form must be copies of the computer screens of all the 
appropriate information from the housing management system including the 
Choice Based Lettings advert and dates it was advertised, the shortlist from which 
the applicant is being offered from, together with the policy evidence for any 
applicants above them being not made the offer. 

Page 24



Appendix A 

Banding Table

Band A: Urgent Housing Need 
plus additional priority

Summary of Criteria

Urgent medical need or 
disability where the current 
housing is having a significant 
adverse effect on the applicant’s 
condition.

 Where an applicant’s condition is expected to be terminal 
within a period of twelve months and rehousing is required to 
provide a basis for the provision of suitable care.

 The condition is life threatening and the applicant’s existing 
accommodation is a major contributory factor.

 The applicant’s health is so severely affected by the 
accommodation that it is likely to become life threatening.

 The applicant is unable to mobilise adequately in their 
accommodation and requires rehousing into accommodation 
suitable for their use.

 The applicant’s accommodation is directly contributing to the 
severe deterioration of the applicant’s health such as severe 
chest condition requiring intermittent hospitalisation as a result 
of chronic dampness in the accommodation and the condition 
of the property cannot be resolved within a reasonable period 
of time – usually 6 months.

 The current housing is having a significant adverse effect on 
the applicant’s condition such as someone who needs a 
dialysis unit which cannot be provided in the current home, and 
the home cannot be adapted to accommodate this.

 Applicants who need to move to suitable adapted 
accommodation because of a serious injury, medical condition 
or disability to themselves or a household member.

Exceptional welfare 
circumstances with a need for 
an urgent move.

 Applicants who cannot be released from hospital until 
alternative accommodation is secured because their current 
accommodation cannot be adapted to meet their needs. 

 Applicants who need to move due to domestic abuse, extreme 
violence or extreme harassment. Extreme violence or 
harassment will be verified by the Police and/or other agencies 
as necessary. This may include where a move is necessary to 
protect a witness to criminal acts. It will also include 
assessment of certain MAPPA, MARAC and Victim Support 
cases. 

 The applicant is experiencing significant problems associated 
with the occupation of a dwelling in the social or private rented 
sector and there is a high risk to them or their family’s safety if 
they remain in the dwelling/area.  For social housing tenants 
transfers will be to properties of the same size or smaller if they 
are under-occupying, but locations or areas are likely to 
change.

 Housing Association tenants who have to vacate their property 
in order for major works to be carried out. In these 
circumstances and where possible transfers will be to 
properties of the same size or smaller if they are under-
occupying, but locations or areas are likely to change.

Under-occupation Social housing tenants living in Swale who are under-occupying by 
1 bedroom or more and who are willing to downsize to a property 
that meets their need 

In urgent housing need and  Applicants who need to move to suitable adapted 

Page 25



meeting one or more of the 
armed forces criteria.

The Housing Act 1996 
(Additional Preference for 
Armed Forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012.

accommodation because of a serious injury, medical condition 
or disability which he or she, or a member of their household, 
has sustained as a result of service in the Armed Forces.

 Bereaved spouses and civil partners of members of the Armed 
Forces leaving Services Family Accommodation following the 
death of their spouse or partner who was serving in the regular 
forces and whose death was attributable (wholly or partly) to 
that service

Band B:  Serious need to 
move with a Reasonable 
Preference

Summary of Criteria

Major Overcrowding.

Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(c)

A household who are statutory overcrowded and need at least two 
more bedrooms as assessed under the bedroom standard and in 
line with the Housing Benefit size criteria

Ready to move on from 
accredited supported housing 
schemes within Swale.

Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(c)

Applicants who have completed a planned support and 
resettlement package verified by the support worker and the 
Housing Options Manager; is ready to move into independent 
settled housing and would benefit from a long term secure tenancy.

Ready to move on from Care.

Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(c)

Young people over eighteen years old leaving care who have been 
looked after by Kent County Council, who have a care package in 
place and are ready for an independent tenancy as verified by the 
Resettlement Service and in addition has been assessed as being 
in need of a long term or medium term tenancy with support.

Private sector properties 
unsanitary or unfit. 

Those living in unsanitary 
conditions where the conditions 
pose an ongoing and serious 
threat to health.

Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(c) 

Private sector tenants and residents of dwellings that the Council’s 
Private Sector Housing Team has determined that the property 
poses a category 1 hazard under the Health and Safety fitness 
rating and the Council are satisfied that the problem cannot be 
resolved by the landlord within 6 months and as a result continuing 
to occupy the accommodation will pose a considerable risk to the 
applicant’s health. This includes a property that has severe damp, 
major structural defects including subsidence, flooding, collapse of 
roof, or have living conditions which are a statutory nuisance, and 
there is no prospect of the problems being remedied within a 6 
month time period. 
A private sector property either owned or rented where a statutory 
notice has been issued by the environmental health department 
that an unfit property is to be demolished under the Housing Act 
2004.

Applicants living in 
unsatisfactory housing lacking 
basic facilities.

Reasonable Preference 
category
s167(2)(c)

Applicants without access at all or any one of the following facilities:
 a bathroom or kitchen
 an inside WC
 hot or cold water supplies, electricity, gas or adequate 

heating 

An applicant who occupies a private property which is in disrepair 
or is unfit for occupation and is subject to a Prohibition Order and 
recovery of the premises is required in order to comply with the 
Order as defined by Section 33 of the Housing Act 2004.

Band C:  Reasonable 
Preference

Summary of Criteria

Homeless Households owed a 
full homeless duty by Swale 
Borough Council under section 
193(2) or 195(2).

Reasonable Preference 

Applicants who are owed a full homeless duty by Swale Borough 
Council including:

 Accepted homeless households
 Accepted homeless households living in temporary 

accommodation
 The household will be homeless soon.    

Page 26



categories s167(2)(a)(b)
Applicants living in 
unsatisfactory or insanitary 
housing conditions.

Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(c)

Applicants who only have access to shared facilities in shared 
accommodation such as a shared living room, bathroom(s) and/or 
kitchen(s).

Applicants living in accommodation with very poor internal or 
external arrangements which have been verified by a member of 
the Private Sector Housing Team.

Minor Overcrowding. 

Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(c)

A household who are overcrowded and need at least one more 
bedroom as assessed under the bedroom standard and in line with 
the Housing Benefit size criteria.

People who need to move to a 
particular locality in the district 
of the authority where failure to 
meet that need would cause 
hardship.
Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(e)

Applicants who need to move due to special reasons and because 
a failure to move to a certain area would cause hardship to 
themselves or others.

People who need to move due 
to  medical, welfare, mental 
health or disability factors

Reasonable Preference 
category
s167(2)(d)

Where an applicant’s housing is unsuitable for medical reasons or 
due to their disability, but who are not housebound or whose life is 
not at risk due to their current housing, but whose health problem 
or disability is affected by their current accommodation.

 Severe mental health problems affected by current 
accommodation.

 Elderly persons with moderate to severe arthritis which 
significantly affects mobility (e.g. spine, legs) living upstairs 
or on a steep hill.  

 Conditions requiring on going medical treatment, being 
very severely exacerbated by living conditions (e.g. 
extreme cases of asthma).  

 Conditions causing a reduction in mobility (e.g. 
breathlessness, dizziness) when combined with stairs or 
poor location.  

Band D:  General Housing 
Need

Summary of Criteria

Intentionally homeless 
households owed a duty under 
section 190(2) of the Housing 
Act 1996 (as amended).

Households who have 
deliberately worsened their 
housing circumstances.

Households who are homeless 
within the meaning of Part 7 of 
the Housing Act 1996 (as 
amended) and who are owed a 
homelessness duty by another 
local authority under section 
190(2), 193(2), 195(2) or who 
are occupying accommodation 
secured by any other local 
authority under section 192(3).

Homeless Households owed a 
homeless duty by Swale 
Borough Council under section 

Applicants who are intentionally homeless, where that decision has 
been made by Swale Borough Council or another local authority 
under Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 (as amended).

Where an applicant has deliberately worsened their housing 
circumstances and would have been found to be intentionally 
homeless if an application under Part VII had been made. 

Applicants who are owed a homelessness duty by another local 
authority.

Applicants who do not have a priority need for accommodation or 
are sleeping rough.

Page 27



192(3) and are not in priority 
need.

Reasonable Preference 
categories s167(2)(a)(b)
Applicants who fulfil the Armed 
Forces Regulations 2012 but 
are not in urgent need of 
housing.

Applicants who need to move but where bands A, B or C do not 
apply

Page 28



Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy Development and Review 
Committee

Agenda Item: 5

Meeting Date 28 October 2015

Report Title Draft Playing Pitch Strategy

Cabinet Member Councillor Mike Whiting

SMT Lead Dave Thomas, Head of Customer Contact & 
Commissioning

Head of Service Dave Thomas, Head of Customer Contact & 
Commissioning

Lead Officer Len Mayatt, Leisure & Technical Services Manager

Recommendations 1. To note the contents of the draft Strategy and 
Assessment Report.

2. To make any comments on the proposed 
management actions prior to undertaking further 
consultation on the Strategy.

1 Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1 The Council has developed a draft Playing Pitch Strategy for 2015 - 25 
(Appendix i) which analyses the Boroughs Playing Pitches in terms of both 
quantity and quality. It considers pitches that are available for public use that are 
provided by the Council and other organisations.  The Strategy sets out the 
Councils intended approach and priorities for ensuring there is sufficient provision 
to meet current and future demand.  

2 Background

2.1 In order to ensure there are sufficient pitches and ancillary facilities, the Council   
has worked with external consultants and Sport England to analyse the current 
provision and develop a series of actions to maintain momentum and ensure 
demand can be met cost effectively.

2.2 The final document will be used by the Borough’s Local Plans team to ensure that 
appropriate contributions are made by developers to make sure appropriate 
levels of provision are maintained. 

2.3 In addition, the document will be a “live document” used by the Leisure & 
Technical Services team to set parameters for maintaining facilities the Council 
owns, as well as working with partners and other providers.

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



2.4  This Strategy links to other strategic frameworks and documents such as the 
developing draft Facilities Strategy and Sport & Physical Activity Framework 
which focuses on maintaining and increasing participation is sport and physical 
activity in Swale. 

3 Proposals

3.1 This report invites the Committee to consider whether the draft Playing Pitch 
Strategy achieves our aims of capturing sufficient information on current provision 
(detailed information on this aspect is contained in the Playing Pitch Assessment 
Appendix ii) and formulating clear objectives to ensure that anticipated future 
demand will be met both in terms of quantity and quality of playing pitches and 
ancillary facilities.

3.2 Feedback on the Aims of the Strategy as outlined in the Management Objectives 
Action Plan (pages 47 -64) is sought from the Committee, to ensure they are 
appropriate and fit for purpose and whether there are any other general 
comments on the Strategy.

4 Alternative Options

4.1 No alternative options have been considered at this stage as the Strategy is 
required for three main reasons.

 Sport England and other funding bodies will always ensure the Council and its 
partners refer to an up to date Playing Pitch Strategy when funding bids are being 
developed for improving facilities or creating new ones.

 The Council’s Local Plans Team need a robust strategy that has been approved 
by Sport England when considering planning applications which involve current or 
future pitch provision.

 Having a strategy provides a benchmark for the level of standards to be 
maintained and an Action Plan for the Leisure & technical Services Team and 
their partners to work to.

5 Consultation Undertaken or Proposed

5.1 Initial consultation was undertaken with facility providers, clubs, schools, 
appropriate National Governing Bodies, Sport England, Town & Parish Councils, 
Kent Sports Development Unit, countywide partners, health organisations and 
local leagues.

5.2 Besides consideration by the Committee, we propose to consult with the same 
organisations again before finalising the Strategy.

6 Implications

Page 32



Issue Implications
Corporate Plan The provision of a Playing Pitch Strategy supports the Councils 

aims to be both a Borough and a Community to be Proud of 
as described in the Council’s Corporate Plan.  

Financial, 
Resource and 
Property

This Strategy will ensure that the Council and its partners are 
providing cost effective services and are making best use of the 
appropriate resources and property.
At this stage no additional costs to the Council have been 
identified. However, there may be requests for contributory funding 
for individual projects as they are developed. By adopting a robust 
Playing Pitch Strategy though such requests will stand a better 
chance of being successful.

Legal and 
Statutory

There are no specific legal implications. However, by providing a 
robust strategy that is endorsed by Sport England the Council will 
be better placed to defend any challenges which may be presented 
by developers.

Crime and 
Disorder

The provision and good management of a broad range of playing 
pitches can make a positive contribution to managing issues of 
crime and disorder by providing diversionary activities and 
encouraging community cohesion.

Sustainability Where possible, maintenance regimes which are “environmentally 
friendly” will be considered and adopted.

Health and 
Wellbeing

By providing and supporting a broad range quality facilities across 
Swale, there will be greater opportunities for people to participate 
in healthy activities. Where possible, partnerships will be sought 
with appropriate health partners to encourage participation and 
maximise funding opportunities.

Risk Management 
and Health and 
Safety

Without a strategy that is endorsed by Sport England the Borough 
will be at risk of missing funding opportunities; losing challenges to 
planning applications by developers and not providing top quality 
facilities for its residents.
By maintaining its own pitches to agreed standards the Borough 
Council will ensure their facilities are safe and fit for purpose.

Equality and 
Diversity

Issues of equal opportunity will be addressed through applications 
for any new developments and ensuring that such facilities are 
compliant and fit for purpose.

Page 33



7 Appendices

7.1 The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report:
 Appendix i: draft Playing Pitch Strategy 2015/xx.
 Appendix ii:  Playing Pitch Assessment

8 Background Papers

8.1 None.  

Page 34



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL   

PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

2015 - 20125

Page 35



Page 36



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        3

CONTENTS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY…………………………………………………………………………4

PART 1: INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................................8

PART 2: SUMMARY FROM THE ASSESSMENT REPORT……………………………… 17

PART 3: A STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK FOR FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS ...................23

PART 4: MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES...........................................................................24

PART 5: ACTION PLAN....................................................................................................41

PART 6: CONCLUSIONS .................................................................................................59

PART 7: MONITORING AND REVIEW.............................................................................60

APPENDIX ONE: FUNDING PLAN...................................................................................61

APPENDIX TWO: PLAYING PITCH MODEL TABLES ……………………………………..65

Page 37



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        4

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

The scope

In order to ensure there is a good supply of high quality playing pitches and playing fields 
in a local authority area to meet the sporting needs of local communities, Sport England 
recommends all local authority areas should have an up-to-date Playing Pitch Strategy. 
By providing valuable evidence and direction a Playing Pitch Strategy can be of 
significant benefit to a wide variety of stakeholders and communities.

As statutory consultees on planning applications with the potential to affect playing 
pitches and as a central point of contact for funding streams and guidance on best 
practice, it is important that together with input from local communities, to ensure this 
document complies with guidance provided by Sport England.

Swale Borough Council began work in 2013 with Knight Kavanagh and Page to produce 
an up to date Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) that provided a clear, strategic framework for 
the maintenance and improvement of the existing playing pitches and ancillary facilities in 
the borough.  The PPS was reviewed and amended by 4 Global Consulting Ltd in 2015 to 
ensure it met and satisfied the requirements of the Sport England Towards A Level 
Playing Field  (TLPF) PPS guidance.

The Structure

The PPS has been created using the quantitative and qualitative analysis undertaken by 
KKP that is detailed in a separate Assessment Report.
 
The Strategy and Action Plan recommends a number of priority projects for Swale, which 
should be implemented in the lifespan of the document. It also takes account of other 
facility providers (i.e., private clubs and independent schools). It provides a framework for 
improvement and, although resources may not currently be in place to implement it, 
partners and possible sources of external funding have been identified. 

The Strategy will also meet the three strategic objectives and overall vision of the Sport 
and Physical Activity Framework for Swale 2012-2017 (Move Ourselves), which is also in 
line with National Planning Policy Framework Core Planning Principle 12. 

The strategy highlights there is a need to build key partnerships with schools, community 
clubs and private landowners to maintain and improve playing pitch provision. In these 
instances the potential for the Council to take a strategic lead is more limited. This 
document provides clarity about the way forward, and allows the Council to focus on key 
issues that it can directly influence and address. 

The PPS includes two action plans, a Management Options Action Plan and a Site-By-
Site Action Plan that is split across the three analysis areas (Sheppey, Sittingbourne and 
Faversham).

The Management Options Action Plan specifies the management objectives that have 
been highlighted in the strategy (Part 3) and should be implemented Swale Council to 
enable the policy objectives to be delivered. It is recommended that the Council adopt the 
management objectives (as policy) to enable it to help achieve the vision for sport in 
Swale:

Page 38



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        5

“To ensure that the people of Swale have access to high quality appropriate 
sporting facilities so they are motivated to be more active and healthier and reach 
their potential” (Move Ourselves, Sport and Physical Activity Framework for Swale 
2012-2017).

The site-by-site Action Plan provides recommended actions for each site, based on 
current levels of usage, quality and future demand, as well as the potential of each site for 
enhancement (please see Part 4 and Part 5 of this report for full details of the 
recommended management options and action plans).
Results and Analysis

The analysis of playing pitch provision, usage, quality, supply and demand (current and 
future) in Swale has led to the following key priorities in Swale:

 Addressing the current and future latent demand for junior/mini football pitches, 
especially in the Sittingbourne area. This in part can be met through changing the 
designation of some of the senior pitches, that are identified as surplus, to junior or 
mini pitches to accommodate for the latent demand. Increasing access to education 
sites that are not currently available for community use could also help to address the 
current and predicted shortfall of junior and mini pitches. In general the current 
playing pitch stock for Football pitches should be protected, with some senior pitches 
rested to provide a strategic reserve and protection of overall quality.

 Meeting the current and future shortfall of cricket pitches, particularly in Sittingbourne 
analysis area. This could be tackled in a number of ways including the provision of 
new non-turf wickets (which can accommodate a higher capacity of matches) and 
maximising community use and spare capacity expressed at some school sites. 
(Such as Queen Elizabeth Grammar School and Westland’s school).

 Across the Borough there is a surplus of senior and mini rugby pitches. The surplus 
of senior pitches is attributed to the spare capacity of the rugby union pitches at 
Fulston Manor School (Cromers Corner Playing Field). Whilst there is an identified 
surplus of mini pitches recorded in the Sheppey analysis area an analysis of pitch 
capacity identifies the mini pitches at Sheppey RFC are in fact used to capacity at 
peak time (Sunday) and thus in reality there is no surplus at peak time. As such, 
access to sites that provide rugby union pitches and are not currently available for 
community use could satisfy demand from Sheppey RFC, such as Sittingbourne 
College or Fulston Manor School.

 Ensuring demand for hockey is met on existing provision in Swale. There is a 
predicted current and future (2031) undersupply of AGP’s (-0.2) in the borough (Sport 
England FPM model). The three suitable sand filled AGPs for competitive Hockey are 
all located in the Sittingbourne area resulting in people living in the Sheppey and 
Faversham sub-areas being further than a 15 minute drive time catchment area of a 
suitable Hockey facility with community use. There is significant football use (for 
training) of all AGPs in Swale that further adds to the wear and tear of 
carpets/surfaces.  Additional provision of 3G pitches to service football demand 
would help to release capacity at key sand based AGPs for Hockey.  Gore Court HC 
(based at Westlands School) has expressed latent demand equating to one senior 
mens team that could be catered for at the Sittingbourne Community College 3G 

Page 39



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        6

sand filled pitch which at present has no Hockey usage.

 Refurbishment or replacement of AGPs at Isle of Sheppey Academy and Borden 
Grammar School in the next couple of years. 

 Maximising community use of secondary school sites and developing community use 
agreements with the twenty-nine schools sites that have pitches that have been 
identified as being available for community use but are not currently being used by 
community clubs or teams.

Summary of key management objectives to be adopted by Swale Council:

Objective Recommended Actions
1.1. Establish and enable cross-departmental working to annually 

review and refresh a playing pitch database taking into 
account improvements in pitch quality and capacity. (A 
database could be managed online an example include s 
www.playingpitch.com)

1.2. Rectify identified shortfalls and improvements to the current 
pitch stock in line with the site specific action plan

1. Address quantitative 
deficiencies to meet 
existing unmet demand 
and plan for new 
provision (as and 
where required)

1.3. Establish an approach to secure developer contributions to 
include provision and/or enhancement of appropriate outdoor 
playing fields and sports grounds/courts.

2.1. Adopt a borough wide quality standard for outdoor sports 
pitches.

2.2. Adopt a tiered approach to the management and 
improvement of facilities by identifying and categorising sites as: 
Strategic Sites, Key Sites, Club/Education Sites and Strategic 
Reserve Sites

2. Address issues of 
accessibility, quality 
and management with 
regard to facility 
provision

2.3. Invest in key strategic multi-pitch/sport sites with an identified 
mutli-sport hub located in each sub-area as follows:

- Sittingbourne – Sittingbourne Community Sport Centre.
- Faversham – King Georges Playing field (The Mount)
- Sheppey – King Georges Playing Field (Queenborough)
-

3.1. Establish a more coherent, structured relationship with 
schools to maximise community use of educational sites via the 
creation of a working group existing of key education and 
community stakeholders to identify and address barriers to 
access, management and provision of school facilities and 
pitches

3. Maximise access to 
all outdoor facilities and 
in particular 
educational facilities.

3.2. Secure tenure and access to sites for high quality 
development minded clubs through lease agreements (minimum 
10 years). These clubs will be required to meet SBC strategic 
objectives and targets for sport development to include:
- Increasing participation
- Workforce development

Page 40



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        7

- Commitment to quality standards
- Improvements to facilities, or retaining existing standards.

4.1. Support formal and informal participation programmes at 
clubs, which contribute to the achievement of SBC sport 
development objectives and the Swale Sport and Physical 
Activity Framework 2012 – 2017 ‘Move Ourselves’.

4. To support the 
development of local 
leagues and clubs to 
meet their needs within 
Swale 4.2. Utilise a Community Asset Transfer Policy, which supports 

community management and ownership of assets to local clubs, 
community groups and trusts.

Conclusion:

The Playing Pitch Strategy seeks to provide guidance for planning decisions made across 
Swale during the life of the document. 

By addressing the issues identified in the Assessment Report and using the strategic 
framework presented in this Strategy the objectives of the PPS and the current and future 
sporting and recreational needs of Swale can be satisfied. The Strategy identifies where 
there is a deficiency in provision and identifies how best to resolve this in the future.

It is important that this document is used in a practical manner and read alongside the 
Swale Indoor Facility Strategy, is engaged with partners and encourages partnerships to be 
developed, to ensure that playing pitches and outdoor sports facilities are regarded as a 
vital aspect of community life and which contribute to the achievement of Council priorities. 

The production of this Strategy should be regarded as the beginning of the planning 
process. The success of this Strategy and the benefits that are gained are dependent upon 
regular engagement between all partners involved and the adoption of a strategic 
approach. The Strategy is intended to be flexible and regularly updated using the 
accompanying database tools provided.

Page 41



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        8

PART 1: INTRODUCTION

This is the Playing Pitch Strategy for Swale. Building upon the preceding Assessment 
Report, it provides a clear, strategic framework for the maintenance and improvement of 
existing playing pitches and ancillary facilities between 2015 and 2025.  This Strategy, 
covering the sports of football, rugby union, cricket and artificial grass pitches (AGPs) will 
be capable of:

 Providing a clear framework for all playing pitch providers, including the public, 
private and third sectors;

 Clearly addressing the needs of all identified sports within the local area, picking up 
particular local demand issues;

 Addressing issues of population growth, and or major growth/regeneration areas up 
to 2025;

 Addressing issues of cross boundary facility provision;
 Addressing issues of accessibility, quality and management with regard to facility 

provision;
 Standing up to scrutiny at a public inquiry as a robust study;
 Providing realistic aspirations which are implementable within the local authority’s 

budgetary position and procurement regime.

It has been developed during a period of reduced and diminishing Council resources.   
SBC will seek to address shortfalls in provision resulting from current and future demand  
(as a result of population growth) with developers, facility providers in the public, private 
and voluntary sectors, NGB's and other interested parties as resources allow.

1.1: Vision

The vision for this strategy reflects the national, regional, county and local policies.  In 
particular, it is consistent with aspirations to improve health and well being by increasing 
the number of people who are physically active and will help to transform sport. In 
keeping with the key themes of the ‘Sport and Physical Activity Framework for Swale 
2012-2017 - Move Ourselves’, the vision for Swale is:

To ensure that the people of Swale have access to high quality appropriate 
sporting facilities so they are motivated to be more active and healthier and reach 
their potential 

This strategy will help in identification, and prioritisation, of outdoor sports facilities that 
are of local and Borough-wide significance and guide Swale Borough Council and its 
partners to work collaboratively (i.e., reduce duplication and competition), identify and use 
limited resources to optimum effect.

Page 42



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        9

1.2: Structure

The Strategy has been developed from research and analysis of playing pitch provision 
and usage within Swale and provides:

 A strategic framework for provision, development, improvement, maintenance, and, 
as appropriate, rationalisation of the playing pitch facility stock.

 A strategic vision for the future improvement and prioritisation of playing pitch 
facilities (including ancillary facilities).

 Robust evidence to support work on the Swale Draft Core Strategy (2015). 
 A management options action plan (highlighting key objectives that Swale Council 

could undertake in order to enhance and develop their current and future playing 
pitch provision.)

 A site-specific action plan (where action is deemed necessary to maintain or improve 
quality and accessibility of playing pitches).

The Strategy and Action Plan recommends a number of priority projects for Swale, which 
should be implemented from 2015 to 2025. It also takes account of other facility providers 
(i.e., private clubs and independent schools). It provides a framework for improvement 
and, although resources may not currently be in place to implement it, partners and 
possible sources of external funding have been identified. 

There is a need to build key partnerships with schools, community clubs and private 
landowners to maintain and improve playing pitch provision. In these instances the 
potential for the Council to take a strategic lead is more limited. This document provides 
clarity about the way forward, and allows the Council to focus on key issues that it can 
directly influence and address. 

The site-by-site Action Plan provides recommended actions for each site, based on 
current levels of usage, quality and future demand, as well as the potential of each site for 
enhancement. 

1.3: Strategic framework for playing pitch facility improvements
 
The objectives within this Strategy have been developed via the combination of 
information gathered during consultation, site visits and analysis. They reflect key areas 
to be addressed over its lifetime. However, implementation must be considered in the 
context of financial implications and the need for some proposals to also meet planning 
considerations.

1.4: National context

The provision of high quality and accessible community outdoor sports facilities at a local 
level is a key requirement for achieving the targets set out by the Government and Sport 
England. It is vital that this strategy is cognisant of and works towards these targets in 
addition to local priorities and plans.

The following section summarises the key strategic documents relevant to this Strategy 
and link, where appropriate, to the aims and objectives set out later.    

Page 43



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        10

National Planning Policy Framework

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the reformed planning policies 
for England. It details how these changes are expected to be applied to the planning 
system. It also provides a framework for local people and their councils to produce distinct 
local and neighbourhood plans, reflecting the needs and priorities of local communities.
 
The NPPF states the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement 
of sustainable development. It establishes the planning system needs to focus on three 
themes of sustainable development: economic, social and environmental. A presumption 
in favour of sustainable development is a key aspect for any plan-making and decision-
taking processes. In relation to plan making the NPPF sets out that Local Plans should 
meet objectively assessed needs.
 
Under the promoting healthy communities theme, it is set out that planning policies should 
be based on robust and up-to-date assessments of the needs for open space, sports and 
recreation facilities and opportunities for new provision. Specific needs and quantitative 
and qualitative deficiencies and surpluses in local areas should also be identified. This 
information should be used to inform what provision is required in an area.
 
As a prerequisite the NPPF states existing open space, sports and recreation sites, 
including playing fields, should not be built on unless:

 An assessment has been undertaken, which has clearly shown the site to be surplus 
to requirements.

 The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location.

 The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for 
which clearly outweigh the loss.

 
In order for planning policies to be ‘sound’ local authorities are still required to carry out a 
robust assessment of need for open space, sport and recreation facilities. We advocate 
that the methodology to undertake such assessments should still be informed by best 
practice including Sport England’s Towards a Level Playing Field (TALPF) and PPG17. 
Despite the latter being replaced by the NPPF it still offers relevant guidance on 
undertaking a needs assessment; which our own expert understanding and knowledge in 
this area can enhance.

Sport England

A Sporting Future for the Playing Fields of England 

It is Sport England’s policy to object to any planning application, which will result in the 
loss of a playing field, unless it meets one of five exceptions as defined in A Sporting 
Future for the Playing Fields of England. Protection of playing fields was further enhanced 
in 1998 with Circular 9/98 (replaced in 2009 by Circular 02/09) which stipulates that where 
a local authority is minded to grant planning permission against Sport England’s advice on 
land owned by a local authority or used for educational purposes, then the application 
should be referred to the relevant Government Office for possible ‘call in’.

Page 44



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        11

As a statutory consultee for the loss of playing fields, Sport England is a key partner. 
Regional planning officers should be kept informed of developing projects/schemes and 
can provide essential guidance and advice throughout the process, not just at planning 
application stage.   

Sport England Strategy 

The vision is for England to be a world leading sporting nation where many more people 
choose to play sport. There are five strategic themes including:

 Maximise value from current NGB investment
 Places, People, Play
 Strategic direction and market intelligence
 Set criteria & support system for NGB 2013-17 investment
 Market development

Sport England Youth and Community Strategy 2012 – 2017

Launched in January 2012 the strategy sets out how Sport England will invest over one 
billion of National Lottery and Exchequer funding during the five-year plan period. The 
investment will be used to create a lasting community sport legacy by growing sports 
participation at the grassroots level following the 2012 London Olympics.

The aim by 2017 is to ensure that playing sport is a lifelong habitat for more people and a 
regular choice for the majority. A specific target is to increase the number of 14 to 25 year 
olds playing sport. To accomplish these aims the strategy sets out a number of outcomes 
to achieve:

 Every (4,000) secondary school in England will be offered a community sport club on 
its site with a direct link to one or more NGBs, depending on the local clubs in its 
area.

 County sports partnerships will be given new resources to create effective links 
locally between schools and sport in the community.

 All secondary schools, who wish to do so, will be supported to open up, or keep 
open, their sports facilities for local community use and at least a third of these will 
receive additional funding to make this happen.

 At least 150 further education colleges will benefit from a full time sports professional 
who will act as a College Sport Maker.

 Three quarters of university students aged 18-24 will get the chance to take up a new 
sport or continue playing a sport they played at school or college.

 A thousand of our most disadvantaged local communities will get a Door Step Club.
 Two thousand young people on the margins of society will be supported by the Dame 

Kelly Holmes Legacy Trust into sport and to gain new life skills.
 Building on the success of the Places People Play, a further £100 million will be 

invested in facilities for the most popular sports.
 A minimum of 30 sports will have enhanced England Talent Pathways to ensure 

young people and others fulfil their potential.

Page 45



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        12

National governing bodies of sport

Consideration has been given throughout the Assessment Report and the Strategy to 
national governing body facility strategies. A summary of each is summarised below. 

The Football Association (FA) Strategic Plan 2011 - 2015

The recently published new National Facilities Strategy (2013 – 2015) sets out the FA’s 
long-term vision for development of facilities to support the ‘National Game’.  It aims to 
address and reflect the facility needs of football within the National Game (defined as all 
non-professional football from Steps 1-7 of the National League System down to 
recreational football played on open public space).. Facilities are considered to be crucial 
to the development of the game in England.  One of the main issues raised by ‘the Big 
Grassroots Football Survey’ (by 84% respondents) was ‘poor facilities’.  

The FA’s vision for the future of facilities in England is to build, protect and enhance 
sustainable football facilities to improve the experience of the nation’s favourite game. It 
aims to do this by:

 Building - Provide new facilities and pitches in key locations to FA standards in order 
to sustain existing participation and support new participation.

 Protecting - Ensure that playing pitches and facilities are protected for the benefit of 
current and future participants.

 Enhancing - Invest in existing facilities and pitches, ensuring that participation in the 
game is sustained as well as expanded.

The Strategy commits the FA to deliver in excess of £150m (through the Football 
Foundation) into facility improvements in line with identified priorities:

 Natural grass pitches improved – target: 100.
 A network of new AGPs built – target 100.
 A network of refurbished AGPs – target 150.
 On selected sites, new and improved changing facilities and toilets. 
 Continued small grants programme to address the modest facility needs of clubs.
 Ongoing support with the purchase and replacement of goalposts.

It also commits to:

 Direct other sources of investment into FA facility priorities.
 Communicate priorities for investment across the grassroots game on a regular basis. 
 Work closely with Sport England, the Premier League and other partners to ensure 

that investment is co-ordinated and targeted 

Swale is a priority area for the FA particularly in relation to ensuring there are appropriate 
facilities across the Borough to service all forms of the game through a programme of 
improvements to existing stock and development of new stock to address the deficiencies 
and facility limitations. 

On-going engagement with the FA is an important part of the sustainability and 
implementation of the Playing Pitch Strategy. The Council should further engage with the 
FA Regional Facility Manager (South East) as part of the delivery of this Strategy. 

Page 46



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        13

Rugby Football Union (RFU) 

The National Facility Strategy 2013-2017 provides a framework for the development of 
high-quality and well-managed facilities that will help to strengthen member clubs and 
grow the game in communities around them. In conjunction with partners, it will assist and 
support clubs and other organisations to continue to provide quality opportunities for all 
sections of the community to enjoy the game.

It sets out the broad facility needs of the sport and identifies investment priorities to the 
game and its key partners. It identifies that with 470 grass root clubs and 1500 players 
there is a continuing need to invest in community club facilities in order to: 

 Create a platform for growth in club rugby participation and membership, especially 
with a view to exploiting the opportunities afforded by the legacy of RWC 2015. 

 Ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of rugby clubs, through supporting not only 
their playing activity but also their capacity to generate revenue through a diverse 
range of activities and partnerships. 

The priorities for investment that met the needs of the game for the previous strategy 
period remain valid. These are to:

 Increase the provision of changing rooms and clubhouses that can sustain 
concurrent adult and junior male and female activity at clubs

 Improve the quality and quantity of natural turf pitches and floodlighting
 Increase the provision of AGPs pitches that deliver wider game development

It is also a high priority for the RFU to target investment in the following: 

 To upgrade and transform social, community and catering facilities, which can 
support the generation of additional revenues

 Facility upgrades, which result in an increase in energy-efficiency, in order to reduce 
the running costs of clubs

 Pitch furniture, including rugby posts and pads, pitch side spectator rails and grounds 
maintenance equipment

On-going engagement with the RFU is an important part of the sustainability and 
implementation of the Playing Pitch Strategy. The Council should further engage with the 
RFU Regional Funding and Facilities Manager (South East as part of the delivery of this 
Strategy. 

England and Wales Cricket Board (ECB)

Grounds to Play, ECB Strategic Plan (2013 – 2017) continues to focus on four pillars, as 
identified in the previous strategy, Building Partnerships. The pillars are:

 Energising people and partnerships to deliver national goals at local level:
 Having streamlined the management of ECB and established the County 

Boards, where feasible, services currently provided from the centre will be 
transferred to County Boards; 

Page 47



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        14

 Enhance asset growth through continuing interest free loans to community 
clubs, expanding NatWest Cricket Force, seeking to support corporate or public 
sector cricket grounds under threat of closure through the England and Wales 
Cricket Trust, and seeking to expand partnerships for Indoor Cricket.

 Vibrant domestic game.
 Enhancing facilities, environments and participation:

 The focus of this plan will be on providing facilities to sustain participation levels 
rather than a focus on a substantial increase in participation;

 The Cricket Foundation’s ‘Chance to Shine’ programme has been an 
outstanding success in reintroducing cricket into state schools. ECB will 
prioritise investment in the programme;

 To further expand club/ school links and position the cricket club at the heart of 
the community, ECB will provide £1.5 million per annum capital improvement 
grants to local clubs that make their club facilities available to the local 
community and to local schools.

 Successful England teams.

The following actions executed during the duration of Building Partnerships provide a 
strong base for this new plan. Actions include:

 Streamlining ECB governance
 Building participation by more than 20% per annum (as measured through ECB focus 

clubs and County Boards)
 Developing women’s cricket
 Attracting volunteers
 Expanding cricket’s spectator base
 Introducing grants and loans to clubs
 Developing disabilities cricket

The theme of this plan therefore progresses to Grounds to play and it is in the areas of 
facilities and coaches where ECB investment will be focussed. Partnership funding and 
support will play a key role in the delivery of actions and maintaining the strength of the 
pillars. 

On-going engagement with the ECB is an important part of the sustainability and 
implementation of the Playing Pitch Strategy. The Council should further engage with the 
Regional Funding and Facilities Manager (London and East) within the ECB as part of the 
delivery of this Strategy. 

Page 48



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        15

England Hockey (EH)

‘A Nation Where Hockey Matters1’ 

There are five core themes to EH current Vision & Strategy;

1. Grow our Participation
2. Deliver International Success
3. Increase our Visibility
4. Enhance our Infrastructure
5. Be a strong and respected Governing Body

EH promote its facility guidance which is intended to assist organisations wishing to build 
or protect hockey pitches for hockey. It identifies that many existing hockey AGP’s are 
nearing the end of their useful life as a result of the installation boom of the 90’s. 
Significant investment is needed to update the playing stock and protect the sport against 
inappropriate surfaces for hockey as a result of the rising popularity of AGP’s for a 
number of sports. EH are seeking to invest in, and endorse clubs and hockey providers 
who have a sound understanding of the following:

 Single System – clubs and providers who have a good understanding of the Single 
System and its principles and are appropriately places to support the delivery. 

 ClubsFirst accreditation – clubs with the accreditation are recognised as producing a 
safe effective and child friendly hockey environment 

 Sustainability – hockey providers and clubs will have an approved development plan 
in place showing their commitment to developing hockey, retaining members and 
providing an insight into longer term goals. They will also need to have secured 
appropriate tenure. 

On-going engagement with England Hockey is an important part of the sustainability and 
implementation of the Playing Pitch Strategy. The Council should further engage with the 
Relationship Managers (Kent, Sussex & Surrey) within England Hockey as part of the 
delivery of this Strategy.

1.4: Local context 

Strategy Summary Relevance to PPS
Corporate 
Plan - Small 
Government: 
Big Society 

It focuses on areas of change and improvement 
rather than attempting to cover everything the council 
does. Its key values are: 
 Fairness - being objective to balance the needs 

of communities.
 Integrity - being open, honest and taking 

responsibility.
 Respect - embracing and valuing the diversity of 

others.
 Service - delivering high quality, cost effective 

public service.
 Trust - delivering on promises to each other, 

customers and partners.

Priorities include 
‘developing a framework 
for sport and physical 
activity in Swale’

1 http://www.englandhockey.co.uk/page.asp?section=1154%A7ionTitle=Vision+and+Strategy   

Page 49

http://www.englandhockey.co.uk/page.asp?section=1154%A7ionTitle=Vision+and+Strategy


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        16

Strategy Summary Relevance to PPS
Sustainable 
Communities 
Plan - 
Priority 
Swale

The aim of this Plan is to provide a direction for 
Swale and is relevant to everybody who lives, 
works and visits the Borough and it:
 Sets out a vision for Swale to encourage a 

common purpose and aspiration for the 
future of the Borough.

 Identifies the priorities to help guide 
organisations who will deliver change, 
especially local authorities and other 
public agencies.

 Provides a clear picture to the outside 
world of what is important to the residents 
of Swale.

 Ensures that the priorities are clear and 
funding is spent in the right way.

Policy objective includes ‘to 
reduce crime and anti social 
behaviour and to provide 
accessible, healthy, safe but 
interesting public spaces and 
recreation facilities where 
there are fulfilling 
opportunities for everyone’

The Strategy sets out a statement of the kind of 
place that they want Swale to be in the future, 
and provides a basis for local organisations to 
work together to improve the social, economic 
and environmental prospects for the Borough.

Sustainable 
Community 
Strategy – 
Ambitions for 
Swale

(Section – 
Ambitions for 
Health)

Swale exhibits significant health inequalities, 
reflecting the economic divergences that exist 
between the most disadvantaged wards (on the 
Isle of Sheppey and in Sittingbourne) and the 
more affluent parts of the Borough. Ambitions 
for Swale seeks to reduce these inequalities, 
improving the health outcomes for those in the 
Borough have most deprived communities.

One of its eight priorities 
include ‘ambitions for 
Culture, with diverse 
sporting, leisure and cultural 
opportunities for all’

Open Space 
Strategy 
(2009 – 
2014)

Its aim is to maximise the potential, 
transforming perceptions and re-engaging 
communities with the inherent ‘Spirit of Swale’. 
The vision will reflect a confident, 
contemporary and innovative approach to 
sustainable design and management and 
provide a refuge for biodiversity.  

‘Provides a guide in the 
development of a strategy 
for future development of 
different types of open space 
(including outdoor sports 
facilities), and serves as 
evidence to support the 
Council’s requirements for 
contributions from 
developers where planned 
developments create an 
additional demand for 
different types of space’.

Page 50



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        17

Strategy Summary Relevance to PPS
Swale Draft 
Core 
Strategy
2015 

The Draft Core Strategy details the development plans 
and planning policy for Swale over the next 20 years. It 
promotes an employment led plan supported by other 
developments through sustainable growth. Ultimately 
the aim is for a better efficiency and self-containment. 
The Council’s vision is that by 2031 Swale will be 
known by the fruits of its endeavour. Key to achieving 
the vision is the delivery of 12 strategy objectives:
 Adapt to climate change with innovation, reduced 

use of resources, managed risk to our 
communities and opportunities for biodiversity to 
thrive.

 Use coastal assets to support a strong economy 
and a sustainably managed environment.

 Support economic success and improve 
community wellbeing with a network of 
maintained, protected and improved natural 
assets in town and country.

 Use historic and natural assets to drive 
regeneration, tourism and environmental quality.

 Strive for high quality design to bring better quality 
of life and self-confidence to communities.

 Support sectors that can build on strengths, 
diversify economy, promote investment in skills, 
and develop distinct opportunities in pursuit of 
greener and pioneering technologies.

 Bring economic growth, regeneration and 
community development, especially to the most 
deprived communities.

 Support farming and food sectors so that they are 
at the forefront of increasing food security, 
reducing food miles and increasing local food 
consumption.

 Provide the right housing to support regeneration 
and stronger, greener communities.

 Develop tourism and culture to support 
regeneration, employment growth, communities 
and environmental management.

 Improve prosperity and environmental quality with 
efficient and sustainable transport networks.

 Ensure timely delivery of the services and 
infrastructure to support strong communities.

Chapter 7.14 of the Core Strategy sets out the Open 
Space and Recreation Standards for Swale. It states 
that the main role of the planning system is to ensure 
there is enough accessible provision that is managed 
and maintained to a sufficient quality.
Policy DM17 details the proposals for new 
developments in order to meet open space, sports and 

Key planning principles 
include ‘Health and 
well-being – protecting 
and enhancing health 
facilities and promoting 
healthy living
Spaces’ and
‘Community Facilities 
provision – making the 
best use of existing 
community facilities 
and
public utilities and 
ensuring new provision 
where necessary to 
meet the needs of new
development’

Page 51



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        18

Strategy Summary Relevance to PPS
recreational needs. It states that where developments 
will result in a shortfall of provision, developer funding 
will be sought. The policy also identifies the need to 
address identified deficiencies of formal outdoor sport 
facilities in Faversham and the Isle of Sheppey.

Strategy Summary Relevance to PPS
A Sport and 
Physical 
Activity 
Framework 
for Swale 
2012-2017 - 
Move 
Ourselves

The framework sets out a vision for sport and activity 
for Swale and includes the main priorities over the next 
five years. It has been set up as a tool to try and 
encourage people to be fit and active. It categorises 
each sport and physical activity (SPA) into either 
‘unstructured and informal SPA’ which includes sports 
and activities such as leisure walking, dance and 
leisure cycling or ‘structured and formal SPA’ including 
ones such as club sports, school sports/physical 
education and fitness training. 
Swale residents, schools, businesses and various other 
stakeholders were asked about their needs and 
priorities and it found that “71% of people would like to 
do more sport and physical activity”.

‘Targeted activities 
including football will be  
focus as well as target 
groups (to increase 
participation) and target 
places; areas of 
deprivation, local sports 
clubs and schools’

1.5: Neighbouring authorities

A comparison of the neighbouring local authorities Paying Pitch Strategies has not been 
undertaken as these are not robust and up to date. However, contact has been made with 
neighbouring authorities where possible. 

1.6: Local context Sport Participation trends

The Sport England Active People Survey (APS5, 2010/11), as highlighted in the PPS 
assessment report (3.1.), identified that only 31.4% of the Swale population take part in 
sport at least once a week for 30 minutes which is below the regional (Kent 33.5%) and 
National Averages (34.8%). In addition 6.2% of the Swale population volunteer in sport 
for at least 1 hour per week, 22.8% of the population are members of a sports club and 
13.1% have received tuition from a coach in the last twelve months all of which are below 
regional and national averages.  The only exception to these low participation trends is in 
competitive sport where 14.6% of the Swale population have taken part in organised 
competitive sport in the past 12 months which is higher than the national average (14.3%) 
but lower than the regional (15.1%).  It is important that the lower than average 
participation trends for Swale are taken into account within the context of playing pitch 
provision to ensure that potential barriers to entry aligned to location, accessibility, 
visibility, and quality of new and existing playing pitches are effectively addressed to help 
increase participation.

1.7: Market segmentation trends 

The assessment report (section 3.2.) highlighted that the largest market segments in 
Swale are “Philip”, Comfortable Mid-Life Males, who make up 9.7% of the Swale 
population and “Tim”, Settling Down Males, who make up 9% of the population. In 
addition there is a large market segment of older adults in Swale represented by “Roger 
and Joy” (early retirement couples 8.8%) and Elsie and Arnold (retirement home singles 

Page 52



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        19

8.6%).  The preferred sports for these dominant segments are cycling, keep fit/gym, 
swimming, with Football being more popular among Tim’s and Philip’s and Bowling more 
popular among the older segments (Roger, Joy, Elsie and Arnold).  A key consideration 
for the council and community sports clubs within Swale will be how these dominant 
market segments are being catered for within the operational mix of sports provision 
being provided across the playing pitch sports and associates sites.

1.8: Sub area analysis

Analysis areas

For mapping purposes and audit analysis, Swale is divided into three analysis areas or 
sub-areas (to reflect council boundary areas and the analysis areas used in the previous 
PPP in 2008). These allow more localised assessment of provision and examination of 
facility surplus and deficiencies at a local level. Use of analysis areas also allows local 
circumstances and issues to be taken into account. Swale is therefore, broken down into 
the following areas:

 Faversham 
 Sheppey 
 Sittingbourne  

Figure 4.1: Analysis areas in Swale 

The PPS assessment report and strategy has applied both area (Swale) and sub-area 
analysis to identify common issues and priorities across the PPS sites, sports and the 
geographical area. 

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number 100020577.Created by Knight, Kavanagh & Page (www.kkp.co.uk)

MAIDSTONE

MEDWAY

ASHFORD

CANTERBURY

THURROCK

Faversham

Sheppey

Sittingbourne

Swale
Analysis Areas

Analysis area boundaries

Population density per square mile

40,400 to 40,500
16,000 to 40,400
12,100 to 16,000
7,900 to 12,100
5,400 to 7,900
3,200 to 5,400
2,200 to 3,200

700 to 2,200
300 to 700
100 to 300

Page 53



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        20

1.9: Area measurements and standards

All PPS assessments report data and analysis has been undertaken using standards that 
adhere to the latest and relevant Sport England and NGB guidance. For example the 
Rugby audit of current provision only assessed dedicated line marked pitches to the area 
measurements outlined in the Towards a Level Playing Field (TLPF) methodology which 
identifies that a Rugby pitch is 144m x 69m and a junior pitch is 70m x 43m. 
1.9.1.  FA Youth Development Review 

The FA has consulted widely and has been encouraged to produce national pitch sizes for 
mini soccer (5V5 and 7v7), Youth football 9v9 and 11v11) and over 18 senior football 
(11v11). This will see an increased use of small-sided games for all age groups up to 
U12s. This will allow children to progress gradually through age-appropriate formats. The 
entry point for U7s and U8s will be the 5v5 game. U9s and U10s will then step up to 7v7, 
followed by a new 9v9 level for U11s and U12s. 

Table 1.1: Summary of each step and the appropriate pitch and goal sizes

Age Format Pitch size without 
runoff

(Length x width 
yards)

Pitch size
including runoff 2
(Length x width 

yards)

Recommended 
size of goal posts
(Height x width ft.)

Mini soccer 
U7/U8

5 v 5 40 x 30 46 x 36 6 x 12

Mini soccer 
U9/U10

7 v 7 50 x 40 66 x 46 6 x 12

Youth 11/12 9 v 9 80 x 50 86 x 56 7 x 16
Youth 13/14 11 v 11 90 x 55 96 x 61 7 x 21
Youth 15/16 11 v 11 100 x 60 106 x 66 8 x 24
Youth 17/18 11 v 11 110 x 70 116 x 76 8 x 24
Over 18           
(senior ages)

11 v 11 110 x 70 116 x 76 8 x 24

Playing smaller-sided games has been proved to give children an increased number of 
touches of the ball, while providing more goals and scoring attempts, more one-v-one 
encounters and more chance to attempt dribbling skills. It is this increased contact time 
with the ball that the FA believe will help children enjoy the game more while providing 
them with better preparation for the 11-a-side a game.

The introduction of 9v9 football, by the FA, is designed to help bridge the gap between 
mini soccer at U10s and 11-a-side at U11s and will see the introduction of a new 
intermediate sized pitch. The FA report where there is limited space, there is the ability to 
mark out 9v9 pitches across a full size pitch. 

It is identified that 15 9v9 pitches are needed to satisfy demand (based on 27 teams 
currently competing in Swale aged U11) in Swale. There are no major issues identified in 
relation to the future provision of 9v9 pitches in Swale.

2 Including runoff (safety area around pitch)

Page 54



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        21

Through marking out two 9v9 pitches on one senior pitch this will thus help to meet the 
shortfall of junior pitches identified at peak times. However, specific 9v9 goals 
(recommended size 7 x 16 ft.) would be required. Funding for the purchase of new 9v9 
goalposts is available through the Football Foundation:
(http://www.footballfoundation.org.uk). 

The proposals became mandatory from 2013/14 season. 

PART 2: SUMMARY FROM THE ASSESSMENT REPORT

This section summarises the key findings from the Assessment Report. The Strategy has 
been developed in recognition of the consultation findings whilst drawing upon a core 
series of objectives that should be applied across the board and should not be attributed 
to any one particular type of facility. 

2.1 Football

 There are a total of 244 teams playing on pitches in Swale.   
 The audit identifies 38 sites available for community use, providing a total of 96 

pitches. The 30 sites identified as having no community use accounts for 44% of total 
pitch provision.

 There is generally good geographical distribution of football pitches across Swale 
enabling the majority of the population to access a community pitch within a 15-
minute drive time (see appendix five in the assessment report).  There are some 
areas, particularly on Sheppey and around Faversham, that sit on the periphery of a 
15 minute drive time catchment area of a football pitch for example Conyer, Uplees,, 
Graveney and Leydown-on-sea.

 In general the quality of pitches across Swale is deemed to be ‘adequate’. League 
consultation indicates that pitch quality often deteriorates towards the end of the 
playing season due to overplay on local authority pitches.

 The ancillary facilities (changing rooms) at football sites are generally adequate with a 
few sites that include Sittingbourne Recreation Ground, Kemsley Recreation Ground 
(both two pitch sites) and King George V Playing Field, Queensborough (one pitch 
site) recorded as not having any ancillary provision. As a result, players often change 
close to the pitch or in the car park. Whilst at present it does not enforce the need for 
access to such provision, the League is considering a requirement that all teams have 
access to onsite changing.  24% of clubs expressed that having access to better 
ancillary facilities would result in them fielding more teams.

 Swale’s largest population market segments consist of “Tim” (settling down males) 
and “Philip” (comfortable mid-life males) market who are more likely to participate in 
Football.  Despite this football participation in Swale has remained static with 61% of 
clubs responding that senior teams fielded have stayed the same, with only a quarter 
of clubs (26%) reporting that the number of senior teams has increased and 13% 
reporting a decrease.

 The average number of football teams per club for Swale (1: 3.4 ratio) is above the 
national average of 1:2.8 and in line with the regional trend (1:3.4).

 Six clubs report that if more pitches were available at their home grounds (1.5 senior, 
4 junior and 3.5 mini pitches) they would be able to collectively create 18 new teams. 
Latent demand does not necessary mean that more new pitches need to be created 
but that the capacity of existing pitches could be increased to meet demand.

Page 55

http://www.footballfoundation.org.uk/


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        22

 Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model Report (2012) provides a ‘global’ simplistic 
picture of the adequacy of provision to meet demand in by 2031. This identifies an 
oversupply of around two AGPs in Swale in 2012 and up to 3 pitches in 2031. 
However, this supply/demand balance does not take into account a number of factors 
including the location, nature, quality and accessibility of provision in relation to 
demand, facilities in neighbouring areas and the cross boundary movement of 
demand. 

 When taking into account population projections for Swale it is anticipated there will 
be a further 16.7 teams by 2025.  These are most likely to occur in the Sittingbourne 
area with an additional 9.3 senior teams and 13.2 junior teams by 2025. 

 The PPM Model (see appendix 2) identifies that currently there is a surplus of 28 
senior pitches in Swale (in particular within Sittingbourne and Faversham) and a 
deficiency of junior (-26) and mini pitches (-3.5).  These figures however need to be 
taken in context for instance junior teams in Swale (aged 13 upwards) prefer to play 
on a senior pitch and therefore a large proportion senior pitches should be retained 
for junior play. In addition the current oversupply of senior pitches is generally 
aggregated spare capacity across primary education sites where spare capacity is 
greatest due to these sites only being used for one or two matches per week.

 The PPM Model identifies that by 2025, it is anticipated there will be a surplus of 19.5 
senior pitches particularly in the Faversham and Sittingbourne analysis areas. There 
is a predicted deficiency of junior pitches (-33.9) across all analysis areas and a 
deficiency of mini (-6.0) pitches in three analysis areas; Sheppey, Sittingbourne and 
Faversham. Increasing access to education sites that are not currently available for 
community use could help to address the current and predicted shortfall of junior and 
mini pitches.

 In general the current playing pitch stock should be protected, with some rested to 
provide a strategic reserve and protection of overall quality, consideration should be 
given to changing the designation of some senior pitches to cater for junior and mini 
football. After taking into account latent demand there is a need to provide more junior 
and mini pitches across the Borough.  

2.2 Cricket

 There are 28 cricket pitches, of which 25 (88%) are available for community use in 
Swale, accommodating 101 teams (including seniors and juniors). 

 When analysing a 15 minute service area drive time of existing pitches (see appendix 
six in the assessment report) there is generally good access across Swale with a gap 
in provision to the North of Faversham in Conyer, Uplees and Graveley which sit on 
the periphery of the 15 minute catchment area.

 84% of Cricket clubs have reported that participation levels amongst their senior and 
junior teams have remained static over the previous three years.  Despite static 
growth there are good levels of participation with six clubs fielding more than two 
junior teams.  Bapchild CC accommodates the largest number of junior teams with 
10.

 Site assessments generally score the quality of pitches as good. Two pitches; Queen 
Elizabeth Grammar School and Westland’s School are rated as poor quality. These 
sites are not currently available for community use. 

 There is generally an acceptable standard of changing accommodation available at 
cricket clubs across Swale with nearly half of clubs (46%) rating the quality of their 
ancillary facilities as good. Changing facilities at three sites; Davington Priory, 

Page 56



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        23

Shurland Meadow and Bredgar Recreation Ground are noted by users as being poor 
quality. 

 Macknade and Davington Priory cricket clubs express demand for additional cricket 
training facilities. Munster (Sheppey) CC reports demand for better quality outdoor 
artificial nets to support its pre season/winter training. 

 Analysis of match play indicates a number of sites (17 in total) that have spare 
capacity to accommodate additional play. However, five sites are deemed to be 
overplayed primarily due to the number of teams (both senior and juniors) using the 
sites each week. Where this is due to junior play i.e., Rodmersham Cricket Club 
provision of artificial wickets at sites would help to reduce overplay. 

 When analysing future population projections for Swale it is anticipated there will be a 
further 9.4 senior teams (6 in Sittingbourne) and 5.8 junior teams (3 in Sittingbourne) 
by 2025.

 In order to meet the current and future shortfall of cricket pitches there is a need for 
additional cricket pitch provision; particularly in the Sittingbourne Analysis Area 
(where four sites are overplayed). 

 Whilst there is a small shortfall of pitches in Faversham analysis area, this could 
potentially be accommodated at Queen Elizabeth Grammar School (the site provides 
one cricket pitch which is poor quality and is not available for community use). 
Consultation reports identify that the School has plans in the future to relocate the 
cricket pitch to ensure provision is available throughout the cricket season. 

 The PPM analysis of cricket pitches (see appendix 2) shows a current deficiency of -
6 pitches in the provision at peak times in all areas. These shortfalls are due to the 
significant amount of adult matches occurring on a Saturday (71% of adult matches) 
during the week. The greatest shortfall is in the Sittingbourne analysis area. There 
will be a greater shortfall of -10.4 cricket pitches by 2025 with the greatest deficiency 
being in Sittingbourne (-6). However, if trends continue it is likely that increasing 
access to education sites (as oppose to new provision), where possible, could help to 
satisfy future demand for Cricket.

2.3 Rugby Union 

 In total, there are 14 rugby union pitches (eight senior and six mini pitches) located 
across three sites that are available for community use in Swale. In addition, there 
are three senior rugby union pitches not available for community use located at 
educational sites within the Faversham and Sittingbourne areas (Queen Elizabeth 
Grammar School, The Abbey School and Sittingbourne Community College Sports 
Centre). 

 In total, there are 28 rugby union teams playing across Swale (8 senior, 7 junior and 
13 mini). Sheppey RFC accommodates the highest number of teams. The majority of 
training occurs on competitive grass rugby pitches (due to a lack of designated 
training facilities), which further adds pressure on pitches.

 The majority of the Swale population are within a 15 minute drive time of a Rugby 
pitch with community access (See appendix 7 in the assessment report) with a few 
areas such as Upchurch, Graveley, Conyer and Uplees sitting on the periphery of 
these catchment areas.

 Quality of pitch provision is in general deemed to be of a sufficient level. 
 Temporal demand analysis identified the peak demand and use of pitches throughout 

the week.  All adult competitive matches (100%) take place on Saturdays with four 
games per week. 100% of junior games (3.5 game per week) and mini games (3.25 
games per week) are only played on a Sunday (100% of matches).

Page 57



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        24

 Sheppey RFC reports at peak times there is not enough changing provision to 
accommodate all teams. It has facility development plans in place that include an 
extension to the existing clubhouse. 

 Team generation rates for senior men’s rugby are better than national averages but 
there is no current provision for senior or junior female rugby in Swale, which is a 
potential area for participation development.

 When analysing future population projections for Swale it is anticipated that there will 
be an additional 4.2 teams (1.2 senior men, 1.1 juniors and 2 junior girls teams) by 
2025.

 Sport England’s PPM model identifies there a current and future surplus of senior 
and mini rugby pitches. The current surplus is attributed to spare capacity of existing 
sites in Swale with a surplus of 4 senior pitches (2.5 in Sittingbourne, 1.5 in Sheppey) 
and 2.8 mini pitches (1.3 in Sittingbourne and 1.5 in Sheppey).  Future projections 
highlight a continued surplus of 3.4 senior pitches and 2.2 mini pitches by 2028.

 The surplus of senior pitches is attributed to the spare capacity of the rugby union 
pitches at Fulston Manor School (Cromers Corner Playing Field). 

 Whilst there is an identified surplus of mini pitches recorded in the Sheppey sub-area 
the pitches at Sheppey RFC are used to capacity at peak time (Sunday) resulting in 
no surplus being recorded for peak time usage. As such, access to sites that provide 
rugby union pitches and are not currently available for community use could 
potentially satisfy demand from Sheppey RFC such as Sittingbourne College or 
Fulston Manor School both of which are situated an 18-minute drive from the club.

 It is likely that rugby union participation will increase in the Borough building up to the 
Rugby World Cup in 2015, which could be satisfied by existing provision, and 
ensuring school sites are available for community use.  

2.4 Hockey

 There are six-floodlit full sizes AGPs in Swale. Three of these are suitable (sand 
filled) and available for competitive hockey; two are rated as good quality and one 
(Borden Grammar School) is rated as ‘below average’ quality. 

 The three suitable sand filled AGPs for Hockey are all located in the Sittingbourne 
area resulting in people living in the Sheppey and Faversham sub-areas being further 
than a 15 minute drive time catchment area of a suitable Hockey facility with 
community use.

 The Faversham Ladies Hockey Club plays there competitive matches outside of 
Swale at Tower School, Hennington due to there being no sand filled AGP in the 
Faversham area. Given that a large proportion of players are from Faversham, the 
club would prefer to play in the Swale area.

 There is significant football use (for training) of all AGPs in Swale that further adds to 
the wear and tear of carpets/surfaces.

 The hockey clubs currently play in Swale (Gore Court and Old Bordenians) field a 
total of 20 senior teams.

 Borden Grammar School is currently operating at peak time capacity for hockey. Any 
additional growth from Old Bordenians Hockey Club could not be accommodated at 
the site and would further impact the poor quality of the pitch.

 Gore Court HC report latent demand equating to one senior men’s team which 
cannot be accommodated at Westland’s School which is also operating to peak time 
hockey capacity.

Page 58



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        25

 When analysing future population projections for Swale it is anticipated there will be a 
further 3.9 Hockey teams across Swale by 2025, all of which will be based in the 
Sittingbourne area.

 Sittingbourne Community College Sports Centre is not used for community use for 
hockey and as such offers potential spare capacity to accommodate latent demand 
expressed from clubs such as Gore Court HC.

 Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model Report 2012 provided a ‘global’ simplistic 
picture of the adequacy of provision to meet demand by 2031. This identified an 
under supply (in 2012) of -0.2 AGPs in Swale. This undersupply is predicted to 
remain the same in 2031. It should be noted that this supply/demand balance does 
not take into account a number of factors including the location, nature, quality and 
accessibility of provision in relation to demand, facilities in neighbouring areas and 
the cross boundary movement of demand.

2.5 Schools
 There are 84 pitches (grass football, rugby, cricket and artificial grass pitches) 

located at schools in Swale. Of these 42 pitches are available for community use with 
over 50% (27) being based within Sittingbourne.

 Whilst a number of schools report their outdoor playing fields are available for 
community use, only a small proportion of these (six primary and seven secondary) 
are in actual use i.e. currently available and used for competitive community use. 

 In the majority of instances, where pitches are available and in use, access to school 
changing accommodation is limited or non-existent.    

 Overall quality of primary school pitch provision is good, with all categories receiving 
a score of either ‘good’ or ‘average’

 The quality of secondary outdoor sports provision varies site by site. However, where 
there is poor quality provision there is also limited community use. 

 The quality and quantity of outdoor sports facilities at school sites varies across 
Swale, but the majority of good quality sites are based in secondary schools.

2.6 Overall summary 

In summary, the following are seen as the key priorities to tackle in the Swale Strategy:

 In general the current playing pitch stock should be protected, with some rested to 
provide a strategic reserve and protection of overall quality. Addressing the current 
and future latent demand for junior/mini football pitches, especially in the 
Sittingbourne area. This in part can be met through changing the designation of 
some of the senior pitches, that are identified as surplus, to junior or mini pitches to 
accommodate for the latent demand. Increasing access to education sites that are 
not currently available for community use could also help to address the current and 
predicted shortfall of junior and mini pitches.

 Meeting the current and future shortfall of cricket pitches, particularly in Sittingbourne 
Analysis Area. This could be tackled in a number of ways in including provision of 
non-turf wickets and  maximising community use and spare capacity expressed at 
some school sites.(such as Queen Elizabeth Grammar school and Westland’s 
school).

 Across the Borough there is a surplus of senior and mini rugby pitches. The surplus 
of senior pitches is attributed to the spare capacity of the rugby union pitches at 

Page 59



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        26

Fulston Manor School (Cromers Corner Playing Field). Whilst there is an identified 
surplus of mini pitches recorded in the Sheppey analysis area an analysis of pitch 
capacity identifies the mini pitches at Sheppey RFC are in fact used to capacity at 
peak time (Sunday) and thus in reality there is no surplus at peak time. As such, 
access to sites that provide rugby union pitches and are not currently available for 
community use could potentially satisfy demand from Sheppey RFC such as 
Sittingbourne College or Fulston Manor School both of which are situated an 18 
minute drive from the club.

 Ensuring demand for hockey is met on existing provision in Swale. There is a 
predicted current and future (2031) undersupply of AGP’s (-0.2) in the borough (Sport 
England FPM model). The three suitable sand filled AGPs for competitive Hockey are 
all located in the Sittingbourne area resulting in people living in the Sheppey and 
Faversham sub-areas being further than a 15 minute drive time catchment area of a 
suitable Hockey facility with community use. There is significant football use (for 
training) of all AGPs in Swale that further adds to the wear and tear of 
carpets/surfaces.  Additional provision of 3G pitches to service football demand 
would help to release capacity at key sand based AGPs for Hockey.  Gore Court HC 
(based at Westlands School) has expressed latent demand equating to one senior 
mens team that could be catered for at the Sittingbourne Community College 3G 
sand filled pitch which at present has no Hockey usage.

 Refurbishment or replacement of AGPs at Isle of Sheppey Academy and Borden 
Grammar School in the next couple of years. 

 Maximising community use of secondary school sites and where possible developing 
community use agreements with the twenty-nine schools sites that have pitches that 
are listed as being available for community use but are not currently being used by 
community clubs or teams.

Page 60



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        27

PART 3: A STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK FOR FACILITY IMPROVEMENTS

3.1: Introduction

The following section provides a framework for the Council and its partners to maintain 
and improve the playing pitch facilities and to help address the key issues emerging from 
the Assessment. 

The Strategy will also meet the three strategic objectives and overall vision of the Sport 
and Physical Activity Framework for Swale 2012-2017 - Move Ourselves, which would 
also be in line with National Planning Policy Framework Core Planning Principle 12. 

3.2: Strategic objectives

The proposed vision is based upon a clear, achievable framework of strategic objectives 
(not in any priority and summarised in the text boxes below) which should be adopted as 
policy). A range of management objectives supports these. The management objectives 
need to be implemented to enable the policy objectives to be delivered. It is 
recommended that the Council adopt the following strategic objectives (as policy) to 
enable it to achieve the vision of the Strategy:  

OBJECTIVE 1
To address quantitative deficiencies to meet existing unmet demand and plan for new 
provision (as and where required)

OBJECTIVE 2
To address issues of accessibility, quality and management with regard to facility 
provision

OBJECTIVE 3
To maximise access to all outdoor facilities and in particular educational facilities

OBJECTIVE 4
To support the development of local leagues and clubs to meet their needs within 
Swale

Page 61



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        28

PART 4: MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

The management objectives need to be implemented to enable the policy objectives to be 
delivered. It is recommended that the Council adopt the following management objectives 
across a range of departments to enable it to achieve the vision of the Strategy (note: not 
in any priority order):  

   

Management objective (a) - Regularly review and refresh area by area plans taking 
account of any improvements in pitch quality (and hence increases in pitch 
capacity) and also any new negotiations for community use of education sites in 
the future.

It is important that the Council maintains the data contained with the accompanying 
Playing Pitch Database. This will enable it to refresh and update area-by-area plans on a 
regular basis. The accompanying databases are intended to be refreshed on a season by 
season basis and it is important that there is cross-departmental working, including for 
example, grounds maintenance and sports development departments, to ensure that this 
is achieved and that results are used to inform subsequent annual sports facility 
development plans. Results should be shared with partners via a consultative 
mechanism.

a. Regularly review and refresh area by area plans taking account of any 
improvements in pitch quality (and hence increases in pitch capacity) and also any 
new negotiations for community use of education sites in the future.

b. Rectify inadequacies and meet identified shortfalls as outlined in the Assessment 
Report through improvements to the current pitch stock and ancillary facilities in 
line with the Action Plan. 

c. Identify opportunities to add to the overall pitch stock to accommodate both latent 
and potential future demand.

d. Prioritise new capital development projects from the action plan according to a 
range of core criteria (such as strategic need, sports development objectives, 
sustainability of provision and work with target groups)

e. Work with facility providers to establish an approach to co-ordinate investment to 
address the community’s needs, to target priority areas and to avoid/reduce 
duplication of provision.

OBJECTIVE 1
To address quantitative deficiencies to meet existing unmet demand and plan for new 
provision (as and where required)

Page 62



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        29

Management objective (b) - Rectify inadequacies and meet identified shortfalls as 
outlined in the Assessment Report through improvements to the current pitch 
stock and ancillary facilities in line with the Action Plan. 

The Council and its partners should work to rectify identified inadequacies and meet 
identified shortfalls as outlined in the Assessment Report through improvements to the 
current pitch stock and ancillary facilities. It is important that the current levels of pitch 
provision are protected, maintained and enhanced to secure provision now and in the 
future.

In general, the future deficiencies in provision identified in Swale can be overcome 
through maximising use of existing pitches through a combination of:

 Securing long term community use at school sites. 
 Encouraging junior leagues to stagger kick off times or play some fixtures/age groups 

on a Sunday.
 The re-designation of pitches for which there is an oversupply.
 Improve pitch quality in order to improve the capacity of pitches to accommodate 

more matches.

However, there is a need to protect some senior pitches as this provides the flexibility to 
provide senior, junior or mini pitches (through different line markings/coning areas of the 
pitch).  Furthermore the re-designation of all surplus adult pitches may lead to a 
deficiency of adult pitches in the medium to longer term as younger players move up the 
ages. It is likely that for some sports, particularly football, that the provision of new pitches 
and facilities will be required in the future to support the predicted future demand.

Although the Council is a lead partner in pitch provision, it should support the needs of all 
sporting clubs and bodies to work together to make the recommendations of this strategy 
a reality. 

Latent demand, national changes in sport participation and proposed housing growth 
should be recognised and factored into future facility planning. Assuming an increase in 
participation and housing growth occurs, it will obviously impact on the future need for 
certain types of sports facilities. Sports development work also approximates latent 
demand that cannot currently be quantified (i.e., it is not being suppressed by a lack of 
facilities) but is likely to occur. The following table highlights the main development trends 
in each sport and their likely impact on facilities. However, it is important to note that 
these may be subject to change.

Latent demand is expressed for senior, junior and mini football as well as artificial grass 
pitches (accommodating latent demand for one senior hockey team from Gore Court 
Hockey Club) in Swale. 

The Sport England Playing Pitch Model (PPM) used in the Assessment Report highlights 
an anticipated future surplus of senior football pitches in Swale (19.58 pitches). Whilst 
these predictions should not be used in isolation, it is in the main attributed to spare 
capacity across a large number of sites, some of which is significant. This type of surplus 
can be important to overall levels of participation in the context of using it to 
accommodate predicted growth in football participation. 

Page 63



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        30

Furthermore surplus pitches allow for some space capacity to be allocated as strategic 
reserve enabling some pitches to be rested for the protection of overall pitch quality in the 
long term. Therefore, whilst in some instances it may be appropriate to re-designate a 
senior pitch where there is no demand identified a holistic approach should be taken to 
re-designation for the reasons cited. The site-by-site action planning will seek to provide 
further clarification on where re-designation is suitable and should occur.

Table 4.1: Likely future sport-by-sport demand trends 

Sport Future development trend Strategy impact
The needs of the game changed 
significantly from the 2013/14 seasons 
with the implementation of the FA Youth 
Development Review.  As a result, pitch 
demands in the Borough changed. This 
could also see changes in the seasonal 
demand of pitches (youth football). 

Consider re-allocating leases to 
Charter Standard clubs with a large 
number of teams.
Work with clubs to identify facility 
development opportunities.
Work with clubs in relation to their 
pitch demands as a result of the FA 
Youth Development Review. 

Football

Demand for senior football is a key 
focus as there is still a decline nationally 
in the number of players in 11-a-side 
football. 

Continually invest in the improvement 
of ‘key centres’ to improve ancillary 
facilities (see site by site action plan).

Clubs have strong and active senior and 
junior sections which access a range of 
club facilities.  

A number of clubs with large junior 
sections are likely to require access 
to additional pitches and to be 
supported to make improvements to 
ancillary facilities.

Cricket

Women’s and girls’ cricket is a national 
priority and there is a target to establish 
two girls’ and one women’s team in 
every local authority over the next five 
years.

Support clubs to ensure access to 
segregated changing and toilet 
provision and access to good quality 
cricket pitches to support growth. 

Rugby Union The Rugby World Cup (2015) is 
predicted to see a further increase in the 
demand for rugby provision. 

Clubs are likely to field more teams in 
the future, and therefore have a 
demand for more pitches. It is 
important, therefore, to work with the 
clubs to maintain the current pitch 
stock and to support facility 
development where appropriate.

AGPs Demand for AGPs for football continues 
to increase. Provision of 3G pitches (IRB 
complaint) will help to reduce overplay 
of football and rugby pitches.

Carry out a Borough wide review of 
all training facilities to further 
establish demand for specific surface 
types.   

Page 64



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        31

Management objective (c) - Identify opportunities to add to the overall pitch stock 
to accommodate both latent and potential future demand.

The Council should use, and regularly update, the Action Plan within this Strategy for 
improvements to its own pitches whilst recognising the need to support partners. The 
Action Plan lists improvements to be made to each site focused upon both qualitative and 
quantitative improvements as appropriate for each area.

Furthermore any potential school sites which become redundant over the lifetime of the 
Strategy may offer potential for meeting community needs on a localised basis. Where 
schools are closed their playing fields may be converted to dedicated community use to 
help address any unmet community needs.

Management objective (d) - Establish an approach to securing developer 
contributions which prioritises projects according to a range of core criteria.

It is important that this strategy informs policies and emerging supplementary planning 
documents by setting out the approach to securing sport and recreational facilities 
through new housing development. The guidance should form the basis for negotiation 
with developers to secure contributions to include provision and/or enhancement of 
appropriate outdoor playing fields and sports grounds/courts and its subsequent 
maintenance towards the first ten years. A number of management objectives should be 
implemented to enable the above to be delivered:

 To continue to ensure that where playing field and sports ground/courts are lost, 
through alternative development or closure, that the type of sports facilities of the 
same or improved standard are provided to meet the continued needs of residents 
within the Borough. 

 Where pitches are lost due to redevelopment of the site, compensatory re-provision 
or an equivalent contribution for re-investment into new pitches will be sought as 
appropriate in an alternative accessible location.

 Planning consent should include appropriate conditions and/or be subject to specific 
planning obligations. Where developer contributions are applicable, a Section 106 
Agreement or equivalent must be completed specifying the amount which will be 
linked to Sport England’s Building Cost Information Service from the date of the 
Planning Committee, and timing of the Contribution(s) to be paid.

 Some contributions may need to be ring fenced for use according to the particular 
terms of the Planning Obligation, where there is opportunity to improve the 
appropriate sporting facility within the local vicinity. However, for some sports such as 
for example  cricket and rugby a “central pot” for developer contributions across the 
local authority area may be necessary for the particular sport.  

 External funding should be sought/secured to achieve maximum benefit from the 
investment into appropriate playing pitch facility enhancement and its subsequent 
maintenance .

 Where new multiple pitches are provided, appropriate changing rooms and 
associated car parking should be located on site.

Page 65



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        32

Management objective (e) - Work with facility providers to establish an approach to 
co-ordinate investment to address the community’s needs, to target priority areas 
and to reduce duplication of provision.

Some investment in new provision will not be made by Councils directly, it is important 
that the Council therefore seeks to direct and lead a strategic and co-ordinated approach 
to facility development by schools, colleges, sports clubs and the commercial sector to 
address community needs whilst avoiding duplication of provision. In delivering this 
objective the Council should maintain a regular dialogue with local partners and through 
existing networks.

Management objective (f) – Adopt a Borough wide quality standard

To support achievement of this objective, the Council should adopt the following quality 
standard for provision, to be achieved by 2025:

‘All outdoor sports pitches should achieve a quality score of 55% and/or be rated as 
adequate quality’ by 2016 and of 64% to good quality by 2025 (all sites to meet a good 
quality standard)

Priority in the short term (given limited resources) should be directed to poor quality sites. 
This standard, based on an achievable target using existing quality scoring to provide a 
baseline, should be used to identify deficiencies and hence investment should be 
prioritised to those sites which fail to meet the proposed quality standard (using the site 
audit database, provided in electronic format). The policy approach to these outdoor 
recreation facilities achieving these standards should be to enhance quality and therefore 
the planning system should seek to protect them. 

OBJECTIVE 2
To address issues of accessibility, quality and management with regard to facility 
provision

f. Adopt a Borough wide quality standard.

g. Adopted a tiered approach to the management and improvement of facilities 
which allows for facility developments to be programmed within a phased 
approach including ancillary facilities such as changing accommodation and car 
parking.

h. Invest in key strategic multi-pitch/sport sites.

i. Projects should seek to improve pitch/surface quality as a priority.

j. Prepare funding packages as appropriate to secure improvements to key 
strategic sites.

Page 66



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        33

Good quality refers to facilities that have, for example, good grass cover, an even 
surface, are free from vandalism, litter etc, have access for disabled people and are 
supported by good quality ancillary facilities including changing accommodation, toilets 
and car parking. While “adequate” quality refers to facilities that have, for example 
adequate grass cover, minimal signs of wear and tear, reasonable changing 
accommodation and the goalposts may be secure but in need of minor repair. Please 
refer to the Sport England quality assessments.

Management objective (g) – Adopt a tiered approach to the management and 
improvement of facilities which allows for facility developments to be programmed 
within a phased approach including ancillary facilities such as changing 
accommodation and car parking

Swale has a small number of ‘key centres’, which are sites which are considered to be 
the most popular and therefore need to be of a high standard in order that they can 
accommodate a sufficient number of matches per week. This applies mainly to football 
pitch hire. However, the Council should extend this provision model to recognise the 
supply and demand issues identified throughout the Assessment Report (i.e. current 
levels of overplay) and the investment necessary to improve sites based on current levels 
of usage. The identification of sites is based on their strategic importance in a Borough-
wide context (i.e., they accommodate the majority of play). In addition to this, there are a 
number of sites which have been identified as accommodating both senior and junior 
matches, sometimes concurrently. Not only could such sites require a mixture of mini, 
junior and senior pitches, but they also require split-level ancillary facilities, in order to 
maximise their usage at all times. 

In the context of developing a tiered model approach to the management of sports 
facilities, Swale has a number of multi-team junior clubs which place a great demand on 
the pitch stock i.e., Sittingbourne Lions Junior FC. Therefore, there are a number of sites 
which are still owned and maintained by the local authority, but are actually booked by the 
clubs for the entire season. The sites are then recognised as the ‘home ground’ of the 
club. Such sites are fundamentally different from those which can be hired on a regular 
basis because they are, in effect, ‘allocated’ to a certain club and management 
responsibility, in terms of allocating teams to pitches, is transferred to the individual club. 

Page 67



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        34

Table 4.3: Proposed tiered site criteria 

Strategic site Key Centres Club/Education 
Sites 

Strategic Reserve Sites

Strategically placed 
in the Borough. 

Strategically placed 
in the local authority 
context.

Strategically placed in 
the local context.

Strategically placed in the 
local context.

Accommodates five 
or more pitches.

Accommodates 
three or more 
pitches.

Accommodates more 
than one pitch.

Likely to be single-pitch 
site with limited demand.

Single or multi sport 
provision.

Single or multi sport 
provision.

Single or multi sport 
provision.

Supports informal 
demand and/ or training 
etc.

Management control 
remains within the 
local authority/other 
provider or with an 
appropriate lease 
arrangement 
through a committee 
or education owned

Management control 
remains within the 
local authority or 
with an appropriate 
club on a lease 
arrangement.

Club either has long-
term lease/hires the 
pitch for the entire 
season or owns the 
site.
Management control 
remains within the 
local authority/other 
provider or with an 
appropriate lease 
arrangement through 
a committee or 
education owned

Management control 
remains with the Council 
or existing management 
body.

Special maintenance 
in conjunction with 
NGBs.

Special maintenance 
in conjunction with 
NGBs.

Maintenance can be 
either by the club or 
remain with the local 
authority.

Maintenance should 
remain with the local 
authority or existing 
management body.

Good quality 
ancillary facility on 
site, with sufficient 
changing rooms and 
car parking to serve 
the number of 
pitches.

Good quality 
ancillary facility on 
site, with sufficient 
changing rooms and 
car parking to serve 
the number of 
pitches.

Appropriate access 
changing to 
accommodate both 
senior and junior use 
concurrently (if 
required).

Appropriate access 
changing to 
accommodate as 
required.

Strategic sites such as Sittingbourne Community Sports Centre, King Georges Playing 
Field (The Mount) and King Georges Playing Field (Queenborough) will seek to 
accommodate the growing emphasis on multi sports venues. Provision should be 
promoted as centres of excellence for outdoor sports.  Ideally there should be one sports 
hub in each area (Faversham, Sheppey and Sittingbourne) and each should 
accommodate, as a minimum, for junior/mini football, cricket, rugby and hockey i.e., 
AGPs. 

Funding for these sites will, most often, require multi-funding packages. The Borough 
Council should seek to invest in capital projects where multi-partner involvement adds 
substantially to the value for money obtained by the Borough. A move towards sports 
hubs may need to support the rationalisation of low value pitch sites.

Page 68



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        35

It is considered that some financial investment will be necessary to improve the ancillary 
facilities at Sport Hub sites to complement the pitches in terms of access, flexibility (i.e. 
single-sex changing if necessary), quality and that they meet the rules and regulations of 
local competitions. They should be designated as high priority for investment. 

Key Centres such as Woodstock Park, Kemsley Recreation Ground and Festival Playing 
Fields already seek to accommodate the growing emphasis on football venues catering 
for both senior and junior (especially mini-soccer) matches. The conditions recommended 
for junior football are becoming more stringent. This should be reflected in the provision of 
a unique tier of pitches for junior football solely that can ensure player safety, as well as 
being maintained more efficiently. It is anticipated that both junior and mini-football 
matches could be played on these sites and would be an appropriate site to 
accommodate 9v9 pitches. Initial investment could be required in the short term and has 
been identified in the Action Plan. 

Additionally, it is considered that some financial investment will be necessary to improve 
the ancillary facilities at both Strategic sites and Key Centre sites to complement the 
pitches in terms of access, flexibility (i.e. single-sex changing if necessary), quality and 
that they meet the rules and regulations of local competitions. They should be designated 
as medium priority for investment. 

Club/Education Sites such as Sharsted Sports Club and Rodmersham Cricket Club  
refer to those sites which are hired to clubs for a season, or are sites which have been 
leased on a long-term basis and are primarily two pitch sites. The level of priority attached 
to them for Council-generated investment is relatively low and consideration should be 
given, on a site-by-site basis, to the feasibility of a club taking a long-term lease on the 
site, in order that external funding can be sought. It is possible that sites could be 
included in this tier which are not currently hired or leased to a club, but have the potential 
to be leased to a suitable club. Such sites will require some level of investment, either to 
the pitches or ancillary facilities, and is it anticipated that one of the conditions of offering 
a hire/lease is that the club would be in a position to source external funding to improve 
the facilities.

Strategic Reserve Sites such as Bull Lane Recreation Ground and Rectory Playing 
Fields could be used for summer matches/competitions, training or informal play. They 
could be single-pitch sites with limited usage, or have no recognised current usage. 

Management objective (h) – Invest in key strategic multi-pitch/sport sites 

Consultation highlighted a number of important key sites in Swale. These pitch sites are 
considered to be the most popular. They need to be high quality in order that they can 
accommodate a sufficient number of matches per week – ideally to servicing a range of 
sports. 

The creation of key strategic sites is based on strategic importance in a Borough-wide 
context (i.e. or where they accommodate the majority of play). We therefore recommend 
that the following sites be developed as such: 

 Sittingbourne Community Sports Centre.
 King Georges Playing Field (The Mount). 
 King Georges Playing Field (Queenborough).

Page 69



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        36

The financial, social and sporting benefits which can be achieved through development of 
hub sites are significant. Sport England provides further guidance on the development of 
community sports hubs at:

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities__planning/planning_tools_and_guidance/sports_hu
bs.aspx

Due to local authority budget constraints, it is clear that, across the life of this strategy, 
not all of those sites currently without changing facilities can be upgraded to have suitable 
changing facilities. Furthermore in some locations the provision of changing 
accommodation is not economic or efficient. It is therefore important to prioritise those 
sites which are being developed as hub sites.

Management objective (i) – Projects should seek to improve pitch/surface quality 
as a priority 

It is vital that local clubs and organisations have access to the best facilities possible, 
both to accommodate current levels of participation and to stimulate new activity. These 
facilities must meet the minimum specification requirements set out by governing bodies 
of sport, leagues/competitions as well as (as far as possible) meet the aspirations of 
sports clubs in Swale.

In order to improve the overall quality of the playing pitch stock, it is necessary to ensure 
that pitches are not overplayed beyond recommended weekly carrying capacity (Sport 
England suggests that a good pitch can accommodate two matches per week). This is 
determined by assessing pitch quality and allocating a weekly match limit to each. 

Sites played beyond capacity may require remedial action to help reduce this, for 
example, overplay at seven sites in the Borough is attributed to ‘adequate’ or ‘poor’ pitch 
quality:

 Leysdown Coastal Park (The Fortress).
 Sittingbourne Recreation Ground. 
 Festival Playing Field. 
 King Georges Playing Field (The Mount).
 Bourne Park.

Improving pitch quality should not be considered in isolation from maintenance regimes.

Projects should seek to improve pitch/surface quality as a priority on sites based on 
usage, users and site facilities. Whilst it works both ways in so much as poor pitch 
condition is a symptom of pitches being played overcapacity, potential improvements may 
make sites more attractive and therefore more popular. 

Seven sites are recorded as being overplayed. These sites are overplayed due to the 
large number of fixtures being played on the same day of the week. Play on these sites 
should be directed to sites which either have spare capacity or no community use. 

Page 70

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities__planning/planning_tools_and_guidance/sports_hubs.aspx
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities__planning/planning_tools_and_guidance/sports_hubs.aspx


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        37

Management objective (j) – Prepare funding packages as appropriate to secure 
improvements to key strategic sites 

Partners, led by the Council, should ensure that appropriate funding secured for improved 
sports provision are directed to areas of need, underpinned by a robust strategy for 
improvement in playing pitch facilities. 

There may be opportunities within the Borough, to secure planning contributions (both 
proposed and outstanding Section 106 Agreements) to ensure that future provision is 
sustainable.

Please refer to Appendix One for further funding information which includes details of the 
current opportunities, likely funding requirements and indicative project costs.  

Management objective (k) – Establish a more coherent, structured relationship with 
schools to maximise community use of educational facilities

Colleges, secondary schools, and indeed primary schools where the facilities exist, have 
an important role in a playing pitch strategy. It is not uncommon for school pitch stock not 
to be fully maximised for community use. Even on established community use sites, 
access to outdoor sports facilities to the community is limited. The Assessment Report 
identified several issues relating to the use of school facilities:

 Community use is limited and often based on informal agreements between 
individual schools and clubs. 

 There is no strategic guidance as to which clubs are allocated the use of playing 
pitch facilities (i.e. in accordance with a strategic need). 

 There are management issues inherent in developing, implementing and managing 
community use agreements. Advice and guidance can be obtained from Sport 
England’s Planning Bulletin 16 – School Sites and Community Provision (2004).
(www.sportengland.org/planningkitbag).

Where appropriate, it will be important for schools to negotiate and sign formal and long-
term agreements that secure community use. This needs to be examined against these 
issues:

OBJECTIVE 3
To maximise access to all outdoor facilities and in particular educational facilities

k. Establish a more coherent, structured relationship with schools to maximise 
community use of educational facilities.

l. Secure tenure and access to sites for high quality, development minded clubs 
through lease arrangements.

m. Create centralised booking services for playing pitches and sports grounds to 
ensure easy access on pitch availability for local teams, and to aid general 
promotion of sport and one-stop marketing of provision. 

Page 71

http://www.sportengland.org/planningkitbag


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        38

 The analysis provides a clear indication of the future pitch requirements and provides 
a basis for partners to negotiate.

 Community use should not impact on the needs of schools to deliver curricular and 
extracurricular activities 

It is recommended that a working group led by a partner from the education sector but 
supported by a range of other sectors including sport and leisure is established to 
implement the strategic direction in relation to the increased use of school facilities. 
Broadly speaking, its role should be to:

 To better understand current community use, practices and issues by ‘auditing’ 
schools.

 Identify and pilot one school/club formal community use agreement with a view to 
rolling out the model across the area.

 Ensure that funding to improve the quality of the facilities is identified and secured.
 As part of any agreement secure a management arrangement for community access, 

which does not rely on existing school staff structures.
 Ensure that pitch provision at schools is sufficient in quality and quantity to be able to 

deliver its curriculum. Once this has been achieved provision could contribute to 
overcoming deficiencies in the area (as identified in the assessment above).

Management objective (l) - Secure tenure and access to sites for high quality 
development minded clubs through lease arrangements

As well as improving the quality of well-used, local authority sites, there are a number of 
sites which have poor quality (or no) ancillary facilities. Such sites are therefore 
considered the ‘home ground’ of the club, despite not always having a long-term lease. It 
is recommended that security of tenure should be granted to the clubs playing on these 
sites (minimum 10 years) so the clubs are in a position to apply for external funding to 
improve the ancillary facilities. 

There is potential for a number of sites in Swale to be leased to sports clubs and/or 
organisations. Each club will be required to meet service and/or strategic objectives set 
out by the Council. However, an additional set of criteria should be considered, which 
take into account the quality of the club, aligned to its long term development objectives 
and sustainability. 

In the context of the Comprehensive Spending Review, which announced public spending 
cuts, it is increasingly important for the Council to work with voluntary sector 
organisations in order that they may be able to take greater levels of ownership and 
support the wider development and maintenance of facilities. To facilitate this, the Council 
should support and enable clubs to generate sufficient funds to allow this.

Page 72



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        39

Table 4.2: Recommended criteria for lease of sport sites to clubs/organisations

Club Site
 Clubs should have Clubmark/FA Charter 

Standard accreditation award.
 Clubs commit to meeting demonstrable 

local demand and show pro-active 
commitment to developing school-club 
links.

 Clubs are sustainable, both in a financial 
sense and via their internal management 
structures in relation to recruitment and 
retention policy for both players and 
volunteers.

 Ideally, clubs should have already 
identified (and received an agreement in 
principle) any match funding required for 
initial capital investment identified.

 Clubs have processes in place to ensure 
capacity to maintain sites to the existing 
standards.

 Sites should be those identified as Club 
Sites for new clubs (i.e. not those with a 
Borough-wide significance) but which offer 
development potential. For established 
clubs which have proven success in terms 
of self-management Borough Sites and 
Key Centres are appropriate.

 As a priority, sites should require capital 
investment to improve (which can be 
attributed to the presence of a 
Clubmark/Charter Standard club).

 Sites should be leased with the intention 
that investment can be sourced to 
contribute towards improvement of the 
site.

 An NGB/Council representative should sit 
on a management committee for each site 
leased to a club.

The Council can further recognise the value of Clubmark/Charter Standard by adopting a 
policy of prioritising the clubs that are to have access to these better quality facilities. This 
may be achieved by inviting clubs to apply for season long leases on a particular site as 
an initial trial. 

Club outcomes for lease agreements

The Council should establish a series of core outcomes to derive from clubs taking on a 
lease arrangement to ensure that the most appropriate clubs are assigned to sites. As an 
example outcomes may include:

 Increasing participation. 
 Supporting the development of coaches and volunteers.
 Commitment to quality standards.
 Improvements (where required) to facilities, or as a minimum retaining existing 

standards.

Management objective (m) – Create a centralised booking service to provide a user 
friendly booking system helping the clubs/public to access and use playing pitches

A centralised management system should be implemented which assumes overall   
management of pitch bookings through a one stop booking service for users. This should 
include secondary school sites and should be centrally managed. Adequate promotion 
and marketing attached to this will ensure that users are aware of the availability, location 
and cost of provision. 

Page 73



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        40

Management objective (n) – Support high levels participation at clubs which 
contribute to the achievement of sports development objectives

It is important that sports development objectives, to some extent, dictate and are 
embedded within the outcomes of the Strategy. To this end, the following objectives are 
suggested for use to monitor and evaluate the future sustainability, and relative success, 
of facility projects which are identified and supported:

 Increasing participation
 Raising standards
 Workforce development
 Improving facilities

Management objective (o) - Work with local clubs which have achieved quality 
accreditation to, where relevant, identify and secure facility improvements, 
appropriate sites for new facility development and funding opportunities

The Council should adopt a policy/charter which supports quality-accredited clubs 
(http://www.clubmark.org.uk/files/images/clubmark-charter-large.gif). The Clubmark/FA 
Charter Standard and the local Club Registration Scheme help clubs to achieve their own 
aims and ambitions and to support the complementary objectives and targets of partners 
in local authorities, schools/school sport partnerships and other community agencies. 

Support to accredited clubs may include offering discounted facility hire and priority 
bookings slots as well as assembling bespoke benefits packages incorporating free or 
reduced cost access to courses. The adoption of a charter as policy also benefits 
partners:

 Grow: Research suggests that Clubmark clubs are better equipped to drive and 
manage increased levels of participation; particularly, but not solely, for young 
people.  

 Meeting targets: Having Clubmark clubs to work with will assist local authorities to 
achieve targets for youth participation and school-club links.  

OBJECTIVE 4
To support the development of local leagues and clubs to meet their needs within 
Swale 

n. Support high levels of participation at clubs which contribute to the achievement of 
sports development objectives.

o. Work with local clubs which have achieved quality accreditation to, where relevant, 
identify and secure facility improvements, appropriate sites for new facility 
development and funding opportunities.

p. Support local clubs to demonstrate sustainability.

q. Adopt a Community Asset Transfer Policy. 

Page 74

http://www.clubmark.org.uk/files/images/clubmark-charter-large.gif


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

        41

 Parental confidence: Being seen to actively address issues such as equity and child 
protection gives parents confidence when considering or choosing a club for their 
children - thus helping to boost introductory participation.  

 Sustaining participation levels: Clubmark stimulates innovation and improvements 
to how clubs cater for junior (and all) members. The culture it promotes boosts the 
morale of players and ensures that volunteers are recognised for their contribution.  

 Continuous improvement: Accreditation encourages clubs to adopt better, more 
organised systems and structures, helping them to run more effectively and 
efficiently. 

 Coaches and coaching: Research suggests Clubmark clubs both deploy more, and 
work harder to develop the skills of, coaches. This leads to better quality provision 
and improved player performance.  

 School-club links: Increasingly, schools are seeking guarantees of quality and the 
presence of child-friendly systems and procedures. Clubmark clubs are the first 
invited to work with local school sport partnerships and individual schools. Teachers 
and schools staff are actively encouraged to signpost pupils to them.

Management objective (p) – Support local clubs to demonstrate sustainability 

Local sports clubs should be supported to achieve sustainability across a range of areas 
including management, membership, funding, facilities, volunteers and partnership 
working. For example, the Council should continue to support club development and 
encourage clubs to develop evidence of business and sports development plans to 
generate an income through their facilities. All clubs could be encouraged to look at 
different management models such as registering as Community Amateur Sports Clubs 
(CASC)3. Clubs should also be encouraged to work with partners locally whether 
volunteer support agencies of linking with local businesses.

Management objective (q) – Promote a Community Asset Transfer Policy 

The Council should promote a policy, which supports community management and 
ownership of assets to local clubs, community groups and trusts. This presents sports 
clubs and national governing bodies with opportunities to take ownership of their own 
facilities; it may also provide non-asset owning sports clubs with their first chance to take 
on a building. 

The Community Sport Asset Transfer Toolkit offered by Sport England is a bespoke, 
interactive web based tool that provides a step-by-step guide through each stage of the 
asset transfer process.
http://www.sportengland.org/support__advice/asset_transfer.aspx

3 http://www.cascinfo.co.uk/cascbenefits

Page 75

http://www.sportengland.org/support__advice/asset_transfer.aspx


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

42

4.1: Sport specific objectives 

Sports development objectives should also guide delivery of sports specific objectives 
and should be read within the context of the summary findings identified by the 
Assessment Report and in section 2 of this Playing Pitch Strategy.

 Improve the quality and capacity of existing football pitch stock.
 Work with clubs to ensure that sites are not played beyond their capacity and 

encourage play, where possible, to be transferred to alternative venues which are not 
operating at capacity or are not currently available for community use. 

 Meet likely future deficiencies in mini pitches (5v5 and 7v7) by utilising senior pitches 
in areas of oversupply and marking out more pitches where land is available on 
existing sites. However, also ensure that some senior pitches are retained for 
strategic reserve and to accommodate latent demand.

 Where appropriate, develop lease arrangements with large, sustainable, 
development-minded (i.e. Charter Standard) clubs to manage their own ‘home’ sites 
thus facilitating club development (as detailed in the management objectives). 

 As far as possible, support clubs with facility development aspirations through the 
planning and application stages. 

 Increase the quality and standard of changing rooms to accommodate segregated 
changing for women’s and girls’ football.  

 Work to maximise access to school sites to address the shortfall of junior/mini pitches 
and ensure site security and access to changing facilities is enhanced.

 Ensure the Borough remains reactive to demands following the new FA pitch sizes 
and dimensions introduced in 2013/14. A minimum of 15 (to meet current demand) 
9v9 pitches (two in Faversham, five in Sheppey and eight in Sittingbourne) should be 
provided4. Consider either re-marking senior pitches as 9v9 pitches or additional 9v9 
line markings (therefore providing dual use senior and 9v9 pitches) to accommodate 
this new format of football5. 

4 Figures are based on the number of junior football teams playing in Swale in season 11/12. 
5 Any new pitch development should take into consideration the 9v9 pitch requirements

FOOTBALL OBJECTIVE
Meet identified deficiencies in junior and mini football provision and ensure there is a 
range of football facilities across the Borough to service all levels of the game. 

Page 76



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

43

 Protect current levels of provision and seek to increase the quality of cricket pitches 
(artificial or grass) where necessary. 

 Encourage play, where possible, to be transferred to alternative sites which are not 
operating at capacity or are not currently available for community use. 

 Support clubs to gain access to second home grounds to meet latent demand 
expressed i.e., Upchurch CC.

 Support clubs to develop their ancillary facilities to further meet local needs. 
 Ensure that any facilities developed support opportunities for senior women’s and 

junior girl’s competitive cricket.
 Encourage and support development of junior girls’ and women’s cricket. 
 Support clubs to develop and improve practice facilities. 
 Investment should be primarily be targeted and directed to ECB focus clubs which 

support high levels of participation and have also the ECB Clubmark criteria. 

 Protect current levels of provision and work to alleviate pressure on competitive 
grass pitches to help accommodate future anticipated growth.  

 Ensure clubs have access to, where required, designated grass floodlit training 
facilities (on club sites). 

 Support development of at least one IRB standard AGP for rugby. This will also help 
to reduce levels of overplay on existing grass pitches and allow pitches to rest when 
not in use.

 Encourage and support further development of school rugby union.

 Work with England Hockey (EH) to support its development programmes aimed at 
increasing participation.

 Maximise the availability of AGPs in Swale to accommodate both hockey training and 
competitive play.

 Work to ensure that plans are in place to maintain AGP quality in the long term. 
 Work to make quality improvements to AGPs to address current issues.
 Meet likely future deficiencies in AGP provision by investigating additional suitable 

(sand filled) AGP provision in particular in Faversham and Sheppey

CRICKET OBJECTIVE
Maintain current provision levels and quality but work to increase access to single team 
club pitches for those clubs expressing demand. 

RUGBY UNION OBJECTIVE
Work towards meeting identified current and future deficiencies and increase quality as 
required.

HOCKEY OBJECTIVE
Maintain current levels of provision.

Page 77



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

44

 Secure existing community use through implementation of formal community use 
agreements where they are not currently in existence in order to provide sustainable 
community access.

 Ensure appropriate access to changing provision on school sites to support 
community use of their playing fields.

 Work with schools where there is no community use to open up sites (pitches and 
changing facilities) to help address the deficiencies is identified in football, rugby and 
cricket. 

EDUCATION OBJECTIVE
Work with schools to encourage greater community use, particularly for junior sports at 
appropriate sites.

Page 78



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

45

PART 5: ACTION PLAN

5.1: Introduction

The Action Plan seeks to address the surpluses and deficiencies identified in the Playing 
Pitch Model together with key issues emerging from the Assessment Report. This should 
be used to prioritise investment and spend developer contributions (where secured). 

The actions listed below will help to achieve the aims of increasing levels of physical 
activity, improving health and wellbeing and transforming sport. They are a set of proposals 
developed by KKP that SBC will review in the light of existing staff and financial resources 
in order to prioritise support for strategically significant provision and provision that other 
providers are less likely to make to.

5.2: Justification of sites within the action plan

The Action Plan details policy options relating to individual sites and the need to enhance 
and develop new sporting provision. The following criteria has been used to identify 
priorities and justify the inclusion of sites within the Action Plan. Just one of the following 
may apply: 

 A project is currently underway to enhance the existing site and/or funding has been 
secured.

 An evaluation of site use is required as it is of poor quality and is reportedly underused.  
 The desired action is small scale, short term and will enhance the quality of current 

provision, whilst aiding community use. 
 The importance of the site is identified in other strategies. 

5.3: Management and development

The following issues should be considered when undertaking sports related site 
development or enhancement:

 Financial viability.
 Security of tenure.
 Planning permission requirements and any foreseen difficulties in securing permission.
 Adequacy of existing finances to maintain existing sites.
 Business Plan/Masterplan – including financial package for creation of new provision 

where need has been identified. 
 Analysis of the possibility of shared site management opportunities.
 The availability of opportunities to lease sites to external organisations.
 Options to assist community groups to gain funding to enhance existing provision. 
 Negotiation with landowners to increase access to private strategic sites. 

The following tables set out a series of recommended actions relating to sport and site 
specific issues within Swale. 

Page 79



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

46

Management Objectives Action Plan and Area by area specific action plan

The Action Plans have been created to be delivered over a ten-year period. The information 
within the Assessment Report, Strategy and Action Plan will require updating as 
developments occur. It is not feasible to include all sites with identified development issues. 
Only sites, which meet the criteria listed above, have, therefore, been included. 

Timescales: (S) -Short (1-2 years); (M) - Medium (3-5 years); (L) - Long (6+ years). 

Page 80



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

47

5.4: Management Objectives Action Plan

Objective Recommended Actions Lead organisation
(Key stakeholders)

Outcome Timescales

1.4. Establish and enable cross-
departmental working to 
annually review and refresh a 
playing pitch database taking 
into account improvements in 
pitch quality and capacity. (A 
database could be managed 
online an example include s 
www.playingpitch.com)

SBC  - Sport development, 
Planning, Grounds 
maintenance, Pubic Health 
(FA, EH, ECB, RFU)
(

The creation and 
maintenance of a 
relevant and current 
sport facility database to 
inform sport, planning 
and housing plans is in 
place

Short (continuously 
maintained and updated with 
a thorough annual review)

1.5. Rectify identified shortfalls and 
improvements to the current 
pitch stock in line with the site 
specific action plan

See site and sub-area 
specific action plan

Swale playing pitch 
provision successfully 
accommodates current 
and future demand up 
to 2025

See site and sub-area 
specific action plan – 10 
years

1. Address quantitative 
deficiencies to meet 
existing unmet demand 
and plan for new 
provision (as and where 
required)

1.6. Establish an approach to 
secure developer contributions 
to include provision and/or 
enhancement of appropriate 
outdoor playing fields and 
sports grounds/courts.

SBC Developer contributions 
have been sourced and 
secured to successfully 
support site-specific 
development 
highlighted in the site-
specific action plan.

Short (to establish an 
approach with developers)

Medium (for the 
implementation of 
contributions)

2.1. Adopt a borough wide quality 
standard for outdoor sports 
pitches.

SBC – (FA, EH, ECB, RFU, 
community sports clubs, 
schools, colleges, and 
privately owned sites)

All outdoor sports 
pitches to achieve a 
quality score of 55% 
and or be rated as 
adequate quality by 
2016 and of 64% to 
good quality by 2025

Short (2016 target)

Long (2025 target)

2. Address issues of 
accessibility, quality and 
management with regard 
to facility provision

2.2. Adopt a tiered approach to the 
management and improvement of 

SBC (FA, EH, RFU, ECB, 
Schools, Colleges)

SBC is able to 
effectively focus and 

Medium

P
age 81



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

48

facilities by identifying and 
categorising sites as: Strategic 
Sites, Key Sites, Club/Education 
Sites and Strategic Reserve Sites

prioritise the future 
management and 
improvement of facilities 
throughout Swale via a 
tiered site criteria.

2.3. Invest in key strategic multi-
pitch/sport sites with an identified 
mutli-sport hub located in each 
sub-area as follows:

- Sittingbourne – 
Sittingbourne Community 
Sport Centre.

- Faversham – King 
Georges Playing field (The 
Mount)

- Sheppey – King Georges 
Playing Field 
(Queensborough)

SBC (Fa, EH, RFU, ECB) Multi-sport hubs are of 
high quality and are 
able to accommodate a 
sufficient number of 
matches per week 
servicing a wide range 
of sports. 

Medium

3.1. Establish a more coherent, 
structured relationship with schools 
to maximise community use of 
educational sites via the creation 
of a working group existing of key 
education and community 
stakeholders to identify and 
address barriers to access, 
management and provision of 
school facilities and pitches

SBC (Secondary heads, 
Primary Heads, School 
Games Organiser, Kent 
Sport, Youth Sport Trust, 
FA, RFU, ECB, EH)

84 pitches that exist 
within school sites 
across Swale are 
available for community 
provision and in use.

Immediately (establish 
working group)

Medium (The 42 school 
pitches identified as being 
available for community use 
are being used)

Long (84 pitches available 
for community use)

3. Maximise access to 
all outdoor facilities and 
in particular educational 
facilities.

3.2. Secure tenure and access to 
sites for high quality development 
minded clubs through lease 
agreements (minimum 10 years). 
These clubs will be required to 
meet SBC strategic objectives and 
targets for sport development to 
include:

SBC (key local 
clubs/organisations  - see 
site specific action plan)

Key clubs in the 
borough have security 
of tenure for their 
sites/facilities enabling 
them to apply for 
external funding to 
improve quality and 
provision of the pitch 

Medium

P
age 82



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

49

- Increasing participation
- Workforce development
- Commitment to quality standards
- Improvements to facilities, or 
retaining existing standards.

and ancillary facilities.

4.1. Support formal and informal 
participation programmes at clubs, 
which contribute to the 
achievement of SBC sport 
development objectives and the 
Swale Sport and Physical Activity 
Framework 2012 – 2017 ‘Move 
Ourselves’.

SBC – Sport development 
(FA, EH, ECB, RFU, Kent 
Sport)

Clubs in the borough 
are successfully 
delivering community 
participation projects 
and programmes, which 
in turn is growing their 
senior, junior and mini 
teams and club 
membership.

Short4. To support the 
development of local 
leagues and clubs to 
meet their needs within 
Swale 

4.2. Promote a Community Asset 
Transfer Policy, which supports 
community management and 
ownership of assets to local clubs, 
community groups and trusts.

SE (Sport England)
SBC (Swale Borough 
Council)

Sports clubs and 
National Governing 
Bodies are able to 
successfully take 
ownership of their own 
facilities.

ShortP
age 83



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

50

5.5: Area by area specific action plan

Faversham  
Site Sport KKP 

map 
ref

Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Site comprises three senior 
football and one senior rugby 
pitch. 
Consultation suggests there is not 
enough changing provision at 
peak times to cater for all users of 
the site (football and rugby users). 
In addition, users report the 
quality of the changing provision 
is poor and in need of 
refurbishment. 

Work with the FA, RFU and Kent Sport 
County Sport Partnership (CSP) to 
explore funding opportunities to 
enhance and increase the changing 
provision to ensure there is sufficient 
access at peak times. 

SBC
(FA, RFU, 

Kent Sport)

M

Tree branches over hang one 
touchline. 

Remove the tree branches to further 
increase the pitch quality. 

SBC S

Faversham 
Recreation 
Ground 

Football 
& Rugby

9 Swale 
Borough 
Council 

Rugby pitch is slightly overplayed 
by one match each week. 

Transfer a proportion of the play to 
nearby site Queen Elizabeth Grammar 
School or the Abbey School both of 
which would require further discussion 
and development regarding making the 
school pitches available for community 
use. 

SBC 
(Queens 

School, The 
Abbey 

School)

S

Salters Lane Football 33 Owned by 
Swale 

Borough 
Council and 

leased to 
Faversham 
Town FC

Faversham Town FC has on-
going plans to improve the main 
and second pitch. The changing 
rooms are dated and in need of 
refurbishment. Its long-term 
aspiration is to replace its 
clubhouse facility. 

Work with the Club, with support from 
the FA, Kent Sport and Sport England 
to identify funding opportunities and 
planning guidance to provide a 
clubhouse facility with modern 
changing rooms and pitch 
improvement works. 

SBC 
(FA, Kent 

Sport, Sport 
England)

M

P
age 84



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

51

Site Sport KKP 
map 
ref

Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Furthermore, it is on-going 
discussions with the Duchy of 
Cornwall to acquire farmland 
which could potentially be 
converted into football pitches. 
However, external funding would 
be required for this development.

1. Support the Club with its 
discussions to access farmland to 
develop additional football pitch 
provision. 

2. Once land has been acquired, 
support the Club to explore 
external funding opportunities for 
facility development plans to 
develop a second home ground. 

FTFC
(SBC, Duchy 
of Cornwall)

L

L

King Georges 
Playing Field (The 
Mount)

Football 20 Owned by 
Swale 

Borough 
Council and 

leased to 
Faversham 
Strike Force 

FC

The one senior, one junior and 2 
mini football pitches on the site 
are currently being played beyond 
capacity by the equivalent of 8 
matches per week, which is 
affecting the pitch quality as all 
pitches are of average quality.

Work with the club to identify 
alternative sites in Faversham that 
could accommodate additional play to 
help reduce overplay and improve 
pitch quality e.g. Bull Lane Recreation 
Ground (KKP Ref 3).

SFFC
(SBC, FA, 

Sport 
England, 

Kent Sport)

M

The Abbey 
School 

Football 
&

Hockey
& Rugby

44 Education The community use hours of the 
3G floodlit artificial grass pitch is 
limited. 
The AGP is not used by Hockey 
due to it being a 3G and not Sand 
filed.

The Rugby Pitch at the school 
contains one senior pitch is 
currently not available for 
community use.

Support the School to apply for an 
extension to the community use hours 
at weekend to satisfy local demand (as 
well as displaced demand from 
Faversham Ladies Hockey Club that 
play outside of the assessment area at 
Tower School, Hennington). Explore 
facility funding opportunities with EH 
and the school to identify if the AGP 
could be converted into a sand filled 
AGP to accommodate displaced 
demand from Faversham Ladies 
Hockey club and enhance Hockey 
participation in the area.

Abbey 
School
(SBC, 

England 
Hockey, 

RFU)

S

P
age 85



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

52

Site Sport KKP 
map 
ref

Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Work with the school to open up the 
Rugby pitches for community use.  The 
site could accommodate overplay from 
nearby Faversham RFC.

Macknade Cricket 
Club 

Cricket 23 Duchy of 
Cornwall 

The Club does not currently have 
a formal lease agreement in 
place. 

ECB to support the Club in securing 
greater security of tenure in the form of 
a long term lease. 

ECB
(SBC)

S

Queen Elizabeth 
School 

Rugby & 
Cricket

28 Education The cricket and rugby pitches are 
not currently available for 
community use. 
In addition, the cricket pitch is 
identified as poor quality. 

1. Work with the School to open up 
the cricket and rugby pitches for 
community use. The site could 
accommodate overplay from 
nearby site and Faversham RFC.  

2. Potential site for school club link 
with Bapchild Cricket Club. 
Investigate further with ECB 
requirement for pitch 
improvements/relocation.

ECB/RFU
(SBC, 

School)

S

M

Bapchild Cricket 
Club 

Cricket 1 Rented from 
Doubleday 

Farm 

The cricket pitch is overplayed 
during the cricket season. 

Work with the Club and ECB to identify 
alternative sites in the Faversham that 
could accommodate a proportion of its 
play. For example, Queen Elizabeth 
School (listed above) has a cricket 
pitch which currently has no 
community use.

ECB 
(SBC, Club)

S

The cricket pavilion is a wooden 
shack and is need of renovation.  

In partnership with the ECB, support 
the Club to identify funding 
opportunities to upgrade the facility.

SBC
(ECB, Club)

MDavington Priory Cricket 8 Swale 
Borough 
Council 

Davington Priority CC considers 
the pitch is undersized. It also 
reports regular evidence of dog 

Liaise with the Council's Dog 
Warden to ensure the site can be 
monitored and laws enforced if 

SBC S

P
age 86



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

53

Site Sport KKP 
map 
ref

Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

fouling/stones/litter. required.

Sharsted Sports 
Club 

Cricket 61 Private There is a dilapidated artificial 
wicket on the site. 

In partnership with the ECB, support 
the Club to identify funding 
opportunities to replace the artificial 
wicket. 

ECB
(SBC)

M

Bull Lane 
Recreation 
Ground 

Football 3 Swale 
Borough 
Council 

No community use at present. Work with The FA to explore potential 
opportunities for clubs in the Borough 
to access the pitches for training or 
other types of usage i.e. tournaments 
etc. 

SBC
(FA)

S

P
age 87



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

54

Sheppey 

Site Sport KKP 
ref

Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Co-op Sports and 
Social Club 

Football 5 Private Minimum spare junior football 
capacity of one match in the 
peak period (Saturday AM).

Explore options to transfer some play 
from nearby overplayed Festival 
Playing Fields (KKP Ref 10). 

FA S

Festival Playing 
Fields 

Football 10 Swale 
Borough 
Council 

Poor quality football pitches. 
The junior football pitch is 
overplayed at peak time 
(Sunday AM). There is no 
recorded play on the mini 
pitches.

Continue with the transfer of 
the site to New Road Football 
Club on 125 year lease and 
support funding bids to 
improve the grounds.

Remark pitches and develop as a 9v9 
dedicated site, this should include 
improving the quality of the pitches. 
Transfer junior play to the Co-op 
Sports and Social Club (KKP Ref 5) to 
help improve quality and reduce 
overplay of pitches.

Support funding bids to the FA and 
other appropriate bodies.

SBC
(FA)

S

Gilbert Hall Cricket 13 Kent County 
Council 

Minster (Sheppey) CC is in 
discussion with Kent County 
Council to secure a long term 
lease of the site. 

Support the Club to secure a long term 
lease on the site. 

SBC S

Isle of Sheppey 
Academy 

Hockey 
& 

Football

54 Academy The 3G floodlit artificial grass 
pitch is approaching the end of 
its lifespan. It is likely that this 
will require resurfacing in the 
next couple of years. 

1. Work with The FA and England 
Hockey to identify the preferred 
surface (sand or 3G). 

2. Encourage the Academy to link 
with a local club (once preferred 
surface has been identified) and 
explore external funding 
opportunities to replace the 
surface. 

FA & EH
(SBC)

M

P
age 88



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

55

Site Sport KKP 
ref

Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Queenborough 
Primary and 
Nursery School 

Football 85 Education Good quality pitches. At 
present there is no community 
use.

Work with the School to look at options 
for opening up the facilities for use of 
the pitches. This could potentially 
accommodate latent demand for two 
junior and two mini teams expressed 
by Little Sharsted FC. 

SBC
(School, FA)

S

Seagar Road 
Sports Ground 

Football 35 Swale 
Borough 
Council

Range Rovers FC is in 
discussion with the local 
authority regarding completion 
of an asset transfer. 
Once secured, it has facility 
development plans which 
include converting two senior 
pitches into 9v9 pitches. It is 
also seeking to open up the 
site to wider community use. 

1. Work with the Club, with support 
from the FA to complete asset 
transfer. 

2. Ensure conversion of senior to 9v9. 
3. Work with the Club to explore 

potential opportunities for clubs in 
the Borough to access the pitches. 

SBC & 
Range 

Rovers FC
(FA)

S

M

M

Sheerness East 
FC 

Football 36 Private The Club is seeking to replace 
its dilapidated changing rooms. 
The pitches are overplayed to 
capacity at peak time. 
However, consultation 
suggests the pitches are of 
good quality and can sustain 
this level of play. 

Work with Sheerness East FC and The 
FA to identify external funding 
opportunities to improve the changing 
provision. 
Ensure that current levels of use and 
levels of maintenance are retained 
(and not increased) to ensure pitches 
remain ‘good’ quality.  

FA
(SBC)

M

S

Sheppey RFC Rugby 37 Sheppey RFC The Club reports at peak times 
(when the pitches are used by 
both genders) there is not 
enough changing to 
accommodate all teams. 

Work with the Club, with support from 
the RFU to explore funding 
opportunities and planning guidance to 
increase the changing provision. 

Club
(SBC, RFU, 
Kent Sport, 

Sport 
England, 
relevant 

Colleges and 

M

P
age 89



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

56

Site Sport KKP 
ref

Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Although there is an overall 
current and future surplus of 
pitches in Sheppey the mini 
pitches at the club are used to 
capacity at peak time (Sunday) 
and thus there is no surplus of 
mini rugby at peak time 
intervals.

Transition a proportion of the mini-
teams to alternative Rugby pitches in 
the borough e.g. Sittingbourne 
Community College (that would require 
discussions with the college for 
enhanced community access) or 
Fulston Manor school where the 
pitches are currently underused.  

Schools)

Sheppey Sports 
Club 

Football 38 Private Pitches are currently played to 
capacity.  Poor drainage at 
one end of the site. 
The changing rooms are dated 
although well maintained. 

Support the Club by exploring options 
for drainage works which will thus 
increase the overall pitch quality. 
Ensure that current levels of 
community use and levels of 
maintenance are retained (and not 
increased) to ensure pitches remain 
‘good’ quality.  

SBC
(FA)

M

S

Shurland Meadow Football 
& Cricket

39 Swale 
Borough 
Council

Changing provision is noted by 
users as being ‘poor’ quality. 

Work with users of the site (Range 
Rovers FC and Eastchurch CC) as 
well as the ECB and The FA to identify 
external funding opportunities to 
improve the changing provision. 

SBC
(FA, ECB, 
Kent Sport, 

Sport 
England)

M

Thistle Hill, 
Minster 

Football 105 Swale 
Borough 
Council 

The site is currently being 
constructed and delivered via 
a Section 106 agreement. The 
development includes a senior 
football pitch (with drainage 
and an irrigation system). 
Changing provision can be 
accessed from the adjacent 
village hall (new build). 

Work with The FA to explore potential 
opportunities for clubs in the Borough 
to access the pitches via a community 
use agreement.

SBC
(FA)

S

P
age 90



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

57

Site Sport KKP 
ref

Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Leysdown 
Coastal Park (The 
Fortress)

Football 22 The site accommodates one 
senior football pitch, which is 
poor quality and overplayed by 
1 match per week with the 
need to relocate these 
matches to an alternative 
pitch.

Complete the proposed lease 
for the site to the Club.

Work with the FA and the club to 
explore transferring all matches on the 
site to an alternative location in 
Sheppey to allow for the pitch to rest 
and improve quality e.g. Co-op sports 
and social club, Bull Lane recreation 
ground, Queenborough primary 
school, 

FA
(SBC, Club)

S

P
age 91



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

58

Sittingbourne 

Site Sport KKP ref Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Work with the School, with support 
from The FA regarding current pitch 
dimension sizes to ensure the pitches 
meet the requirements. 

FA
(SBC, 

School)

SFulston Manor 
School (Cromers 
Corner Playing 
Field)

Football
& Rugby

102 Education Football pitches are 
undersized and rated as 
‘average’ quality with some 
spare capacity at peak time 
(Sun AM) to accommodate 
additional play. 

There are two senior 
pitches located at the 
school that are of average 
quality but are underused.

Improve the quality of the pitches 
which will increase the carrying 
capacity and accommodate expressed 
latent demand by Faversham Town FC 
to accommodate an U16 team 
(equivalent of 1.5 senior pitches). 

FA
(SBC, 

School)

M

Sittingbourne 
Recreation 
Ground (also 
known as Albany 
Recreation 
Ground)

Football 41 Swale Borough 
Council 

1.5 matches overplay the 
football pitches each week 
due to poor quality (two 
senior pitches). 
The site is not serviced by 
changing accommodation 
although 
demand/requirement has 
been identified by the 
Sheppey Sunday Football 
League. 

In partnership with The FA, Sport 
England and Kent Sport, seek to 
identify funding opportunities and 
planning guidance for improvement to 
changing provision and pitch quality. 
Seek involvement of local clubs. 
Potential site for Sport England, 
Protecting Playing Fields Funding. 
Explore options to reduce play on site 
by transferring some play to local 
pitches with spare capacity or no 
community access e.g. Rectory 
Playing Fields, UK Paper Leisure Club, 
Sittingbourne Community Sports 
College, Iwade recreation ground.

SBC
(FA, Kent 

Sport, Sport 
England)

M

P
age 92



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

59

Site Sport KKP ref Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Kemsley 
Recreation 
Ground 

Football 18 Swale Borough 
Council 

No spare capacity at peak 
times.
Senior football pitch is 
assessed as ‘average’ 
quality. 
The site is not serviced by 
changing accommodation 
although demand has been 
identified by the Sheppey 
Sunday Football League. 

In partnership with The FA, seek to 
identify funding opportunities and 
planning guidance for improvement to 
changing provision and pitch quality. 
Seek involvement of local clubs. 
Potential site for Sport England, 
Protecting Playing Fields Funding. 

SBC
(FA, Sport 
England, 

Kent Sport)

M

Football Further investigate local demand to 
determine the need to retain pitches to 
accommodate junior (particularly 9v9 
and identifies latent demand) football. 

SBC
(FA)

Rectory Playing 
Fields 

30 Swale Borough 
Council 

No community use of the 
two junior football pitches 
which are assessed as 
‘poor’ quality. 

Note: Any mitigation for the loss of 
football provision at this site should 
seek contributions to improve the 
quality (which in turn will help to 
increase the capacity) of football 
provision at sites in the Borough i.e., 
Sittingbourne Recreation Ground etc. 

S

P
age 93



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

60

Site Sport KKP ref Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Milton Recreation 
Ground 

Football 24 Swale 
Borough 
Council 

Pitch is regarded as being 
‘poor’ quality with issues of 
dog foul and litter is 
highlighted.
The site has spare capacity 
to accommodate additional 
play at peak time (i.e. 
Sunday). 

To address the shortfall of junior 
pitches the Council should work with 
clubs in the area to establish the need 
for junior pitches and consider the 
conversion of two senior pitches to 
accommodate four 9v9 junior football 
pitches.6

SBC S

Spare football capacity of 
three matches in the peak 
period (Sunday AM). 

Retain spare capacity to accommodate 
future participation increases in the 
sport. 

FA
(College, 

SBC)

MSittingbourne 
Community 
College Sports 
Centre 

Football 
& 

Hockey

40 Education 

One of the football pitches 
is undersized. 
Users report there is 
demand for more regularly 
grass cutting particularly 
towards the end of the 
playing season.

Work with the College, with support 
from the FA to increase the pitch 
dimensions to ensure it is full size and 
meets the FA pitch dimensions. 
Explore options for increased 
maintenance (particularly grass 
cutting) towards the end of the playing 
season. 

FA
(College, 

SBC)

S

UK Paper Leisure 
Club 

Football 
&

Cricket

49 Private The site comprises six 
football pitches (four senior 
and two junior), one cricket 
pitch, five tennis courts (two 
macadam and three grass) 
and a bowling green. 
No community use 
identified. 

Any mitigation for the loss of sports 
provision at this site should seek 
contributions to improve the quality of 
other sports facilities in the Borough 
i.e., Milton Recreation Ground. 

SBC M

Woodstock Park Football 52 Sports Club Analysis of pitch capacity 
identifies the pitches have 

Spare capacity to be retained to 
sustain quality. 

Club
(FA)

S 

6 Requirement of 9v9 pitches in 2014 (estimated in Sittingbourne equates to six 9v9 pitches). 

P
age 94



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

61

Site Sport KKP ref Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

spare football capacity of 
0.5 match in the peak 
period (Sunday AM). 
Area of the site suffers from 
poor drainage. Trees 
located at one end of the 
pitch often means the 
pitches stay frozen. 

Work with the Club, with support from 
the FA to explore external funding 
opportunities to improve the drainage 
of the football pitches. 

FA
(Club, SBC)

S

Borden Grammar 
School 

Hockey 53 Education The sand filled floodlit 
artificial grass pitch is 
approaching the end of its 
lifespan. Old Bordenians 
Hockey Club has recently 
submitted a funding 
application to Sport 
England’s Inspired Facilities 
Fund to replace the AGP 
and is currently awaiting a 
decision. However, 
additional funding would be 
required to support this. 

1. Work with the Club and England 
Hockey to explore opportunities 
for additional external funding for 
this facility development. 

2. Support the Grammar School with 
planning guidance through its 
facility developments.

England 
Hockey

(SBC, Sport 
England, 

Kent Sport)

S

Holywell Meadow Cricket 16 & 57 Upchurch CC Home ground to Upchurch 
CC the pitches (two) are 
overplayed due to the large 
number of teams playing at 
the site. 

Work with the Club and ECB to identify 
sites in the Sittingbourne area that 
have either spare capacity/no 
community use to accommodate a 
proportion of its play such as 
Westland’s School (see below).

ECB
(SBC)

S

Westland’s 
School 

Cricket 
& 

Hockey

65 Education No community use of the 
cricket pitch. 

Gore Court Hockey club 

1. Work with the School to ensure 
there us community use of its 
cricket pitch. This could potentially 
help to accommodate play from 
nearby sites that are overplayed 

SBC
(ECB, EH 
School, 
College)

S 

P
age 95



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

62

Site Sport KKP ref Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

currently play on the Sand 
Filled AGP at the school 
fielding six men’s teams 
and three ladies teams. 
They express latent 
demand of one senior 
men’s team that cannot be 
accommodated at the 
school as it is operating at 
peak time Hockey capacity.

i.e., Holywell Meadow. 
2. Sittingbourne Community Sports 

College has one 3G and one Sand 
based AGP that are not used for 
Hockey due to a lack of demand. 
Explore options to transfer latent 
demand for senior men’s Hockey 
from Westlands School to the 
college.

The Grove Rugby 45 Sittingbourne 
Rugby Club 

The site is significantly 
overplayed due to the 
amount of competitive and 
training fixtures assigned to 
the pitches. 

Work with Sittingbourne RUFC to 
explore opportunities to access 
additional rugby provision to 
accommodate its mini/midi youth level. 
For example, securing access at 
nearby Sittingbourne Community 
College that accommodates one senior 
rugby pitch and has access to 
changing provision or increasing 
current access at Fulston Manor 
school off site playing fields (Cromers 
Corner Playing Fields).which has two 
senior pitches and could allow for one 
to be remarked to accommodate mini 
and youth Rugby from Sittingbourne 
RUFC.

RFU & Club
(SBC, 

College)

S 

East Hall Football 66 Swale The site has the potential Work with The FA and local clubs to SBC S

P
age 96



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

63

Site Sport KKP ref Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Recreation 
Ground 

Borough 
Council 

for three football pitches 
(one senior and two junior 
pitches) which can be 
amended based on 
demand. 

explore potential opportunities for 
clubs in the Borough to access the 
pitches. 

(FA)

Site Sport KKP ref Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Iwade Recreation 
Ground 

Football 34 Private A farmer currently owns the 
site and ownership will be 
transferred to Swale 
Borough Council, as part of 
a Section 106 Agreement 
relating to the Coleshall 
development. 
The site currently provides 
two football pitches and a 
grass multi use games 
area. Proposals for the site 
include changing include 
changing provision that will 
be built as part of a Section 
106 Agreement. 

Work with The FA and Iwade Parish 
Council to explore potential 
opportunities for clubs in the Borough 
to access the pitches.
Seek guidance from The FA regarding 
its changing facility guidance. 
Note: Any mitigation for the loss of 
football provision at this site should 
seek contributions to improve the 
quality (which in turn will help to 
increase the capacity) of football 
provision at sites in the Borough i.e., 
Kemsley Recreation Ground 

SBC
(FA, Parish 

council)

S

P
age 97



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

64

Site Sport KKP ref Management Issue to be resolved Recommended actions Lead 
organisation
(Supported 

by)

Timescale

Bourne Park Football 2 The site accommodates 
two senior football pitches 
with one pitch assessed as 
being of average quality.  
The pitches are currently 
over capacity by 4.5 match 
equivalents per week 
needing to be relocated to 
an alternative pitch.

 Work with the club and the FA to 
Explore options to reduce play on 
site by transferring some play to 
local senior pitches with spare 
capacity or no community access 
e.g. Rectory Playing Fields, UK 
Paper Leisure Club, Sittingbourne 
Community Sports College, Iwade 
recreation ground.

P
age 98



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

65

PART 6: CONCLUSIONS

The Playing Pitch Strategy seeks to provide guidance for planning decisions made across 
Swale between 2015 and 2025. Swale Borough Council has undertaken a Playing Pitch 
Strategy to provide the following objectives:

 Provide a clear framework for all playing pitch providers, including the public, private 
and third sectors;

 Clearly address the needs of all identified sports within the local area, picking up 
particular local demand issues;

 Address issues of population growth, and or major growth/regeneration areas up to 
2025;

 Address issues of cross boundary facility provision;

 Address issues of accessibility, quality and management with regard to facility 
provision;

 Stand up to scrutiny at a public inquiry as a robust study;

 Provide realistic aspirations which are implementable within the local authority’s 
budgetary position and procurement regime.

By addressing the issues identified in the Assessment Report and using the strategic 
framework presented in this Strategy the objectives of the PPS and the current and future 
sporting and recreational needs of Swale can be satisfied. The Strategy identifies where 
there is a deficiency in provision and identifies how best to resolve this in the future.

It is important that this document is used in a practical manner, is engaged with partners 
and encourages partnerships to be developed, to ensure that playing pitches and outdoor 
sports facilities are regarded as a vital aspect of community life and which contribute to the 
achievement of Council priorities. 

The production of this Strategy should be regarded as the beginning of the planning 
process. The success of this Strategy and the benefits that are gained are dependent upon 
regular engagement between all partners involved and the adoption of a strategic 
approach. The Strategy is intended to be flexible and regularly updated using the 
accompanying database tools provided.

 

Page 99



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

66

PART 7: MONITORING AND REVIEW

It is important that there is regular monitoring (i.e. quarterly) and review against the 
actions identified in the Strategy. 

It is recommended that a monitoring steering group should be established to ensure the 
action plan is implemented and reviewed on a regular basis. The steering group could 
consist of the following key stakeholders: SBC leisure/planning/public health members, 
NGB’s (Football, Hockey, Rugby, Cricket), Sport England and County Sport Partnership 
(Kent Sport, CSP), representatives for Secondary, Primary and tertiary education.
 
The Council can monitor on an annual basis changes in the supply and demand for 
facilities by updating the assessment database with changes to site and team information.

This is important as regular monitoring of changes in supply and demand can avoid the 
need for a complete review of the Strategy after three years.

Online tools such as www.playingpitch.com are available to assist in the efficient 
management, development and benchmarking of a playing pitch databases and 
strategies.

In addition to action plans, it is recommended that each local authority develop a series of 
tools with which to benchmark in future years, measures could include:

 pitches per 1,000 population

 pitches per study area

 accessible pitches per 1,000 population

 accessible pitches per study area

 area of pitches (hectares) per 1,000 population

 area of accessible pitches (hectares) per 1,000 populations.

Online tools such as www.playingpitch.com can be used to establish and monitor playing 
pitch benchmark measures.

A Playing Pitch Strategy should be subject to a full review every three years under Sport 
England recommendations. However, regular monitoring of key supply and demand data 
can extend the life of the Playing Pitch Strategy to five years. 

Page 100

http://www.playingpitch.com/
http://www.playingpitch.com/


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

67

APPENDIX ONE: FUNDING PLAN

Funding opportunities

In order to deliver much of the Action Plan it is recognised that external partner funding 
will need to be sought. Although seeking developer contributions in applicable situations 
and other local funding/community schemes could go some way towards meeting 
deficiencies and/or improving provision, other potential/match sources of funding should 
be investigated. Below is a list of current funding sources that are relevant for community 
improvement projects involving sports facilities.

Awarding body Description
Big Lottery Fund
http://www.biglotteryfund.org.uk/

Big invests in community groups and to projects 
that improve health, education and the 
environment

Sport England :
 Sustainable Facilities Fund 
 Sportsmatch
 Small Grants
 Protecting Playing Fields
 Inspired Facilities 
 Iconic Facilities
http://www.sportengland.org/funding.aspx

Sport England is keen to marry funding with other 
organisations that provide financial support to 
create and strengthen the best sports projects. 
Applicants are encouraged to maximise the levels 
of other sources of funding, and projects that 
secure higher levels of partnership funding are 
more likely to be successful.

Football Foundation
http://www.footballfoundation.org.uk/

This trust provides financial help for football at all 
levels, from national stadia and FA Premier 
League clubs down to grass-roots local 
development.

Rugby Football Foundation - The Loans 
Scheme
http://www.rfu.com/microsites/rff/index.cf
m?fuseaction=loans.home

The Loans Scheme helps finance projects that 
contribute to the retention and recruitment of rugby 
players.
Projects eligible for loans include:
1. Club House Facilities: General structural 
improvements, general refurbishment, storerooms 
and offices, kitchen facilities, training areas.
2. Grounds (other than pitches): Car parking 
facilities, ground access improvements, fencing, 
security measures.

Rugby Football Foundation - The Grant 
Match Scheme
http://www.rfu.com/microsites/rff/index.cf
m?fuseaction=groundmatch.home

The Grant Match Scheme provides easy-to-access 
grant funding for playing projects that contribute to 
the recruitment and retention of community rugby 
players.
Grants are available on a ‘match funding’ 50:50 
basis to support a proposed project.
Projects eligible for funding include:
1. Pitch Facilities – Playing surface improvement, 
pitch improvement, rugby posts, floodlights.
2. Club House Facilities – Changing rooms, 
shower facilities, washroom/lavatory, and 
measures to facilitate segregation (i.e., women, 
juniors).
3. Equipment – Large capital equipment, pitch 
maintenance capital equipment (i.e., mowers).

Page 101

http://www.biglotteryfund.org.uk/
http://www.sportengland.org/funding.aspx
http://www.footballfoundation.org.uk/
http://www.rfu.com/microsites/rff/index.cfm?fuseaction=loans.home
http://www.rfu.com/microsites/rff/index.cfm?fuseaction=loans.home
http://www.rfu.com/microsites/rff/index.cfm?fuseaction=groundmatch.home
http://www.rfu.com/microsites/rff/index.cfm?fuseaction=groundmatch.home


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

68

Awarding body Description
EU Life Fund
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/funding/in
tro_en.htm

LIFE is the EU’s financial instrument supporting 
environmental and nature conservation projects 
throughout the EU.

National Hockey Foundation 
http://www.thenationalhockeyfoundation.c
om/

The Foundation primarily makes grants to a wide 
range of organisations that meet one of our chosen 
areas of focus:
Young people and hockey. 
Young people and sport in Milton Keynes. 
Enabling the development of hockey at youth or 
community level. 
Smaller Charities.   

Protecting Playing Fields

Sport England’s current funding programme; Protecting Playing Fields (PPF) as part of its 
current  Strategy which is focused on helping more people acquire lifelong sporting 
habits, will invest in capital projects to either create new natural turf pitches or improve 
existing ones that need levelling or drainage works.  The programme is being delivered 
via funding rounds with approximately £4 million being awarded to projects in each round. 

Sport England’s Inspired Facilities fund is their £110 million programme that funds the 
renovation and modernisation of local sports facilities.

To date the fund has helped over 1,800 projects to improve and refurbish sports clubs or 
transform non-sporting venues into modern grassroots sport facilities. It is open to clubs, 
local authorities, school or parish council and can be used to improve important facilities 
in a number of different way.

The programmes three priorities are: 

 Organisations that haven’t previously received a Sport England Lottery grant of over 
£10k.

 Projects that are the only public sports facility in the local community. 
 Projects that offer local opportunities to people who do not currently play sport.

Besides this scheme providing an important source of funding for potential voluntary and 
community sector sites,  it may also providing opportunities for Council to access this 
funding particularly in relation to resurfacing the artificial sports surfaces. 

Page 102

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/funding/intro_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/funding/intro_en.htm
http://www.thenationalhockeyfoundation.com/
http://www.thenationalhockeyfoundation.com/


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

69

Iconic Facilities Fund 

The Iconic Facilities fund is part of the £135m Places People Play initiative which will 
deliver an Olympic and Paralympic legacy of increased sports participation by bringing 
the magic of a home Games into the heart of local communities. It is being delivered by 
Sport England in partnership with the British Olympic Association, the British Paralympic 
Association, with the backing of The London Organising Committee of the Olympic 
games and Paralympic Games.

It will direct capital investment into a small number of strategic facility projects that will 
significantly contribute to an increase in mass participation in sport across England. 
These facilities will be promoted as best practice and will provide a network of regional 
sports facilities delivering mass participation across a number of sports.

Iconic Facilities will prioritise funding to projects that provide:

 Strategic facilities in England for at least two National Governing Bodies of Sport 
 Large scale capital developments resulting in facilities of regional significance for two 

sports or more; but also demonstrating local delivery 
 Multi-sport facilities, but with a focus on sporting activities that will drive high 

participant numbers 
 A mix of facility provision to encourage regular & sustained use by a large number of 

people 
 Indoor and/or outdoor facilities 
 An enhancement, through modernisation, to existing provision and/or new build 
 Confidence in their ability to deliver with detailed designs and planning permission 

secured 
 A strong project team, led ideally by a Local Authority (providing capital funding) 
 A long-term sustainable business plan attracting public and private investment 
 Quality in design, but are fit for purpose to serve the community need 
 Operating models, which may include an emphasis on community ownership (i.e., 

social enterprises, trusts) 

This may present opportunities to invest in its outdoor sports facilities although will require 
additional research to identify suitable sites. 

Page 103



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

70

Funder’s requirements

Below is a list of funding requirements that can typically be expected to be provided as 
part of a funding bid, some of which will fall directly out of the Playing Pitch Strategy:

 Identify need (i.e., why the Project is needed) and how the Project will address it.
 Articulate what difference the Project will make.
 Identify benefits, value for money and/or added value.
 Provide baseline information (i.e., the current situation).
 Articulate how the Project is consistent with local, regional and national policy.
 Financial need and project cost.
 Funding profile (i.e., Who’s providing what? Unit and overall costs).
 Technical information and requirements (i.e., planning permission).
 Targets, outputs and/or outcomes (i.e., the situation after the Project/what the Project 

will achieve)
 Evidence of support from partners and stakeholders.
 Background/essential documentation (i.e., community use agreement).
 Assessment of risk. 

Indicative costs

The indicative costs of implementing key elements of the Action Plan can be found on the 
Sport England website: 

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities__planning/design_and_cost_guidance.aspx

The costs are for the development of community sports facilities and are based on 
providing good quality sports facility for the 2nd Quarter 2011.  These rounded costs are 
based on schemes most recently funded through the Lottery (and therefore based on 
economies of scale), updated to reflect current forecast price indices for 1st Quarter 2010 
provided by the Building Cost Information Service (BCIS), prepared by Technical Team 
Lead of Sport England.

Page 104

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities__planning/design_and_cost_guidance.aspx


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

71

APPENDIX TWO. PLAYING PITCH MODEL TABLES (FOOTBALL, CRICKET AND 
RUGBY)7

SWALE  Football Cricket Rugby 
Union

Adult teams 119 62 8
Junior teams 114 39 7

STAGE ONE
Identifying teams
 Mini teams 30  13

Adult games 0.5 0.7 0.5
Junior games 0.5 0.3 0.5

STAGE TWO
Calculate home games per week
 Mini games 0.5  0.25

Adult games 59.5 43.4 4
Junior games 57 11.7 3.5

STAGE THREE (S1 x S2)
Assessing home games per week
 
 

Mini games 15  3.25

Saturday Adult games 23% 71% 100%
 Junior games 21% 0% 0%
 Mini games 13%  0%
Sunday Adult games 61% 0% 0%
 Junior games 79% 100% 100%
 Mini games 87%  100%
Midweek Adult games 17% 29% 0%
 Junior games 0% 0% 0%

STAGE FOUR
 
Establish temporal demand 
for pitches
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0%  0%

Saturday Adult games 13.5 31 4
 Junior games 12 0 0
 Mini games 2  0
Sunday Adult games 36 0 0
 Junior games 45 11.7 3.5
 Mini games 13  3.25
Midweek Adult games 0.5 12.4 0
 Junior games 0 0 0

STAGE FIVE (S3 x S4)
 
Defining pitches used for each
day
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0  0

Adult pitches 64 8
Junior pitches 20 0

STAGE SIX
Establishing pitches currently available
(community use only) Mini pitches 11

25
6

Saturday Adult pitches 50.5 4.0
 Junior pitches 8.0 0 
 Mini pitches 9.0

-6.0
6.0

Adult pitches 28.0 8.0
Junior pitches -25.0 -3.5

Sunday
 
 Mini pitches -2.0

13.3
2.8

Midweek Adult pitches 54.0 8.0
 Junior pitches 20.0 0 

STAGE SEVEN (S6 - S5)
 
Identifying shortfall (-) and 
oversupply (+)
 
 
 
 

 Mini pitches 11.0
12.6

6.0

FAVERSHAM  Football Cricket Rugby 
Union

STAGE ONE
 Identifying teams

Adult teams 21 21 2

Page 105



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

72

Junior teams 26 15 0
 

Mini teams 3  0

Adult games 0.5 0.7 0.5

Junior games 0.5 0.3 0.5
STAGE TWO
 Calculate home games per week
 Mini games 0.5  0.25

Adult games 10.5 14.7 1

Junior games 13 4.5 0
STAGE THREE (S1 x S2)
 Assessing home games per week 
 Mini games 1.5  0

Saturday Adult games 43% 71% 100%

 Junior games 54% 0% 0%

 Mini games 100%  0%

Sunday Adult games 57% 0% 0%

 Junior games 46% 100% 0%

 Mini games 0%  0%

Midweek Adult games 0% 29% 0%

 Junior games 0% 0% 0%

STAGE FOUR
 
Establish temporal demand 
for pitches
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0%  0%

Saturday Adult games 4.5 10.5 1

 Junior games 7 0 0

 Mini games 1.5  0

Sunday Adult games 6 0 0

 Junior games 6 4.5 0

 Mini games 0  0

Midweek Adult games 0 4.2 0

 Junior games 0 0 0

STAGE FIVE (S3 x S4)
 
Defining pitches used for each
day
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0  0

Adult pitches 17 1

Junior pitches 2 0
STAGE SIX
Establishing pitches currently available
(community use only) Mini pitches 4

9
0

Saturday Adult pitches 12.5 0 

 Junior pitches -5.0 0 
 Mini pitches 2.5

-1.5
0 

Adult pitches 11.0 1.0

Junior pitches -4.0 0 
Sunday
 
 Mini pitches 4.0

4.5
0 

Midweek Adult pitches 17.0 1.0

 Junior pitches 2.0 0 

STAGE SEVEN (S6 - S5)
identifying shortfall (-) and 
oversupply (+)
 
 
 
 

 Mini pitches 4.0
4.8

0 

Page 106



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

73

SHEPPEY  Football Cricket Rugby 
Union

Adult teams 23 11 3

Junior teams 22 9 4
STAGE ONE
 Identifying teams 

Mini teams 10  6

Adult games 0.5 0.7 0.5

Junior games 0.5 0.3 0.5
STAGE TWO
Calculate home games per week
 Mini games 0.5  0.25

Adult games 11.5 7.7 1.5

Junior games 11 2.7 2
STAGE THREE (S1 x S2)
 Assessing home games per week 
 Mini games 5  1.5

Saturday Adult games 9% 71% 100%

 Junior games 5% 0% 0%

 Mini games 0%  0%

Sunday Adult games 91% 0% 0%

 Junior games 95% 100% 100%

 Mini games 100%  100%

Midweek Adult games 0% 29% 0%

 Junior games 0% 0% 0%

STAGE FOUR
 
 
Establish temporal demand 
for pitches
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0%  0%

Saturday Adult games 1 5.5 1.5

 Junior games 0.5 0 0

 Mini games 0  0

Sunday Adult games 10.5 0 0

 Junior games 10.5 2.7 2

 Mini games 5  1.5

Midweek Adult games 0 2.2 0

 Junior games 0 0 0

STAGE FIVE (S3 x S4)
 
 
Defining pitches used for each
day
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0  0

Adult pitches 11 3

Junior pitches 4 0
STAGE SIX
 Establishing pitches currently available
(community use only) Mini pitches 1

4
3

Saturday Adult pitches 10.0 1.5

 Junior pitches 3.5 0 
 Mini pitches 1.0

-1.5
3.0

Adult pitches 0.5 3.0

Junior pitches -6.5 -2.0
Sunday
 
 Mini pitches -4.0

1.3
1.5

Midweek Adult pitches 11.0 3.0

 Junior pitches 4.0 0 

STAGE SEVEN (S6 - S5)
 
 
Identifying shortfall (-) and 
oversupply (+)
 
 
 
 

 Mini pitches 1.0
1.8

3.0

Page 107



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

74

SITTINGBOURNE  Football Cricket Rugby 
Union

Adult teams 56 30 3

Junior teams 66 15 3
STAGE ONE
 Identifying teams
 Mini teams 17  7

Adult games 0.5 0.7 0.5

Junior games 0.5 0.3 0.5
STAGE TWO
 
Calculate home games per week Mini games 0.5  0.25

Adult games 28 21 1.5

Junior games 33 4.5 1.5
STAGE THREE (S1 x S2)
 
Assessing home games per week Mini games 8.5  1.75

Saturday Adult games 29% 71% 100%

 Junior games 14% 0% 0%

 Mini games 6%  0%

Sunday Adult games 70% 0% 0%

 Junior games 86% 100% 100%

 Mini games 94%  100%

Midweek Adult games 2% 29% 0%

 Junior games 0% 0% 0%

STAGE FOUR
 
 
Establish temporal demand 
for pitches
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0%  0%

Saturday Adult games 8 15 1.5

 Junior games 4.5 0 0

 Mini games 0.5  0

Sunday Adult games 19.5 0 0

 Junior games 28.5 4.5 1.5

 Mini games 8  1.75

Midweek Adult games 0.5 6 0

 Junior games 0 0 0

STAGE FIVE (S3 x S4)
 
 
Defining pitches used for each
day
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0  0

Adult pitches 36 4

Junior pitches 14 0
STAGE SIX
 Establishing pitches currently available
(community use only) Mini pitches 6

12
3

Saturday Adult pitches 28.0 2.5

 Junior pitches 9.5 0 
 Mini pitches 5.5

-3.0
3.0

Adult pitches 16.5 4.0

Junior pitches -14.5 -1.5
Sunday
 
 Mini pitches -2.0

7.5
1.3

Midweek Adult pitches 35.5 4.0

 Junior pitches 14.0 0 

STAGE SEVEN (S6 - S5)
 
 
Identifying shortfall (-) and 
oversupply (+)
 
 
 
 

 Mini pitches 6.0
6.0

3.0

  Note: The PPM has not been used for hockey (artificial grass pitches) as conclusions in 
relation to current and future demand have been concluded following a review of Sport 
England’s Facilities Planning Model – Local Assessment Report and consultation with 
clubs and stakeholders.

Page 108



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL   

PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY

FINAL ASSESSMENT REPORT

AUGUST 2015 

Page 109



Page 110



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

CONTENTS

PART 1: INTRODUCTION..................................................................................................1
1.1 Key drivers ....................................................................................................................1
PART 2: CONTEXT ............................................................................................................3
2.1: National context............................................................................................................3
2.2: Local context ................................................................................................................9
PART 3: PARTICIPATION TRENDS................................................................................12
3.1: Active People Survey .................................................................................................12
3.2: Market segmentation..................................................................................................13
3.3: Top 5 sports ...............................................................................................................14
3.4: Clubmark ....................................................................................................................14
PART 4: PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY METHODOLOGY .............................................15
4.1: Playing Pitch Model (PPM).........................................................................................15
PART 5: FOOTBALL........................................................................................................21
5.1: Introduction.................................................................................................................21
5.2: Current provision ........................................................................................................23
5.3 Demand.......................................................................................................................36
5.4: Provision of football pitch sites assessed by quality and capacity .............................38
5.5: Supply and demand analysis .....................................................................................41
PART 6: CRICKET ...........................................................................................................46
6.1: Introduction.................................................................................................................46
6.2: Current provision ........................................................................................................46
6.3 Demand.......................................................................................................................50
6.4: Provision of cricket pitch sites assessed by quality and capacity...............................52
6.5 Supply and demand analysis ......................................................................................57
PART 7: RUGBY ..............................................................................................................61
7.1: Introduction.................................................................................................................61
7.2: Current provision ........................................................................................................61
7.3: Key summary of consultation .....................................................................................63
7.4: Demand......................................................................................................................64
7.5: Provision of rugby union pitch sites assessed by quality and capacity ......................65
7.6 Supply and demand analysis ......................................................................................68
PART 8: HOCKEY............................................................................................................72
8.1: Current provision ........................................................................................................72
8.2: Development ..............................................................................................................75
8.3: Key issues for hockey ................................................................................................76
8.4 Supply and demand analysis ......................................................................................76
PART 9: EDUCATION......................................................................................................82
9.1 Introduction..................................................................................................................82
9.2: All education provision ...............................................................................................82
9.3: Secondary schools provision......................................................................................83
9.4: Primary school provision ............................................................................................85
PART 10: SUMMARY.......................................................................................................89
PART 11: CONSULTEE LIST ..........................................................................................90
APPENDIX ONE: SOURCE OF SUPPLY AND DEMAND INFORMATION ....................94

Page 111



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

APPENDIX TWO: TEAM EQUIVALENTS........................................................................95
APPENDIX THREE: PLAYING PITCH MODEL TABLES ...............................................96
APPENDIX FOUR: SITE VISIT PROFORMAS ..............................................................100

APPENDIX FIVE: FOOTBALL PITCH SERVICE AREA MAP…………………………

APPENDIX SIX: CRICKET PITCH SERVICE AREA MAP

APPENDIX SEVEN: RUGBY PITCH SERVICE AREA MAP

Page 112



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

1

PART 1: INTRODUCTION

This is the Swale Playing Pitch Assessment Report prepared by Knight Kavanagh & Page 
(KKP) for Swale Borough Council (SBC). 

This factual report presents a supply and demand assessment of playing pitch facilities in 
accordance with Sport England’s methodology ‘Towards a Level Playing Field’. The 
specific objectives are to provide:

 An audit of existing provision detailing quantity, quality and accessibility. 
 An assessment of local demand for playing pitches. 

Why the PPS is being developed

Swale Borough Council commissioned a review of the Council’s strategic approach to 
provide sport and leisure opportunities in the Borough. As part of that review it was 
identified there was a need to update the previous Playing Pitch Strategy (2008). 

1.1 Key drivers 

From a Council perspective, the PPS is a key evidence base for the review of spatial 
planning policy. The Playing Pitch Strategy will support the aspirations of the Council’s 
Core Strategy and the developing Community Infrastructure Levy Framework. 
Furthermore, the key drivers for the work include: 

 Opportunities to rationalise Council provision of pitches (if appropriate).
 Suitable opportunities to enter into Community Use Agreements with schools and 

private sites. 
 A strategy to make optimum use of the available pitches across the Borough 
 A basis to develop strategic guidance for the Council and its partners on future 

maintenance and provision (up to 2017).
 Opportunities for reviewing maintenance budgets for SBC owned sites. 

Vision 

The vision is consistent with local aspirations to improve health and well-being by 
increasing the number of people who are physically active and will help to transform 
sport. Therefore, in keeping with the key themes of the ‘Sport and Physical Activity 
Framework for Swale 2012-2017 - Move Ourselves’, the vision for Swale is:

To ensure that the people of Swale have access to high quality appropriate 
outdoor sports facilities so they are motivated to be more active and healthier 
and reach their potential 

Page 113



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

2

Objectives 

In order to be clear about how the vision will be achieved, the following objectives were 
identified. 

 To undertake a qualitative evaluation of the known pitches in the Borough. 
 To engage all relevant stakeholders and council departments as part of the 

consultation. 
 To produce a five year strategy (up to 2017) including current and future provision 

requirements.
 To reflect the needs of the Council’s partners such as Active Swale, local football 

leagues and Kent County Council and other education providers and local health 
services.

 To reflect the needs of the national governing bodies of sport; football, cricket, rugby 
union and hockey. 

Management arrangements

The project team (KKP) was responsible for the day to day development of the PPS and 
ensuring tasks were completed in line with the project plan. In order to ensure effective 
and continued PPS management, a project team comprising representatives from the 
Council and KKP was formed. 

Whilst there was no steering group formed it should be noted that all relevant parties have 
been fully engaged throughout the duration of the assessment. 

Assessment data was identified and collated between September and December 2012. 
Although this was not considered ideal for all sports, particularly cricket (this period was 
out of season), the timescales were agreed to ensure these were in line with the Council’s 
Core Strategy and Community Infrastructure Levy framework. 

It focuses on reporting the findings of the extensive research, consultation, site 
assessment, data analysis and GIS mapping work to deliver:

 An analysis of qualitative site visits.
 A summary of consultation with a variety of stakeholders, including local authority  

officers, Sport England, national governing bodies of sport (NGBs) including county 
associations, leagues, clubs and education establishments. 

 Supply and demand analysis.

The following outdoor sports facilities are included:

 Grass football pitches
 Cricket pitches (including non turf)
 Grass rugby (union) pitches
 Artificial grass pitches (AGPs)

Each section provides a quantitative summary of provision and a map showing the 
distribution of facilities. It also provides information about the availability of facilities to/for 
the local community and, the details of the governing body of each sport and strategic 
plans (where they exist). Local league details are provided, where possible, in order to 
outline the competitive structure for each sport. The findings of club consultation and key 
issues for each sport are also summarised.

Page 114



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

3

PART 2: CONTEXT

Consideration of the national context is paramount. The following section outlines a series 
of national, regional and local policies pertaining to the study and which have an 
important influence on the Strategy.

2.1: National context

Sport England: A Sporting Habit for Life (2012-2017)

In 2017, five years after the Olympic Games, Sport England aspires to transforming sport 
in England so that it is a habit for life for more people and a regular choice for the 
majority.  The strategy will:

 See more people starting and keeping a sporting habit for life
 Create more opportunities for young people
 Nurture and develop talent 
 Provide the right facilities in the right places
 Support local authorities and unlock local funding
 Ensure real opportunities for communities

Sport England Strategy (2011/12 – 2014/15)

The vision is for England to be a world leading sporting nation where many more people 
choose to play sport. There are five strategic themes including:

 Maximise value from current NGB investment
 Places, People, Play
 Strategic direction and market intelligence
 Set criteria and support system for NGB 2013-17 investment
 Market development

Sport England Youth and Community Strategy 2012 – 2017

Launched in January 2012 the strategy sets out how Sport England will invest over one 
billion pounds of National Lottery and Exchequer funding during the five year plan period. 
The investment will be used to create a lasting community sport legacy by growing sports 
participation at the grassroots level following the 2012 London Olympics.

The aim by 2017 is to ensure that playing sport is a lifelong habit for more people and a 
regular choice for the majority. A specific target is to increase the number of 14 to 25 year 
olds playing sport. To accomplish these aims the strategy sets out a number of outcomes:

 4,000 secondary schools in England will be offered a community sport club on its site 
with a direct link to one or more NGBs, depending on the local clubs in a school’s 
area.

 County sports partnerships will be given new resources to create effective links 
locally between schools and sport in the community.

 All secondary schools, who wish to do so, will be supported to open up, or keep 
open, their sports facilities for local community use and at least a third of these will 
receive additional funding to make this happen.

 At least 150 further educational colleagues will benefit from a full time sports 
professional who will act as a College Sport Maker.

Page 115



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

4

 Three quarters of university students aged 18-24 will get the chance to take up a new 
sport or continue playing a sport they played at school or college.

 A thousand of our most disadvantaged local communities will get a Door Step Club.
 Two thousand young people on the margins of society will be supported by the Dame 

Kelly Holmes Legacy Trust into sport and to gain new life skills.
 Building on the success of the Places People Play, a further £100 million will be 

invested in facilities for the most popular sports.
 A minimum of 30 sports will have enhanced England Talent Pathways to ensure 

young people and others fulfil their potential.

National Planning Policy Framework

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out planning policies for England. It 
details how these changes are expected to be applied to the planning system. It also 
provides a framework for local people and their councils to produce distinct local and 
neighbourhood plans, reflecting the needs and priorities of local communities.
 
The NPPF states the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development. It identifies that the planning system needs to focus on three 
themes of sustainable development: economic, social and environmental. A presumption in 
favour of sustainable development is a key aspect for any plan-making and decision-taking 
processes. In relation to plan-making the NPPF sets out that Local Plans should meet 
objectively assessed needs.
 
The ‘promoting healthy communities’ theme identifies that planning policies should be 
based on robust and up-to-date assessments of the needs for open space, sports and 
recreation facilities and opportunities for new provision. Specific needs and quantitative and 
qualitative deficiencies and surpluses in local areas should also be identified. This 
information should be used to inform what provision is required in an area.
 
As a prerequisite the NPPF states existing open space, sports and recreation sites, 
including playing fields, should not be built on unless:

 An assessment has been undertaken, which has clearly shown that the site is 
surplus to requirements.

 The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent 
or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location.

 The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for 
which clearly outweigh the loss.

 
In order for planning policies to be ‘sound’ local authorities are still required to carry out a 
robust assessment of need for open space, sport and recreation facilities. We advocate that 
the methodology to undertake such assessments should still be informed by best practice 
including Sport England’s ‘Towards a Level Playing Field’ (TALPF) and previous planning 
policy (i.e., Planning Policy Guidance 17 (PPG17)). Despite the latter being replaced by the 
NPPF it still offers relevant guidance about undertaking a needs assessment.

Page 116



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

5

Towards A Level Playing Field 

The aims and objectives outlined in PPG17 and its companion guide are reiterated in the 
Sport England Playing Pitch Strategy Methodology, ‘Towards a Level Playing Field’ 
(February 2003). Sport England strongly recommends that each local authority has an up 
to date playing pitch strategy. The benefits of having a playing pitch strategy are identified 
as follows:

Corporate and strategic
 It ensures a strategic approach to playing pitch provision.
 It provides robust evidence for capital funding for sports pitch improvement (to support 

applications to agencies such as the Football Foundation, Heritage Lottery Fund and Sport 
England).

 It helps deliver Government policies.
 It helps demonstrate the value of leisure services.
 It improves understanding of the quality and standard of sports pitches and associated 

changing (and other ancillary) facilities and the extent to which they encourage and enable 
more people to take part and enjoy pitch sports.

 It can assist in bringing specific sites back into active use and as a framework to assess 
sports club requests for improved sites and facilities.

 It can guide sports pitch provision and improvements through the secondary and primary 
school capital and regeneration schemes.

Planning
 It is one of the basic tools for identifying needs and priorities of local communities, 

particularly in relation to establishing a local standard for playing pitch provision. 
 It allows the presentation of a coherent, up to date assessment and strategy to Sport 

England in its role as statutory consultee – when the planning authority is faced with 
development proposals that affect sports pitches.

 It provides a basis for establishing the requirement for new pitches or improvements to the 
quality of existing pitch sites that arise from new housing developments and the use of CIL/ 
Section 106 Agreements.

 It is one of the best tools to justify protection of pitches in the face of rising development 
pressure on pitch sites for alternative uses, particularly with respect to new housing in order 
to meet regional targets.

 It provides an important evidence base, which is part of a holistic approach to open space 
improvement and protection.

 It establishes a policy framework against which to justify existing or new recreation 
allocations for playing pitches/other leisure activities.

Operational
 It can result in more efficient use of resources.
 Quality of provision can be enhanced.
Sports development
 It helps identify where community use of school sports pitches is most needed.
 It provides better information to residents and other users of sports pitches.
 It promotes sports development and can help unlock latent demand.

The approach and guidance outlined in ‘Towards a Level Playing Field’ are fully endorsed 
by Sport England and the former Central Council for Physical Recreation (CCPR), now 
Sport & Recreation Alliance, as the most appropriate way of providing detailed local 
assessments of playing pitch requirements and, as such, have been used in this study. 
Detail of the methodology is outlined later in this document.

Page 117



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

6

NPPF requires local authorities to undertake detailed local assessments to provide 
evidence as a basis for developing a local standard, taking into account the quantity, 
quality, capacity and accessibility of outdoor sport and recreation facilities.

‘Towards a Level Playing Field’ does not give definitive instruction on how to calculate 
local standards for sports pitches but advises that the following are taken into 
consideration:

 Only pitches available for community use are to be included in the ‘supply’ equation
 Quality of pitches
 Provision of changing facilities
 Pitch capacity
 Future population estimates

A Sporting Future for the Playing Fields of England 

It is Sport England’s policy to object to any planning application, which will result in the 
loss of a playing field, unless it meets one of five exceptions as defined in ‘A Sporting 
Future for the Playing Fields of England’. Protection of playing fields was enhanced in 
1998 with Circular 9/98 (replaced in 2009 by Circular 02/09), which stipulates that where 
a local authority is minded to grant planning permission against Sport England’s advice 
on land owned by a local authority or used for educational purposes, then the application 
should be referred to the relevant Government Office for possible ‘call in’.

The Football Association (FA) 

The recently published new National Facilities Strategy (2013 – 2015) sets out the FA’s 
long term vision for development of facilities to support the ‘National Game’.  It aims to 
address and reflect the facility needs of football within the National Game (defined as all 
non-professional football from Steps 1-7 of the National League System down to 
recreational football played on open public space).. Facilities are considered to be crucial 
to the development of the game in England.  One of the main issues raised by ‘the Big 
Grassroots Football Survey’ (by 84% respondents) was ‘poor facilities’.  

The FA’s vision for the future of facilities in England is to build, protect and enhance 
sustainable football facilities to improve the experience of the nation’s favourite game. It 
aims to do this by:

 Building - Provide new facilities and pitches in key locations to FA standards in order 
to sustain existing participation and support new participation.

 Protecting - Ensure that playing pitches and facilities are protected for the benefit of 
current and future participants.

 Enhancing - Invest in existing facilities and pitches, ensuring that participation in the 
game is sustained as well as expanded.

The Strategy commits the FA to deliver in excess of £150m (through the Football 
Foundation) into facility improvements in line with identified priorities:

 Natural grass pitches improved – target: 100.
 A network of new AGPs built – target 100.
 A network of refurbished AGPs – target 150.
 On selected sites, new and improved changing facilities and toilets. 

Page 118

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities__planning/putting_policy_into_practice/idoc.ashx?docid=1ed19a00-14fa-4940-8a09-19cf63ce538b&version=-1
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities__planning/putting_policy_into_practice/idoc.ashx?docid=1ed19a00-14fa-4940-8a09-19cf63ce538b&version=-1
http://www.communities.gov.uk/archived/publications/planningandbuilding/circulartown2
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/circularconsultationdirect


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

7

 Continued small grants programme to address the modest facility needs of clubs.
 Ongoing support with the purchase and replacement of goalposts.

It also commits to:

 Direct other sources of investment into FA facility priorities.
 Communicate priorities for investment across the grassroots game on a regular basis. 
 Work closely with Sport England, the Premier League and other partners to ensure 

that investment is co-ordinated and targeted 

Swale is a priority area for the FA particularly in relation to ensuring there are appropriate 
facilities across the Borough to service all forms of the game through a programme of 
improvements to existing stock and development of new stock to address the deficiencies 
and facility limitations. 

England and Wales Cricket Board (ECB)

Grounds to Play, ECB Strategic Plan (2010 – 2013) continues to focus on four pillars, as 
identified in the previous strategy, Building Partnerships. The pillars are:

 Energising people and partnerships to deliver national goals at local level:
 Having streamlined the management of ECB and established the County 

Boards, where feasible, services currently provided from the centre will be 
transferred to County Boards; 

 Enhance asset growth through continuing interest free loans to community 
clubs, expanding NatWest Cricket Force, seeking to support corporate or public 
sector cricket grounds under threat of closure through the England and Wales 
Cricket Trust, and seeking to expand partnerships for Indoor Cricket.

 Vibrant domestic game.
 Enhancing facilities, environments and participation:

 The focus of this plan will be on providing facilities to sustain participation levels 
rather than a focus on a substantial increase in participation;

 The Cricket Foundation’s ‘Chance to Shine’ programme has been an 
outstanding success in reintroducing cricket into state schools. ECB will 
prioritise investment in the programme;

 To further expand club/ school links and position the cricket club at the heart of 
the community, ECB will provide £1.5 million per annum capital improvement 
grants to local clubs that make their club facilities available to the local 
community and to local schools.

 Successful England teams.

The following actions executed during the duration of Building Partnerships provide a 
strong base for this new plan. Actions include:

 Streamlining ECB governance
 Building participation by more than 20% per annum (as measured through ECB focus 

clubs and County Boards)
 Developing women’s cricket
 Attracting volunteers

Page 119



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

8

 Expanding cricket’s spectator base
 Introducing grants and loans to clubs
 Developing disabilities cricket

The theme of this plan therefore progresses to Grounds to Play and it is in the areas of 
facilities and coaches where ECB investment will be focussed. Partnership funding and 
support will play a key role in the delivery of actions and maintaining the strength of the 
pillars. 

Rugby Football Union (RFU) 

The recently launched National Facility Strategy 2013-2017 provides a framework for the 
development of high-quality and well-managed facilities that will help to strengthen 
member clubs and grow the game in communities around them. In conjunction with 
partners, it will assist and support clubs and other organisations to continue to provide 
quality opportunities for all sections of the community to enjoy the game.

It sets out the broad facility needs of the sport and identifies investment priorities to the 
game and its key partners. It identifies that with 470 grass root clubs and 1500 players 
there is a continuing need to invest in community club facilities in order to: 

 Create a platform for growth in club rugby participation and membership, especially 
with a view to exploiting the opportunities afforded by RWC 2015. 

 Ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of rugby clubs, through supporting not only 
their playing activity but also their capacity to generate revenue through a diverse 
range of activities and partnerships. 

The priorities for investment which met the needs of the game for the previous strategy 
period remain valid. These are to:

 Increase the provision of changing rooms and clubhouses that can sustain 
concurrent adult and junior male and female activity at clubs

 Improve the quality and quantity of natural turf pitches and floodlighting
 Increase the provision of AGPs pitches that deliver wider game development

It is also a high priority for the RFU to target investment in the following: 

 To upgrade and transform social, community and catering facilities, which can 
support the generation of additional revenues

 Facility upgrades, which result in an increase in energy-efficiency, in order to reduce 
the running costs of clubs

 Pitch furniture, including rugby posts and pads, pitch side spectator rails and grounds 
maintenance equipment

Page 120



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

9

 England Hockey (EH)

‘The right pitches in the right places’ 

In 2012, EH released its facility guidance which is intended to assist organisations 
wishing to build or protect hockey pitches for hockey. It identifies that many existing 
hockey AGP’s are nearing the end of their useful life as a result of the installation boom of 
the 90’s. Significant investment is needed to update the playing stock and protect the 
sport against inappropriate surfaces for hockey as a result of the rising popularity of 
AGP’s for a number of sports. 

EH ware seeking to invest in, and endorse clubs and hockey providers who have a sound 
understanding of the following:

 Single System – clubs and providers who have a good understanding of the Single 
System and its principles and are appropriately places to support the delivery. 

 ClubsFirst accreditation – clubs with the accreditation are recognised as producing a 
safe effective and child friendly hockey environment 

 Sustainability – hockey providers and clubs will have an approved development plan 
in place showing their commitment to developing hockey, retaining members and 
providing an insight into longer term goals. They will also need to have secured 
appropriate tenure. 

2.2: Local context 

Strategy Summary Relevance to PPS
Swale 
Corporate 
Plan: 2012 – 
2015 

The Plan sets out what the Council aims to achieve for its 
residents over the next three years. It is organised around 
its three interlinked corporate priorities: 
 Embracing Localism
 Open for Business
 Healthy Environment
It focuses on areas of change and improvement rather 
than attempting to cover everything the council does. Its 
key values are: 
 Fairness - being objective to balance the needs of 

communities.
 Integrity - being open, honest and taking 

responsibility.
 Respect - embracing and valuing the diversity of 

others.
 Service - delivering high quality, cost effective public 

service.
 Trust - delivering on promises to each other, 

customers and partners.

‘Priorities include 
developing a 
framework for sport 
and physical activity 
in Swale’
SBC is open to 
investigate 
opportunities for 
local management 
of sites where 
appropriate

Swale 
Sustainable 
Communities 
Plan 

(Section – 

The aim of this Plan is to provide a direction for Swale and 
is relevant to everybody who lives, works and visits the 
Borough and it:
 Sets out a vision for Swale to encourage a common 

purpose and aspiration for the future of the Borough.
 Identifies the priorities to help guide organisations 

who will deliver change, especially local authorities 
and other public agencies.

 Provides a clear picture to the outside world of what 

Policy objective 
includes ‘to reduce 
crime and anti social
behaviour and to 
provide accessible, 
healthy, safe but
interesting public 
spaces and  
recreation facilities 

Page 121



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

10

Strategy Summary Relevance to PPS
is important to the residents of Swale.

 Ensures that the priorities are clear and funding is 
spent in the right way.

where
there are fulfilling 
opportunities for 
everyone’

The Strategy sets out a statement of the kind of place that 
they want Swale to be in the future, and provides a basis 
for local organisations to work together to improve the 
social, economic and environmental prospects for the 
Borough.

Ambitions for 
Health)

Swale exhibits significant health inequalities, reflecting the 
economic divergences that exist between the most 
disadvantaged wards (on the Isle of Sheppey and in 
Sittingbourne) and the more affluent parts of the Borough. 
Ambitions for Swale seeks to reduce these inequalities, 
improving the health outcomes for those in the Borough 
have most deprived communities.

One of its eight 
priorities include 
‘ambitions for 
Culture, with diverse 
sporting, leisure and 
cultural 
opportunities for all’

Swale Draft 
Core 
Strategy 
(2012)

The Draft Core Strategy details the development plans 
and planning policy for Swale over the next 20 years. It 
promotes an employment led plan supported by other 
developments through sustainable growth. Ultimately the 
aim is for a better efficiency and self containment. 
The Council’s vision is that by 2031 Swale will be known 
by the fruits of its endeavour. Key to achieving the vision is 
the delivery of 12 strategy objectives:
 Adapt to climate change with innovation, reduced use 

of resources, managed risk to our communities and 
opportunities for biodiversity to thrive.

 Use coastal assets to support a strong economy and 
a sustainably managed environment.

 Support economic success and improve community 
wellbeing with a network of maintained, protected and 
improved natural assets in town and country.

 Use historic and natural assets to drive regeneration, 
tourism and environmental quality.

 Strive for high quality design to bring better quality of 
life and self-confidence to communities.

 Support sectors that can build on strengths, diversify 
economy, promote investment in skills, and develop 
distinct opportunities in pursuit of greener and 
pioneering technologies.

 Bring economic growth, regeneration and community 
development, especially to the most deprived 
communities.

 Support farming and food sectors so that they are at 
the forefront of increasing food security, reducing 
food miles and increasing local food consumption.

 Provide the right housing to support regeneration and 
stronger, greener communities.

 Develop tourism and culture to support regeneration, 
employment growth, communities and environmental 
management.

 Improve prosperity and environmental quality with 
efficient and sustainable transport networks.

 Ensure timely delivery of the services and 

Key planning 
principles include 
‘Health and well-
being – protecting 
and enhancing 
health facilities and 
promoting healthy 
living
Spaces’ and
‘Community 
Facilities provision – 
making the best use 
of existing 
community facilities 
and
public utilities and 
ensuring new 
provision where 
necessary to meet 
the needs of new
development’

Page 122



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

11

Strategy Summary Relevance to PPS
infrastructure to support strong communities.

Chapter 7.14 of the Core Strategy sets out the Open 
Space and Recreation Standards for Swale. It states that 
the main role of the planning system is to ensure there is 
enough accessible provision that is managed and 
maintained to a sufficient quality.
Policy DM17 details the proposals for new developments 
in order to meet open space, sports and recreational 
needs. It states that where developments will result in a 
shortfall of provision, developer funding will be sought. The 
policy also identifies the need to address identified 
deficiencies of formal outdoor sport facilities in Faversham 
and the Isle of Sheppey.

Open Space 
Strategy 
(2009 – 
2014)

Its aim is to maximise the potential, transforming 
perceptions and re-engaging communities with the 
inherent ‘Spirit of Swale’. The vision will reflect a confident, 
contemporary and innovative approach to sustainable 
design and management and provide a refuge for 
biodiversity.  

‘Provides a guide in 
the development of 
a strategy 
for future 
development of 
different types of 
open space 
(including outdoor 
sports facilities), and 
serves as evidence 
to support the 
Council’s 
requirements for 
contributions from 
developers where 
planned 
developments 
create an 
additional demand 
for different types of 
space’.

A Sport and 
Physical 
Activity 
Framework 
for Swale 
2012-2017 - 
Move 
Ourselves

The framework sets out a vision for sport and activity for 
Swale and includes the main priorities over the next five 
years. It has been set up as a tool to try and encourage 
people to be fit and active. It categorises each sport and 
physical activity (SPA) into either ‘unstructured and 
informal SPA’ which includes sports and activities such as 
leisure walking, dance and leisure cycling or ‘structured 
and formal SPA’ including ones such as club sports, 
school sports/physical education and fitness training. 
Swale residents, schools, businesses and various other 
stakeholders were asked about their needs and priorities 
and it found that “71% of people would like to do more 
sport and physical activity”.

‘targeted activities 
including football will 
be  focus as well as 
target groups (to 
increase 
participation) and 
target places; areas 
of deprivation, local 
sports clubs and 
schools’

KKP has not undertaken a comparison of the neighbouring local authorities Paying Pitch 
Strategies as these are not robust and up to date. 

  

Page 123



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

12

PART 3: PARTICIPATION TRENDS  

It is important that participation trends are clearly understood and reflected upon 
particularly in the context of the development of the Playing Pitch Strategy. The following 
section uses Sport England participation analysis tools to provide a detailed 
understanding of the key participation trends in Swale.

3.1: Active People Survey
 
The Active People Survey (APS) provides statistics on participation for all local authorities 
in England. It can be used to identify how participation varies from place to place and 
between different population groups. It also gathers data on the type, duration and 
intensity of people's participation in different types of sport and active recreation, as well 
as sports volunteering, club membership, tuition from an instructor/coach, participation in 
competitive sport and satisfaction with local sports provision. Now in its sixth year, APS 6 
field work commenced in October 2011. 

Table 3.1: Active People survey KPIs 

KPI National (NAT) 
%

Kent Swale Borough

APS3 35.7% 32.9% 31.2%

APS4 35.3% 33.2% 29.0%

1 session a week (at 
least 4 sessions of at 
least moderate 
intensity for at least 30 
minutes in the 
previous 28 days)*

APS5

%

34.8% 33.5% 31.4%

APS3 4.7% 5.1% 3.9%

APS4 4.5% 4.9% 4.2%

KPI 2 - At least 1 hour 
a week volunteering to 
support sport (all 
adults) APS5

%

7.3% 7.7% 6.2%

APS3 24.1% 23.4% 23.6%

APS4 23.9% 25.4% 24.0%

KPI 3 - Club member 
(all adults)

APS5

%

23.3% 24.5% 22.8%

APS3 17.5% 17.1% 17.3%

APS4 17.5% 16.3% 15.0%

KPI 4 - Received 
tuition from an 
instructor or coach in 
last 12 months (all 
adults)

APS5

%

16.2% 15.6% 13.1%

APS3 14.4% 15.1% 18.0%

APS4 14.4% 14.7% 15.0%

KPI 5 - Taken part in 
organised competitive 
sport in last 12 months 
(all adults) APS5

%

14.3% 15.1% 14.6%

In general terms, participation trends currently in Swale are slightly below Kent and 
England averages and levels have dropped, particularly since 2007/8. Across most KPIs 
‘below average’ levels are recorded compared to national and regional averages. KPI 5 
shows that since 2008/09 there has been a significant decrease in the percentage of 
adults taking part in organised competitive sport (from 18% in 2008/09 to 14.6% in 
2010/11). However, despite the decrease, the percentage is still currently higher than the 
national level but slightly lower than the Kent level. 

Page 124



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

13

3.2: Market segmentation

Sport England has developed a segmentation model with 19 ‘sporting’ segments to help 
better understand attitudes, motivations and perceived barriers to participation. 

Knowing which segment is most dominant in the local population is important as it can 
help direct provision and programming. For example, whilst the needs of smaller 
segments should not be ignored, it is useful for Swale Borough Council to understand 
which sports are enjoyed by the largest proportion(s) of the population. Segmentation 
also enables partners to make tailored interventions, communicate effectively with target 
market(s) and better understand participation in the context of life stage and lifecycles.

Table 3.2: Swale: Sport England market segmentation

Code Name Description Number 
(000s)

Rate %

A01 Ben Competitive Male Urbanites 4.1 4.1
A02 Jamie Sports Team Drinkers 4.0 4.0
A03 Chloe Fitness Class Friends 3.9 3.9
A04 Leanne Supportive Singles 3.6 3.5
B05 Helena Career Focused Females 3.5 3.5
B06 Tim Settling Down Males 9.1 9.0
B07 Alison Stay at Home Mums 5.6 5.5
B08 Jackie Middle England Mums 6.0 6.0
B09 Kev Pub League Team Mates 5.2 5.1
B10 Paula Stretched Single Mums 4.1 4.0
C11 Philip Comfortable Mid-Life Males 9.8 9.7
C12 Elaine Empty Nest Career Ladies 6.0 5.9
C13 Roger & Joy Early Retirement Couples 8.9 8.8
C14 Brenda Older Working Women 4.6 4.6
C15 Terry Local ‘Old Boys’ 3.8 3.8
C16 Norma Later Life Ladies 1.8 1.8
D17 Ralph & Phyllis Comfortable Retired Couples 3.5 3.4
D18 Frank Twilight Year Gents 4.9 4.9
D19 Elsie & Arnold Retirement Home Singles 8.7 8.6
 Total 101.1 100.1

Source: Sport England and Experian Ltd, 2010, Measure: Sport Market Segmentation

The largest market segment (9.7% of the Swale population) is “Philip”, Comfortable Mid-
Life Males.  This means that, of the 19, the greatest proportion would benefit from 
initiatives that appeal to “Philip” and “Tim” (Settling Down Males - 9.0%); sports such as 
cycling, keep fit/gym, swimming and football.  However, “Roger & Joy” (early retirement 
couples - 8.8%) whose preferred sports are keep fit/gym, swimming and cycling and Elsie 
& Arnold (retirement home singles – 8.6%) who are likely to participate in keep fit/gym, 
swimming and bowling are also significant. 

Page 125



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

14

3.3: Top 5 sports

Active People Survey 5 (APS5) and population data from the ONS Annual Population 
Survey 2011 identify that the top five participation sports in Swale are swimming, football, 
gym, cycling and athletics as illustrated below.  Only football features as an outdoor pitch 
sport but participation rates are higher than regional and national figures.  

Table 3.3: Top 5 sports in Swale with regional and national comparison: 

Swale South East EnglandSport
Number Rate (%) Number Rate (%) Number Rate (%)

Swimming 14.8 14.3% 828.0 12.2% 4,838.8 11.6%
Gym 10.9 10.5% 696.6 10.3% 4,494.2 10.7%
Cycling 10.0 9.7% 732.9 10.8% 3,875.0 9.3%
Football 5.7 5.6% 435.6 6.4% 3,103.1 7.4%
Athletics 3.5 3.4% 470.5 6.9% 2,698.5 6.5%

Source: Active People Survey 5, Population data: ONS Annual Population Survey 2011

3.4: Clubmark 

‘Playing to Win’ was the previous Government’s plan to get more people participating in 
sport. Its stated vision was to give more people of all ages the opportunity to participate in 
high quality competitive sport through development of an integrated and sustainable 
sporting system that nurtures and develops sporting talent, underpinned by a high quality 
club and competition structure.

Sports clubs, and, in particular, Clubmark accredited clubs directly support this aim. They 
are externally assessed to ensure they achieve minimum operating standards, regardless 
of the NGB to which they affiliate. Evidence collected independently of NGB’s suggests 
that they have, over the past two years, increased junior participation, raised the number 
of active, qualified coaches and improved levels of coach qualification, thus making them, 
in their own view and that of the evaluators, more effective and sustainable community 
sports clubs. Swale has 27 Clubmark accredited clubs and 4 currently ‘working towards’ 
accreditation for the sports included in this report. 

The following table lists sports with Clubmark accreditation, plus those working towards 
accreditation in Swale that use outdoor sport and recreation facilities.

Table 3.4: Clubmark accredited clubs in the Borough:

Sport Accredited Working towards Totals
Football 18 0 18
Hockey 2 0 2
Cricket 5 4 9
Rugby union 2 0 2
Rugby league 0 0 0
Total 27 4 31

Page 126



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

15

PART 4: PLAYING PITCH STRATEGY METHODOLOGY

This section of the report details the methodology which has been followed to deliver the 
findings. The assessment and analysis in this report is based on Sport England’s (SE) 
playing pitch strategy methodology, ‘Towards a Level Playing Field’ (2003). This outlines 
specific criteria for assessing the quantity, quality, capacity and accessibility of playing 
pitches and ancillary facilities. It provides clear guidance on assessment of supply and 
demand for sports pitches and the types and levels of analysis required in order for the 
local authority to plan effectively to meet local needs. 

4.1: Playing Pitch Model (PPM)

The PPM is a temporal supply and demand analysis and is largely applied as a numerical 
model. The model is used in three ways:

 To reflect the existing situation using data on existing teams and pitches.
 To test the adequacy of current provision by manipulating the variables in the model.
 To predict future requirements for pitches, by incorporating planned pitches and 

projected changes in population and participation.

An eight-stage process has been followed to produce the PPM:

Table 4.1: PPM eight stage process

Stage Process
1 Identifying teams/team equivalents.
2 Calculating home games per team per week.
3 Assessing total home games per week.
4 Establishing temporal demand for games.
5 Defining pitches used/required on each day.
6 Establishing pitches available.
7 Assessing the findings.
8 Identifying policy options and actions.

Stages one to seven of this process are covered in this report. Stage eight will be covered 
in the Strategy document.

The ‘electronic toolkit’, which accompanies ‘Towards a Level Playing Field’, provides tools 
for collecting some of the information above and has been used by KKP as part of this 
assessment. In addition, expertise held within the local authority such as grounds 
maintenance staff as well as the Greenspaces Manager was also factored into this 
assessment. 

‘Team equivalents’ refers to use of pitches by groups other than those playing formal 
matches. It is important to assess the relative impact of different types of activity on the 
supply of pitches. This includes school games lessons, club and school training sessions, 
sports development sessions etc. By including these in the ‘demand equation’ a more 
accurate picture is presented. Information from schools and clubs was collected using the 
electronic toolkit school and club surveys. A list of team equivalents used in this Strategy 
is summarised in Appendix Two. 

Page 127



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

16

Team identification has been undertaken via consultation with leagues, as well as with 
governing bodies of sport and clubs. 

The ownership and accessibility of sports pitches will also influence their actual 
availability for community use. The term ‘secured community use’ has been adopted to 
define this. This is likely to embrace:

 All local authority facilities.
 School facilities where they are subject to formal community use agreements.
 Other institutional facilities that are available to the public as a result of formal 

community use agreements.
 Any facilities that are owned, used or maintained by clubs/private individuals and 

which, as a matter of policy and practice, are available to large sections of the public 
through membership of a club or through an admission fee. The cost of use must be 
considered reasonable and affordable by the majority of the community.  

Auditing sports pitches and assessing the level of availability is largely achieved through 
site visits. 

Sources of where supply information was sought are summarised in Appendix One. 

Pitch quality information

It should be noted that the club and school surveys and the non-technical pitch 
assessment sheet in the electronic toolkit all have different scales for rating the quality of 
pitches and ancillary facilities. On this basis, KKP uses the ‘non-technical pitch 
assessment sheet’ to assess all pitches in order that consistent information is presented. 
A copy of the non–technical pitch assessments can be found in appendix three.  All 
information relating to sports pitches across Swale is collated in the project playing pitch 
database (supplied as an electronic file). All sites included within the audit, as identified 
by SBC, supplemented by KKP and assessed by KKP are included within the KKP project 
database.

The pitch assessment sheet is a ‘tick box’ assessment, as provided in Towards a Level 
Playing Field toolkit, which rates various elements of pitch quality with a separate 
assessment sheet for changing accommodation. It should be noted that the pitch 
assessment also takes into account whether changing rooms and car parking exist on the 
site. However, the total pitch score is not significantly affected.

This information is scored, converted into a percentage (of the highest score possible) 
and also into a qualitative rating. The qualitative ratings for pitch quality are: 

90% + An excellent pitch
64-90% A good pitch
55-64% An average pitch
30-54% A below average pitch
Less than 30% A poor pitch

 
For ease of analysis, KKP has combined this into a three-point scale. In this report 
pitches are rated as:

 An excellent pitch or good pitch = good quality.
 An average pitch = adequate quality.

Page 128



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

17

 A below average pitch or poor pitch = poor quality.

The qualitative ratings for changing accommodation quality are listed as:

90% + Excellent 
60-89% Good
40-59% Average
30-39% Poor
Less than 30% Very poor

Capacity

KKP has developed a capacity rating for football and rugby pitches (union and league) 
based on the quality rating given to pitches and the number of teams currently playing at 
the site (identified through league handbooks, local authority booking sheets and 
consultation with clubs). These capacity ratings assist in the identification of sites for 
improvement/development, rationalisation and similar decision making processes. 

Capacity analysis for cricket is measured on a season rather than weekly basis. This is 
due to playability i.e. only one match is generally played per pitch per day at the weekend 
or evening during the week. Wickets are rotated throughout the season to reduce wear 
and allow repair Therefore it is more accurate to assess capacity seasonally rather than 
weekly. The capacity of a pitch to accommodate match sessions is driven by the number 
and quality of wickets. This section presents the current pitch stock available for cricket in 
Swale. It illustrates: 

 Number of grass and artificial cricket wickets per pitch
 Number of competitive matches per season per pitch 

To help calculate pitch capacity, the ECB suggests that a good quality wicket should be 
able to take: 

 5 matches per season per grass wicket (adults)
 60 matches per season per synthetic wicket (adults)

Play refers to temporal demand or when the teams play. A figure of 1.0 in this column for 
instance would be representative of two teams using that pitch on a home and away basis 
(every other week). This means that that pitch is carrying one game at that time every 
week. 

Calculation of capacity is based on the qualitative ratings. Taking into consideration SE 
guidelines1 on capacity, pitches have thus been identified to have the following capacity 
ratings:

 If a pitch is rated as ‘good’ its capacity is specified as two matches per week
 If a pitch is rated as ‘acceptable’ its capacity is specified as one match per week
 If a pitch is rated as ‘poor’ its capacity is specified as 0.5 match every other week 

1 Sport England – ‘Towards a Level Playing Field’

Page 129



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

18

School pitches have been issued with a different capacity rating. This is due to the fact 
that they generally experience higher usage through curricular and extracurricular school 
based use. It is possible to enter team equivalents into the database in order to calculate 
equivalent demand for school pitches. However, due to a lack of consistent information 
from schools it is not possible to be entirely accurate. Therefore, school pitches are 
identified as having the following capacity ratings in relation to community use:

 If a pitch is rated as ‘good’ its capacity is specified as four matches per week
 If a pitch is rated as ‘acceptable’ its capacity is specified as two matches per week
 If a pitch is rated as ‘poor’ its capacity is specified as one match every other week

Using the pitch database, it is possible to enter scenarios and alter the carrying capacity 
of school and council pitches. This means that it is possible to see how many, if any extra 
pitches become available. 

A colour coded rating is then given by comparing the above information:

 Red - the pitch is being used over capacity
 Amber - the pitch is played to capacity
 Green - the pitch is being used under capacity

Where it is indicated that the level of provision is ‘sufficient’, this indicates that none of the 
pitches in the area (for the particular sports), are rated as poor quality and/or played ‘over 
capacity’, nor has any latent demand been identified by users. This is not to say that 
improvements to sites are not required. Conversely, where an insufficient level of 
provision is identified, this is because one or more sites/pitches have been rated as poor 
quality and/or are being over-played and/or latent demand has been expressed.

Following consultation with league secretaries, it is noted that U15, U16 and U17 teams 
play on senior sized football pitches. The capacity rating does not take into account this 
type of play (i.e. juniors playing on senior pitches). Where a large number of junior/mini 
teams play on a site, particularly if they are playing on senior pitches this can result in 
those pitches being overplayed on the capacity rating. Many grounds are able to 
withstand more matches being played on by junior/mini teams than senior teams.  

A number of provisos need to be taken into account as there may be discrepancies 
between the SE visual rating and the consultation comments. For instance, schools may 
have been rated as poor via the SE rating and acceptable/good through consultation. This 
may arise as the SE quality assessment increases rating if changing accommodation is 
available. A number of schools do not make changing accommodation available for 
community use.

Sources of demand (refer to Appendix One)

A variety of consultation methods is used to collate demand information. Face to face 
consultation was carried out with a number of stakeholders including National Governing 
Body officers, Swale Borough Council officers, key league officials, clubs in each sport 
and education establishments (primary/secondary schools and higher and further 
education). This allowed for collection of detailed demand information and exploration of 
key issues to be interrogated and more accurately assessed. 

For data analysis purposes an online survey (converted to postal if required) was utilised. 
This was sent to all clubs/schools not covered by face to face consultation. 

Page 130



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

19

In the first instance, a direct count of teams can be made by using a number of sources (a 
full summary of courses can be found in Appendix One) including:

 Governing body, county association handbooks and league handbooks
 Interviews with league secretaries
 Booking records for local authority, educational and other pitches (where available – 

this will also supply information on patterns of play/temporal demand)
 Sports club directories 
 Local press and telephone directories
 Local knowledge.

Following this an accurate tally of the number of teams and other users of the pitches and 
the existing pattern of play and temporal demand was established. 

Table 4.2: Consultation - methods and response rates

Sport Response 
rate

Methods of consultation

Football clubs1 45%
Football teams2 66%

Survey and telephone 

Cricket clubs 68% Survey and telephone
Rugby union clubs 100% Survey and telephone
Hockey clubs 100% Survey and telephone
Secondary schools 88% Survey and site visit
Primary schools 76% Survey

Sport England was also included within the consultation process prior to the project 
commencing. Issues identified by clubs returning surveys were followed up by telephone 
or face to face interviews.

No displaced demand was identified during the consultation. 

Sources of supply (refer to Appendix One)

A variety of consultation methods is used to collate supply information. Initially a scrape of 
Sport England’s Active Places was undertaken in Swale to identify the provision of 
outdoor sports facilities. In addition, face to face and survey consultation was carried out 
with providers of playing pitches including Swale Borough Council, education 
establishments, private companies as well as national governing bodies of sport. This 
allowed for collection of detailed supply information in relation to type, size and number of 
pitches, availability (and size) and quality of ancillary facilities, sports accommodated, 
condition and quality. 

In addition via consultation KKP explored the availability of pitches at different times 
particularly in relation to community use of education establishments. 

1 KKP contacted outstanding clubs on three occasions to attempt to improve the response rate. 
Key leagues servicing the area were consulted and supported the study by distributing surveys 
and hosting an online survey on their league website. 
2 Playing in Swale

Page 131



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

20

Analysis areas

For mapping purposes and audit analysis, Swale is divided into three analysis areas (to 
reflect council boundary areas and the analysis areas used in the previous PPP in 2008). 
These allow more localised assessment of provision and examination of facility surplus 
and deficiencies at a local level. Use of analysis areas also allows local circumstances 
and issues to be taken into account. Swale is therefore, broken down into the following 
areas:

 Faversham 
 Sheppey 
 Sittingbourne  

Figure 4.1: Analysis areas in Swale 

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number 100020577.Created by Knight, Kavanagh & Page (www.kkp.co.uk)

MAIDSTONE

MEDWAY

ASHFORD

CANTERBURY

THURROCK

Faversham

Sheppey

Sittingbourne

Swale
Analysis Areas

Analysis area boundaries

Population density per square mile

40,400 to 40,500
16,000 to 40,400
12,100 to 16,000
7,900 to 12,100
5,400 to 7,900
3,200 to 5,400
2,200 to 3,200

700 to 2,200
300 to 700
100 to 300

Page 132



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

21

PART 5: FOOTBALL 

5.1: Introduction

Football is a key sport in Swale at both competitive and recreational level. The Kent 
Football Association (KFA) is the primary organisation responsible for football 
development (and some elements of administration) in Swale. It is also responsible for 
the administration, in terms of discipline, rules and regulations, cup competitions and 
representative matches, development of clubs and facilities, referees, coaching courses 
and delivering national football schemes.  

Investment in improved facilities is a key aspect of delivering the county and national 
strategic goals. In order to achieve this, the FA and the Football Foundation have a 
number of funding opportunities3 which is summarised in the Table 5.1 below. 

Table 5.1: FA and Football Foundation funding opportunities

Scheme Description 
Facilities scheme Aimed at developing new or improved facilities for community 

benefit. This includes changing rooms or clubhouse, grades of 
artificial pitches and multi-use games areas. 

Build the Game Scheme Small grants for small facilities projects. 
Grow the Game Small projects that aim to increase participation by both players 

and volunteers in grass roots football by supporting the costs 
associated with providing new activity.

9v9 Goalposts scheme Provides grants for the new 9v9 format introduced as a result of 
the FA’s Youth Development Review.

The Premier League 
Community Facility Fund 

This scheme can be accessed by professional clubs through their 
community organisations and is managed and administered by 
the Football Foundation. The overall aim is to provide facilities 
aligned to professional club community-led inclusion schemes 
which will serve to increase sports participation and physical 
activity. 

FA Youth Development Review 

The FA has consulted widely and has been encouraged to produce national pitch sizes for 
mini soccer (5V5 and 7v7), Youth football 9v9 and 11v11) and over 18 senior football 
(11v11). This will see an increased use of small-sided games for all age groups up to 
U12s. This will allow children to progress gradually through age-appropriate formats. The 
entry point for U7s and U8s will be the 5v5 game. U9s and U10s will then step up to 7v7, 
followed by a new 9v9 level for U11s and U12s. 

3 http://www.footballfoundation.org.uk/our-schemes/

Page 133

http://www.footballfoundation.org.uk/our-schemes/


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

22

Table 5.2: Summary of each step and the appropriate pitch and goal sizes

Age Format Pitch size without 
runoff

(Length x width 
yards)

Pitch size
including runoff 4
(Length x width 

yards)

Recommended 
size of goal posts
(Height x width ft)

Mini soccer 
U7/U8

5 v 5 40 x 30 46 x 36 6 x 12

Mini soccer 
U9/U10

7 v 7 50 x 40 66 x 46 6 x 12

Youth 11/12 9 v 9 80 x 50 86 x 56 7 x 16
Youth 13/14 11 v 11 90 x 55 96 x 61 7 x 21
Youth 15/16 11 v 11 100 x 60 106 x 66 8 x 24
Youth 17/18 11 v 11 110 x 70 116 x 76 8 x 24
Over 18           
(senior ages)

11 v 11 110 x 70 116 x 76 8 x 24

Playing smaller-sided games has been proved to give children an increased number of 
touches of the ball, while providing more goals and scoring attempts, more one-v-one 
encounters and more chance to attempt dribbling skills. It is this increased contact time 
with the ball that the FA believe will help children enjoy the game more while providing 
them with better preparation for the 11-a-side a game.

The introduction of 9v9 football, by the FA, is designed to help bridge the gap between 
mini soccer at U10s and 11-a-side at U11s and will see the introduction of a new 
intermediate sized pitch. 

The FA report where there is limited space, there is the ability to mark out 9v9 pitches 
across a full size pitch. 

It is identified that 15 9v9 pitches are needed to satisfy demand (based on 27 teams 
currently competing in Swale aged U11) in Swale. There are no major issues identified in 
relation to the future provision of 9v9 pitches in Swale.

Through marking out two 9v9 pitches on one senior pitch this will thus help to meet the 
shortfall of junior pitches identified at peak times. However, specific 9v9 goals 
(recommended size 7 x 16 ft) would be required. Funding for the purchase of new 9v9 
goalposts is available through the Football Foundation:
(http://www.footballfoundation.org.uk). 

The proposals will become mandatory from 2013/14 season. 

Consultation 

An electronic survey was sent to all football clubs playing in Swale and telephone 
interviews were conducted with key clubs. Contact details were provided by Kent KFA 
and the invitation to complete the survey was distributed via email (by KKP). The survey 
was completed by 37 clubs (equating to a 45% club return rate and a 66% team return 
rate) playing on pitches in Swale. Results are used to inform key issues within this section 
of the report.

4 Including runoff (safety area around pitch)

Page 134

http://www.footballfoundation.org.uk/


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

23

5.2: Current provision 

The audit identifies 68 sites, providing a total of 142 football pitches across Swale. Of 
these sites, 56% of sites (equivalent of 96 pitches) are available for community use. Most 
of the pitches not available for community use are located on school sites and tend to 
comprise junior pitches. The consequences of the pitch supply and related demand is 
discussed later in this section. 

Table 5.3: Summary of pitches available for community use 

A number of pitches have been excluded from the supply and demand analysis because 
there are no teams currently playing on the site and/or because they are not available for 
community use (referenced in Table 5.4). These sites could offer potential 
capacity/additional pitches if the current supply does not meet expressed demand. 

Of the clubs which responded to the survey, 26% own their home ground and 23% lease 
their home ground. However, over half of clubs (52%) annually hire a pitch. Nine out of 
ten clubs are currently playing at their preferred home ground.

Accessibility

Whilst it is noted that at mini and junior level, the majority of players tend to play for teams 
with home grounds close to where they live and will only travel locally, players aspiring to 
play at clubs that are perceived to offer a higher standard of experience are willing to 
travel further (e.g., up to five miles) to play. The club survey reveals that just over half 
(52%) of players travel between two and five miles, 26% travel up to two miles, with 23% 
travelling over five miles. This suggests that in general terms, players travel locally to 
compete. 

 

No. of available football pitches   Analysis area
Senior Junior Mini

 Faversham 17 2 4
 Sheppey 11 4 1
 Sittingbourne 36 14 6
 SWALE 64 20 11

Page 135



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                             3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                      24

Figure 5.1: Location and capacity of football pitches in Swale   

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number 100020577.Created by Knight, Kavanagh & Page (www.kkp.co.uk)

MAIDSTONE

MEDWAY

ASHFORD

CANTERBURY

Sittingbourne

4030
96

89

74

102

87
56

32
52

53
41

4919

50
25 2

66

90

11

91

7846

64

14
3124

94

347016

92
18

82

76

21
86

105

104

80

3

29

83
38

36
72

85

43

22

81
5

10

7755

20

28

9

3344
84

88

15

7

95
79

61

35

THURROCK

Faversham

Sheppey

Swale - Football Pitches
Assessed by Quality / Capacity

Over-used
At Guidance Level
Under-used
No Community Use

Analysis Areas

Analysis area boundaries

Population density per square mile

40,400 to 40,500
16,000 to 40,400
12,100 to 16,000
7,900 to 12,100
5,400 to 7,900
3,200 to 5,400
2,200 to 3,200

700 to 2,200
300 to 700
100 to 300

P
age 136



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    25

Table 5.4: Key to map of football pitches  

Site Name KKP 
Ref

Analysis area Community 
use

Senior Junior Mini

Bull Lane Recreation Ground 3 Faversham No 1
Bysing Wood Primary School 88 Faversham No 1
Courtenay Road Playing 
Field 7 Faversham Yes 1

Davington Primary School 55 Faversham Yes 2
Eastling Primary School 79 Faversham No 1 1
Faversham Recreation 
Ground 9 Faversham Yes 3

Frognal Playing Field 11 Faversham Yes 2
Graveney Primary School 77 Faversham No 1
Hernhill Recreation Ground 15 Faversham Yes 1
King Georges Playing Field 
(The Mount) 20 Faversham Yes 1 1 2

Ospringe C Of E  Primary 
School 84 Faversham No 3

Queen Elizabeth Grammar 
School 28 Faversham Yes 4

Salters Lane 33 Faversham Yes 2
Sharsted Sports Club 61 Faversham Yes 1
Sheldwich Primary School 95 Faversham No 1
Teynham Parochial C of E 
Primary School 90 Faversham No 2

The Abbey School 44 Faversham Yes 3
Chilham Sports Centre 101 OUTSIDE Yes 1
Co-Op Sports And Social 
Club 5 Sheppey Yes 1 1

Eastchurch Church of 
England Primary School 86 Sheppey No 1

Festival Playing Field 10 Sheppey Yes 1 1
Halfway Houses Primary 
School 83 Sheppey No 1

Isle of Sheppey Academy 
(East Site) 104 Sheppey No 2

King Georges Playing Field 
(Queensborough) 21 Sheppey Yes 1 1

Leysdown Coastal Park (The 
Fortress) 22 Sheppey Yes 1

Minster In Sheppey Primary 
School 81 Sheppey No 1

Queenborough Primary & 
Nursery School 85 Sheppey No 1

Range Road Football Ground 29 Sheppey Yes 1
Seager Road Sports Ground 35 Sheppey Yes 2
Sheerness East FC 36 Sheppey Yes 2
Sheerness Steel 72 Sheppey Yes 2
Sheppy Sports Club 38 Sheppey Yes 2
St George's C of E Primary 
School 43 Sheppey No 1 1

Thistle Hill, Minster 105 Sheppey No 1
Westminster Primary School 80 Sheppey No 1
Bapchild & Tonge C of E   
Primary School 96 Sittingbourne No 1

Borden Grammar School 53 Sittingbourne Yes 1 2

Page 137



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    26

Site Name KKP 
Ref

Analysis area Community 
use

Senior Junior Mini

Bourne Park 2 Sittingbourne Yes 2
Bredgar Church of England 
Primary School 76 Sittingbourne No 1

East Hall Recreation Ground 66 Sittingbourne No 1 2
Fulston Manor School 
(Cromers Corner) 102 Sittingbourne Yes 2

Grove Park Community 
Primary School 14 Sittingbourne Yes 1

Hartlip Endowed C of E 
Primary School 82 Sittingbourne No 1

Highstead Grammar School 56 Sittingbourne No 5
Holywell Meadow 16 Sittingbourne Yes 2
Iwade Community Primary 
School 70 Sittingbourne Yes 1

Iwade Recreation Ground 34 Sittingbourne No 1 1
Kemsley Primary School 92 Sittingbourne No 1
Kemsley Recreation Ground 18 Sittingbourne Yes 1 1
King Georges Playing Field 
(Sittingbourne) 19 Sittingbourne Yes 3

Lansdowne Primary School 89 Sittingbourne No 1
Lower Halstow School 94 Sittingbourne No 1
Milton Court Junior School 91 Sittingbourne No 1
Milton Recreation Ground 24 Sittingbourne Yes 3
Minterne Junior School 78 Sittingbourne No 3
Murston Junior School 25 Sittingbourne No 1
Rectory Playing Field 30 Sittingbourne No 2
Regis Manor Community 
Primary School 31 Sittingbourne Yes 4

Rodmersham Cricket Club 32 Sittingbourne Yes 2
Rodmersham Junior School 87 Sittingbourne No 1
Sittingbourne Community 
College Sports Ctre. 40 Sittingbourne Yes 6 3

Sittingbourne Recreation 
Ground 41 Sittingbourne Yes 2

South Avenue Infant School 74 Sittingbourne No 1
The Playstool 46 Sittingbourne Yes 1
Uk Paper Leisure Club 49 Sittingbourne Yes 4 2
Westlands School 64 Sittingbourne Yes 3
Woodcombe Sports & Social 
Club 50 Sittingbourne Yes 2 1 2

Woodstock Park 52 Sittingbourne Yes 4 1

Figure 5.1 indicates that there is generally a good distribution of football pitches across 
Swale. In broad terms this reflects the patterns of population density with the majority of 
the population being able to access a football pitch within a 15-minute drive time (see 
service area map, Appendix 5) with only a number of areas around Faversham (Conyer, 
Uplees, Graveley) and Sheppey (Leydown-on-sea) that are located on the periphery of a 
15 minute catchment area.

Eight sites have high levels of use and as such are overplayed (red dots on the map). 
Overplayed sites are often affected by quality, and subsequently playing capacity. It 
should also be noted that a large number of sites are highlighted as having no community 
use (blue dots on the map). More sites (a total of 11) with no community use are located 
in the Sittingbourne Analysis Area. 

Page 138



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    27

A total of seven, 20 junior and 10 mini pitches are located at school sites which are not 
available for community use. 

Pitch quality

Site assessments suggest that generally the quality of pitches across Swale is ‘good’5. 
However, consultation with the leagues indicates that pitch quality often deteriorates 
towards the end of the playing season due to overplay of local authority pitches. 

Over half of clubs (58%) state that there has been no difference in the quality of the 
pitches since the previous playing season. Nearly a quarter (23%) of clubs suggests that 
quality has actually improved. 

League consultation highlights that better quality pitches are generally not accessible for 
competitive matches. For example, Queenborough Primary School is regarded as a good 
site; however, the pitches are not available for community use. 

In general, sports clubs have dedicated groundsmen or volunteers to maintain the pitches 
and they are often secured by fencing which helps to prevent unofficial use. The 
maintenance and use of Council sites tends to be less frequent and the unofficial use at 
these sites further exacerbates quality issues. Both Albany and Kemsey recreation 
grounds are regarded by leagues as the poorest quality sites with no access to changing 
facilities. Leagues report that despite the quality these sites are popular with clubs and are 
well used due to the cost i.e. it is cheaper (by £31.00) to access a senior pitch with no 
changing than it is a site which has changing provision.  

SBC sites are managed in-house but maintained by grounds maintenance contractor, 
Blenwood Grounds Maintenance (BGM). Pitch specification works take place during the 
season and reinstatement work is undertaken at the end of each season to prepare for the 
next. Line markings and removal of dog fouling and litter is undertaken by BGM. Grass 
cutting usually takes place on a fortnightly basis unless a more frequent cut is identified/ 
required. Soil analysis is undertaken which helps to determine the required treatment. 
Specialist maintenance such as fertilizing, re cultivating and land spiking is also 
undertaken. Grass length on pitches located on Sheppey is purposely left longer to help 
with the moisture of pitches.

SBC owned sites assessed as poor quality include, Festival and Rectory playing fields 
and Sittingbourne Recreation Ground.  The remaining pitches are assessed as good or 
average quality6. The table below summarises pitch quality, following site visits to all 
pitches (including those not available for community use). The quality of pitches should 
not be considered in isolation as the level of play on a site can affect the quality, (see 
Table 5.13 which also outlines current site capacity issues).

5 Site assessments were completed by KKP and Swale Borough Council in November 2012
6 KKP site visits took place in Sept/Oct 2012. It should be noted that pitches were assessed during 
periods of inclement weather. Also, football posts may not have been present. 

Page 139



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    28

Table 5.5: Pitch quality assessments following site visits (all sites regardless of community 
use) 

Senior pitches Junior pitches Mini pitches
70 42 21

Good Average Poor Good Average Poor Good Average Poor
52 6 12 26 12 4 15 5 1

The table below summarises the quality of pitches that are just available for community 
use. There are seven senior two junior and one mini pitches assessed as poor quality. 

Table 5.6: Pitch quality assessments of community use pitches following site visits  

Senior pitches Junior pitches Mini pitches
60 19 11

Good Average Poor Good Average Poor Good Average Poor
47 6 7 9 8 2 6 4 1

Poor drainage leading to water logging and as a result insufficient maintenance is often 
attributed to pitch quality levels. A brief summary of site specific issues identified from 
user consultation is presented below.

Table 5.7: Site specific comments

Site Comments
Faversham Recreation Ground Trees branches over hang one touch line. Users report 

the quality of the changing provision is poor and in 
need of refurbishment. Consultation suggests there is 
not enough changing provision at peak times to cater 
for all users of the site (football and rugby users).  

Frognal Playing Field Rabbit holes are an issue on the pitches. 

Fulston School (Cromers Corner) off 
site playing fields 

Users believe the football pitches are undersized. 

Milton Recreation Ground Pitch is regarded as being ‘poor’ quality with issues of 
dog foul and litter is highlighted. Site assessments 
score the pitch as ‘good’ quality. 

School Lane Playing Field (also known 
as Iwade Recreation Ground) 

Issue of dog foul and litter is highlighted. At present the 
site is owned by a farmer and is leased annually to 
Iwade Parish Council.  Planning permission has been 
approved to build changing provision at the site  (as 
part of a Section 106 agreement). 

Sharsted Sports Club The pitch is on a slope and the grass wears away 
quick when wet. 

Sheerness East FC (Also known as 
Sheerness Working Mens Club) 

Pitches often become waterlogged after heavy rainfall. 

Sheppey Sports Club Poor drainage at one end of the site. Users believe the 
drains may have collapsed. The changing rooms are 
dated although well maintained. 

Sittingbourne Community College One of the football pitches (designated as M2) is 
undersized. Users report the pitch is generally well 
maintained throughout the season but there is demand 

Page 140



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    29

Site Comments
for more regularly grass cutting particularly towards the 
end of the playing season. 

UK Paper Leisure Club Ground is boggy during inclement weather and is 
undulating. The pitches also have poor grass 
coverage. 

Woodstock Park An area of the site suffers from poor drainage.  Trees 
located at one end of the pitch often means the pitches 
stay frozen longer. 

Thistle Hill, Minster The site is currently being constructed and being 
delivered through a Section 106 agreement. The 
development includes a senior football pitch with 
drainage and an irrigation system. It is envisaged that 
the football pitch will be available for community use. 
Changing provision may be accessed from the 
adjacent (new build) village hall which comprises good 
quality changing rooms. 

Unofficial use

Unofficial use is an issue which impacts upon the quality of pitches across Swale. Several 
clubs report issues with vehicles on pitches. Woodstock Park FC highlights vehicles 
accessing the pitches at Woodstock Park is a regular issue despite the site being fenced. 

Booking and cancellations 

Pitch bookings are made centrally through the Council via an application form at the 
beginning of each season. Pitch allocation is prioritised for teams that have previously 
used the site and also a ‘first come, first served’ basis. Consultation suggests that this 
method of pitch allocation works well. A telephone ‘hotline’ can be accessed by users on a 
Friday to determine whether their respective pitch is playable.  Where the Council cancels 
the booking or in the case of inclement weather making play impossible the Club has the 
hire fee credited/refunded. 

Clubs accessing local authority pitches served by changing provision are responsible for 
the opening and closure of changing pavilions. However, caretakers are employed at local 
authority sites King George Playing Field and Mitton Recreation Ground. 

Consultation identifies that a number of clubs believe the pitch fees for Swale are 
expensive compared to local authority pitches. When compared to the prices for renting 
neighbouring local authority pitches, Swale is second cheapest. In addition, Swale’s 
current cost for renting junior and mini pitches is the cheapest. 

Page 141



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    30

Table 5.8: Summary of neighbouring pitch fees 2012/2013 

2012/2013 charges
Football Swale 

Borough 
Council

Ashford 
Borough 
Council7

Medway 
Council

Canterbury 
Council

Maidstone 
Borough 
Council

Senior pitch with 
changing 

£60.00 £45.00 £80.00 £67.20 £64.00 - £73.00

Junior pitch with 
changing 

£13.50 £40.00 From 
£24.50

£25.20 £34.50

Mini pitch with 
changing 

£8.50 £30.008 From 
£24.50

£27.00 £34.50

Senior pitch no 
changing 

£31.00 - - £57.00 £50.00

Junior pitch no 
changing 

£8.50 - - - £20.50

Mini pitch with no 
changing 

£8.50 - - - £20.50

Ancillary facilities

Of responding clubs, 87% have access to changing facilities. Of these clubs, less than 
half (42%) rate the facilities as good quality. A further 42% rate the quality of changing 
facilities as being poor and a small proportion (15%) regard the changing to be poor. This 
reinforces the overall perception that changing facilities, where provision exists, in Swale 
is generally adequate. This does not reflect that sites do exist where there is no changing 
facilities available.

In general, no major issues with the quality of changing facilities are highlighted. However, 
Sheppey Sunday League suggests there are sites used by a number of its teams which 
are not served by changing provision. For example: Sittingbourne Recreation Ground, 
Kemsley Recreation Ground (both two pitch sites) and King George V Playing Field, 
Queensborough (one pitch site). As a result, players often change close to the pitch or in 
the car park. Whilst at present it does not enforce the need for access to such provision, 
the League is considering a requirement that all teams have access to onsite changing.  

7 Winter price charges 
8 For a 5 and 7 a side pitch

Page 142



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    31

Facility development

A significant number of clubs in Swale report specific pitch/facility developments which are 
summarised below: 

Table 5.9: Facility development plans

Site/club Development
Faversham Town FC The Club has ongoing plans to improve the main and second 

pitch at its home ground. The changing rooms are dated and in 
need of refurbishment. Its long term aspiration is to replace its 
clubhouse facility which is also dated. 
It is in ongoing discussions with the Duchy of Cornwall to acquire 
farmland which could potentially be converted into football 
pitches. However, external funding would be required for this 
development. 

Faversham Strike Force FC The Club has obtained external funding to convert disused tennis 
courts into an AGP at King Georges Playing Field. 

Woodstock Park FC A new stand will be erected in the forthcoming months which will 
complete its Step 5 FA Ground Grading Requirements.

Sheerness East FC The Club is looking to replace its dilapidated changing rooms. 
Old Oak FC Its facility development plans include refurbishment of its 

clubhouse and installation of an all weather pitch to accommodate 
its training requirements. 

Range Rovers FC SBC has offered a 125 year lease of the Seagar Road to the Club 
under the Council’s Community Asset Transfer Policy. 
The Club has plans to increase the number of football pitches at 
the site to accommodate the FA Youth Development Review pitch 
sizes (it currently accommodates two senior football pitches). It 
reports it would also allow wider community use of the site to 
other local teams. 

New Road FC SBC has offered a 125 year lease of its homeground to the Club 
under the Council’s Community Asset Transfer Policy. The Club 
has plans to replace the existing clubhouse . 

Training facilities

Nearly a quarter of clubs (23%) report that training takes place on their home ground 
pitch; other clubs train elsewhere at the home ground or off site. It appears that clubs are 
aware of the need to protect the quality of pitches for competitive use. Clubs stating they 
train off site often use an AGP or indoor facility. 

Page 143



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                             3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                               32

Artificial grass pitches (AGPs)

The FA has an aspiration to provide every affiliated team in England the opportunity to one hour of AGP training each week on a floodlit AGP 
facility.  There are six full size AGPs located in Swale (see figure 5.2 overleaf), of which three, currently have a third generation turf (3G) 
surface: 

Table 5.10: Summary of AGP provision in Swale

Site KKP 
Ref

Analysis 
area

Year 
built 

Refurbished 
since built 

Size 
(meters)

Surface Quantity Floodlit Community use hours9 

The Abbey School 44 Faversham 2012 No (built in 
2012) 

106 x 70 3G 1 Yes Mon–Fri: school close 21:30 
Saturday: 10:00 – 20:00 
Sunday: 10:00 – 17:00 

Isle of Sheppey 
Academy

54 Sheppey 2004 No 110 x 70 3G 1 Yes Mon – Fri: 16:30 – 21:30 
Weekends: 09:00 – 21:30 

Sittingbourne 
Community College 
Sports Centre

40 Sittingbourne 2007 No 100 x 60 3G 1 Yes Mon – Fri: 17:00 – 22:30  
Weekends: 09:00 – 21:00

Sittingbourne 
Community College 
Sports Centre

40 Sittingbourne 2007 No 100 x 60 Sand filled 1 Yes Mon – Fri: 17:00 – 22:30  
Weekends: 09:00 – 21:00

Borden Grammar 
School

53 Sittingbourne 2003 No 110 x 70 Sand filled 1 Yes Mon – Fri: 17:00 – 21:30
Weekends: 09:00 – 18:00 

Westlands School 64 Sittingbourne 1992 Yes (2006) 100 x 60 Sand filled 1 Yes Mon – Fri: 17:00 – 22:00  
Weekends: 09:00 – 22:00

9 Indicative opening hours based on a Winter term-time schedule 

P
age 144



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                             3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                               33

Figure 5.2. Location of AGP sites in Swale

P
age 145



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                     3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    34

All AGPs in Swale are available for community use both during the week and at 
weekends. Westlands School has the oldest AGP (built in 1992) although has since been 
refurbished in 2006 to extend its lifespan. The typical life span of an AGP is 10-12 years 
(this depends heavily on the type of sub base used, quality of the carpet that has been 
installed, amount of usage and the quality of maintenance). It is likely that the AGPs at 
Isle of Sheppey Academy and Borden Grammar School will require resurfacing in the 
next couple of years. Old Bordenians Hockey Club recently submitted a funding 
application to Sport England’s Inspired Facilities Fund to replace the AGP (including a 
new surface) and is currently awaiting a decision. However, additional external funding 
would be required. This facility development is also supported by England Hockey as a 
priority within its current facilities strategy. 

Isle of Sheppey Academy is undergoing facility developments which will see the quantity 
and quality of its outdoor sports provision improved and increased (due to be completed 
by March 2013. However, resurfacing the AGP will not be initially included within the 
facility developments but is likely to be competed at a later stage. 

Community use of The Abbey School (built in 2012) has been specified as part of a 
planning condition. However, the School is applying to SBC to extend the community use 
hours at the weekend to satisfy demand.

The FA’s long term ambition is to provide every affiliated team in England the opportunity 
to train once per week on floodlit 3G surface, together with priority access for every 
Charter Standard Community Club through a partnership agreement. The FA Standard is 
calculated by using the latest Sport England research "AGP's State of the Nation March 
2012" assuming that 51% of AGP usage is by sports clubs when factoring in the number 
of training slots available per pitch type per hour from 5pm-10pm Mon-Fri and 9am-5pm 
Saturday & Sundays. A full sized AGP therefore provides 56/111 training slots, 44 pay 
and play and 11 commercial. On the basis there are 244 teams playing competitive 
football in Swale (season 11/12), there is a need for an additional one full size 3G pitches 
and a 60 x 40m 3G pitch.

Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model November 2012 – Local Assessment 
Report for Swale Borough Council (Draft)

The Report includes a local assessment of swimming pools, sports halls and artificial 
grass (AGP) provision in Swale using its Facilities planning Model (FMP). The report was 
commissioned to help Swale Borough Council assess the extent to which the demand 
from the resident population of the Borough for these facility types may be currently met 
and to provide an indication of the likely impact of population growth. The key findings in 
relation to AGPs are summarised below. 

The FPM takes into account the population increase up to 203110. The bespoke 
population projections used in the FPM indicate that the population of Swale will increase 
by 10.4%, or by 13,821 people from 132,522 in 2012 to 146,343 in 2031. 

10  Source:  Swale Borough Council commissioned ward level forecasts (August 2012 - version 2) consistent with district 
level forecast scenario based on building 14,494 dwellings between 2006-2031+ (10,406 dwellings between 2011-2031). 
Projections were produced by Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation at Kent County Council. 

Page 146



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                     3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    35

Supply 

The FPM identifies a current supply of six AGPs across five sites. This total supply 
equates to a total capacity of 4,440 visits per week in the peak period.11 Sittingbourne 
Community College has the greatest capacity and comprises two AGPs (one 3G and one 
sand filled). Three AGPs; (2 AGPs at Sittingbourne Community College and a 3G AGP at 
the Isle of Sheppey Academy) are available on a pay and play basis. The remaining 
pitches are available to sports clubs and community associations. 

The six AGPs provide Swale with 0.45 AGPs for football per 10,000 population (in 2012) 
which reduces to 0.41 against future population (2031). 

Accessibility 

In 2012, the FPM identifies that two thirds of the residents in Swale live further than a 20 
minute walk from an AGP site with 30% living within the 20 minute walk time catchment of 
an AGP. Within the walk time, a small proportion of residents (4%) are able to access two 
sites and no residents are able to access more than two sites. The greatest 
concentrations of population residing outside of a 20 minute walk of a site are located to 
the north west of Sittingbourne, to the north of Faversham and in Sheerness, 
Queenborough, Halfway House and to the north and east of Minster on the Isle of 
Sheppey. 

Residents of Swale have slightly less choice of provision by driving catchment than the 
south east average and residents in the neighbouring areas. These areas have a greater 
proportion of residents who are within a 20 minute drive of more than two AGPs than the 
figure for Swale (at 80%) of the population. 

Demand 

The demand for AGP provision in Swale totals 2,925 visits per week in the peak period 
(vpwpp). This equates to 3.97 AGPs of which approximately three quarters of the visits is 
for football. By 2032, the demand increases by an additional 300 vpwpp to 3,225 vpwpp 
and by approximately a third of an AGP to just over four AGPs (4.35). Football use 
accounts for 225 vpwpp of this additional demand. 30.1% (equivalent to 1,125 vpwpp) of 
the use of AGPs in Swale is imported from residents outside of the Borough. 

Satisfied demand 

In 2012, the FPM identifies that 96.7% of demand was satisfied. This is higher than 
national and regional averages (England; 79.2%, South East (84.3%) and its 
neighbouring authorities Medway (92.9%), Ashford (94.9%) and on par with levels for 
Canterbury (97.2%) and Maidstone (97%).  A greater proportion of the demand is for 
football use (98.5%) than for hockey use (90.2%)

11 Peak Period is the times when most people want to participate. Weekday: 12:00 to 13:30, 16:00 to 22.00, 
Saturday:  09:00 to 16:00 and Sunday:    09:00 to 16:30

Page 147



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                     3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    36

Unmet demand 

In 2012, a small proportion of unmet demand (3.3%) equates to 100 vpwpp (0.13 of a 
pitch). The level of unmet demand is predicted to increase to 4.3% (0.16 of a pitch) in 
2031. The FPM reports that the majority of unmet demand for football is from residents 
living outside the catchment of a site with only 11% due to a lack of capacity. 

Figure 5.2: Aggregated unmet demand (2012)

Unmet demand is identified across the Borough. However, the areas with the potential to 
meet the most unmet demand in 2012 (equivalent to 2 AGPs) are located towards the 
border with Medway and Maidstone. 

The map (together with the limited level of unmet demand is Swale) indicates that 
additional provision in these areas, due to the accessibility afforded by the A249 and A2 
would be likely to meet a significant amount of unmet demand from neighbouring areas 
particularly  from Medway. 

In 2031, only one area along the A239 (in close proximity to the Maidstone border) 
reaches a figure of a single pitch for football use. 

Supply/demand balance 

The FPM provides a ‘global’ simplistic picture of the adequacy of provision to meet 
demand in by 2031. This identifies an oversupply of around two AGPs in Swale in 2012 
and up to 3 pitches in 2031. However, this supply/demand balance does not take into 
account a number of factors including the location, nature, quality and accessibility of 
provision in relation to demand, facilities in neighbouring areas and the cross boundary 
movement of demand. 

Page 148



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                     3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    37

5.3 Demand

A total of 244 football teams are identified as playing in Swale. This includes youth and 
mini provision but excludes small sided games such as five aside football.

Table 5.11: Summary of teams 

The largest number of teams (139 in total) plays in the Sittingbourne Analysis Area. It has 
significant levels of senior men and junior boys’ teams as well as mini soccer teams. The 
Sheppey Analysis Area has no senior women’s’ team playing within it.

Just over three-fifth (61%) of clubs responding to the survey report that the number of 
senior teams fielded over the previous three years has remained roughly the same. Over 
a quarter of clubs (26%) report that the number of senior teams has increased and a 
small proportion of clubs (13%) report a decrease. 

Participation13

The Swale Football Participation Report (Season 11/12) indicates that the club to team 
ratio in Swale is 1:3.4 (i.e., each club runs on average 2.8 teams). This compares to a 
national ratio of 1:2.9 and a regional ratio of 1:3.4.  In summary, Swale’s team ratio is 
above than national trends and in line with regional trends.  

In total, 35 football clubs (21.3%) in Swale have been awarded FA Charter Standard 
accreditation. In terms of teams, 80.3% of youth and mini soccer teams in Swale play 
within a club of Charter Standard status. This compares to a national average of 75.6% 
with a FA National Game Strategy target of 75% of youth and mini-soccer teams playing 
within a Charter Standard club by 2012. 

Women’s and girls’ football

The Kent Girls’ and Ladies Football League and the South East Counties Women’s 
League provide the main competitive opportunities for girls’ and women’s teams in Swale. 
There are four junior girls’ teams operating in Swale. Faversham Town Elizabethan fields 
the most girls’ teams with two. It should also be noted that junior girls’ are playing 
competitively in mini soccer teams up to the age of ten years old. In total four clubs (New 
Road FC, Sittingbourne Lions, Sheerness East Youth and Swale Ladies) cite plans to 
increase the number of junior girls’ teams by an additional seven teams which will be 
accommodated on their existing home grounds. Furthermore, Swale Ladies and 

12 Girls and boys play alongside each other in mini soccer at U7s – U10s i.e. ages 6-9 years old.
13 Source: Swale Football Participation Report (Season 11/12)

No. of competitive teams currently playing in Swale Analysis area
Senior 
men

Senior 
women

Junior 
boys

Junior 
girls

Mini
soccer12

 Faversham 18 3 24 2 3
 Sheppey 23 - 21 1 10
 Sittingbourne 47 9 65 1 17
 SWALE 88 12 110 4 30

Page 149



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                     3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    38

Faversham Town FC report plans to increase the number women’s teams (one women’s 
team each). 

Latent demand

Six clubs report that if more pitches were available at their home ground they would have 
more teams. Latent demand has been identified in each analysis area in Swale. Latent 
demand does not necessary mean that more new pitches need to be created but that the 
capacity of existing pitches could be increased to meet demand.

Table 5.12: Summary of latent demand expressed by clubs

Pitch requirementClub Latent demand Analysis 
area Number14 Type

Faversham Town FC U15 and U16 junior 
boys team 

Faversham 1 Senior 

Little Sharsted FC 1 junior boys team Faversham 0.5 Junior 
Crooked Billet FC 2 junior boys teams 

2 mini teams 
(mixed)

Sheppey 1
1

Junior
Mini 

Woodstock Park FC 5 junior boys teams
5 mini teams 
(mixed)

Sittingbourne 2.5 
2.5

Junior
Mini 

Old Oak FC U18 boys team Sheppey 0.5 Senior 
1.5 Senior
4 Junior

                                                                                            Totals

3.5 Mini 

In addition, nearly a quarter of clubs (24%) suggest that having access to better quality 
ancillary facilities would result in fielding more teams.

14 The number of additional pitches required is based on a team playing on a home and away 
basis  i.e. two additional teams would only require one additional pitch as only one team would be 
at home each week.  0.5 can therefore be seen in the table where there is latent demand for one 
team. 

Page 150



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                     3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                    39

5.4: Provision of football pitch sites assessed by quality and capacity

This section presents the current pitch stock available for football in Swale. It illustrates 
the:

 Number of pitches rated as Good (G), Average (A) and Poor (P) on each site.
 Type of pitch(es) on each site (i.e., senior, junior, mini).

The column entitled ‘matches per week’ is split into three sections – play, capacity and 
rating:

 The current level of play per week (0.5 for each match played at the site, assuming 
half of matches will be played ‘away’).

 The capacity of the pitches on each site.
 The rating of the pitches, which indicates if pitches are played under capacity (green), 

played at capacity (amber) or played over-capacity (red).

Calculation of capacity is based on the qualitative ratings. Taking into consideration Sport 
England guidelines on capacity the following was concluded:

If a pitch is rated as ‘good’ its capacity is specified as two matches per week
If a pitch is rated as ‘acceptable’ its capacity is specified as one match per week
If a pitch is rated as ‘poor’ its capacity is specified as 0.5 match every other week

  

Page 151



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                        3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                      40

Table 5.13: Football provision (sites with community use) and level of community use

Senior Junior Mini Matches per weekKKP 
ref

Site name Analysis area
G A P G A P G A P play capacity rating

7 Courtenay Road Playing Field Faversham 1         1.0 2.0
9 Faversham Recreation Ground Faversham 3         4.0 6.0 3

11 Frognal Playing Field Faversham 2         1.5 4.0 3
15 Hernhill Recreation Ground Faversham    1      3.0 2.0 1
20 King Georges Playing Field (The Mount) Faversham  1   1   2  12.015 4.0 1
28 Queen Elizabeth Grammar School Faversham   4       2.0 4.0 3
33 Salters Lane Faversham 2         2.0 4.0 3
44 The Abbey School Faversham 3         5.0 12.0 3
55 Davington Primary School Faversham        2  1.0 4.0 3
61 Sharsted Sports Club Faversham 1         1.0 2.0 3

101 Chilham Sports Centre OUTSIDE 1         1.0 2.0 3
5 Co-op Sports and Social Club Sheppey 1   1      1.5 4.0 3

10 Festival Playing Field Sheppey      1   1 4.5 1.0 1
21 King Georges Playing Field (Queensborough) Sheppey 1   1      2.0 4.0 3
22 Leysdown Coastal Park (The Fortress) Sheppey   1       1.5 0.5 1
29 Range Road Football Ground Sheppey    1      4.5 2.0 1
35 Seager Road Sports Ground Sheppey 2         2.5 4.0 3
36 Sheerness East FC Sheppey 2         4.0 4.0
38 Sheppy Sports Club Sheppey 2         4.0 4.0
72 Sheerness Steel Sheppey 2         1.0 4.0 3
2 Bourne Park Sittingbourne 1 1        7.5 3.0 1

14 Grove Park Community Primary School Sittingbourne    1      1.0 4.0 3
16 Holywell Meadow Sittingbourne 2         0.5 4.0 3
18 Kemsley Recreation Ground Sittingbourne  1     1   1.5 3.0 3

15 Figure also includes 15 team equivalents for training on the competitive pitches. 

P
age 152



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                        3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                      41

KKP 
ref

Site name Analysis area Senior Junior Mini Matches per week
G A P G A P G A P play capacity rating

19 King Georges Playing Field (Sittingbourne) Sittingbourne 3         0.5 6.0 3
24 Milton Recreation Ground Sittingbourne 3         0.5 6.0 3
31 Regis Manor Community Primary School Sittingbourne     4     3.0 8.0 3
32 Rodmersham Cricket Club Sittingbourne       2   1.0 4.0 3
40 Sittingbourne Community College Sports 

Centre
Sittingbourne 6   3      6.0 36.0 3

41 Sittingbourne Recreation Ground Sittingbourne   2       2.5 1.0 1
46 The Playstool Sittingbourne 1         1.0 2.0 3
49 UK Paper Leisure Club Sittingbourne 4   2      14.016 12.0
50 Woodcombe Sports and Social Club Sittingbourne 2   1   2   8.0 10.0 3
52 Woodstock Park Sittingbourne 4      1   8.5 10.0 3
53 Borden Grammar School Sittingbourne  1   2     3.0 6.0 3
64 Westlands School Sittingbourne 3         2.0 12.0 3
70 Iwade Community Primary School Sittingbourne     1     2.0 2.0
74 South Avenue Infant School Sittingbourne      1    2.5 1.0 1

102 Fulston Manor School (Cromers Corner 
Playing Field) 

Sittingbourne  2        1.5 4.0 3

It should be noted there is informal and/or unauthorised use of public open spaces (accommodating football pitches) in the Borough. 
This can often impact on the ongoing maintenance and the overall quality of the playing pitches. As a result, this impacts on the 
capacity of pitches to accommodate competitive matches. Users report this is an issue at Festival Playing Fields which is scored as 
‘poor’ quality. 

16 Play also includes two training equivalents for Sittingbourne Athletics FC. 

P
age 153



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013              3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                     42

5.5: Supply and demand analysis 

Temporal demand

Temporal demand identifies times of peak demand and use of pitches throughout the 
week. The peak time use of senior and junior football pitches is on a Sunday morning (i.e. 
this is when most pitches are in use) due to this being the main kick off time for the two 
main leagues, Sheppey Sunday League and Medway Messenger Youth League. With the 
vast majority of play occurring on the same day, this creates significant pressure for the 
maximum number of pitches to be available on one day. On a weekly basis there are 59.5 
adult, 57 junior and 15 mini games being played in Swale.

The table below provides a summary of temporal demand for pitches in the Borough: 

Table 5:15: Temporal demand for pitches in Swale 

Day Games % of games No. of games per week 
Adult games 23%
Junior games 21%

Saturday
 
 Mini games 13%

Adult games 61%
Junior games 79%

Sunday
 
 Mini games 87%

Adult games 17%
Junior games -

Midweek

Mini games -

Total 
59.5 adult games 
57 junior games 
15 mini games 

Spare capacity

There are 27 sites that express spare capacity to accommodate more matches (totalling 
105.5 matches per week). When considering peak time capacity, some potential spare 
capacity is expressed as being available at peak time (Sundays). 

For example, at peak time (Sunday AM) there is a need for 49.5 matches to be 
accommodated on senior pitches (this figure includes juniors that are playing on senior 
sized pitches) and 56 matches to be accommodated on junior sized pitches. Establishing 
the pitches available across Swale (58 senior and 19 junior pitches), indicates that at 
peak times there are on initial look some surpluses (22 senior pitches) but a deficiency of 
junior pitches (25). It should be noted that the surplus is attributed to sites expressing 
significant amounts of spare capacity such as Sittingbourne Community College (30 
matches per week) and The Abbey School (7 matches per week). The ability for school 
sites to accommodate any significant further play is not considered a viable option; as 
schools have shown a lack of interest/willingness to allow a greater usage of their pitch 
provision. 

A Council site showing a large amount of spare capacity is King Georges Playing Field, 
Sittingbourne and Milton Recreation Ground (5.5 matches per week). The majority of this 
spare capacity is due to minimal use of the pitches. 

Page 154



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013              3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                     43

Furthermore, four sites (Courtenay Road Playing Fields, Sheerness East FC, Sheppey 
Sports Club and Iwade Community Primary School) are played to capacity and any 
additional play on these sites is likely to reduce the quality of pitches further. 

Overplay

Overplay occurs when there is more play than the site is able to sustain (which is 
dependent upon pitch quality). In summary, eight sites are overplayed. Most of the sites 
showing overplay are identified as having an adequate or poor level of pitch quality. The 
exceptions are Hernhill Recreation Ground and Range Road Football Ground which are 
assessed as being of good quality. 

In addition to overplay, the need to accommodate latent demand (expressed as 1.5 
senior, 4.0 juniors or 3.5 mini pitches) within the current pitch stock should be taken into 
account. 

The Strategy will further explore spare capacity and overplay on a site by site basis to 
fully determine surpluses and deficiencies in provision.

Football Team Generation Rates (TGRs) 

TGRs indicate how many people in a specified age group are required to generate one 
team. TFGRs are derived by dividing the appropriate population age band in the area by 
the number of teams playing within that area in that age band. Calculating TGRs enables 
a comparison of participation to be made between different analysis areas. TGRs can 
help to quantify where and why to target sports development activities at a particular area 
where participation may be low. 

The following current TGRs have been calculated for each of the analysis area based on 
the current supply and demand. Where no TGR is shown this indicates that no teams 
operate at the age group, for football, in that area. 

Table 5.14: Football TGRs

Relative to national averages, participation rates in Swale are significantly higher than 
national averages. For example, there are higher levels of senior football participation for 
both men and women in Swale. Junior participation for boys and girls is also generally 
greater than national averages across the Borough. Furthermore, mini-soccer is also 
higher than the national average particularly in the Sittingbourne analysis rate. 

 Analysis area Senior 
(16-45) 
Men’s

Senior 
(16-45) 

Women’s

Junior 
(10-15)
Boys

Junior 
(10-15) 
Girls

Mini-soccer   
(6-9) 

Mixed
 Faversham 1:323 1:2,041 1:54 1:589 1:547
 Sheppey 1:349 - 1:76 1:1,621 1:207
 Sittingbourne 1:228 1:1,219 1:35 1:2,141 1:177
 SWALE 1:279 1:2,020 1:47 1:1,235 1:224

 
 NATIONAL AVERAGE 1:452 1:19,647 1:195 1:4,038 1:431

Page 155



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013              3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                     44

It has not been possible to benchmark Swale’s football team generation rate against 
those recorded for its nearest neighbours as these are not robust and up to date. In 
addition, it is not possible to benchmark TGR’s against its ‘nearest neighbours’ Dover, 
Sedgemoor, Lancaster and Havant as the local authorities either have not PPS in place 
or it is not robust and up to date. 

Future TGRs (2026)

By taking into account potential increases in participation and applying TGRs to the 
projected population17 for 2026, we can project the theoretical number of teams that 
would be generated in the future, and therefore the expected demand on the facilities. 
The table below provides details about potential increases in the number of teams in 
2026. The most significant increase will occur in the Sittingbourne Analysis Area with an 
additional 27.8 football teams by 2026. 

Table 5.15: Future demand increases (Future TGR and number of additional teams)

The most likely future increase in the number of teams is identified in the category of 
junior boys, for which, there will be anticipated further 16.7 teams by 2026. These teams 
are most likely to occur in the Sittingbourne Analysis Area. 

In addition, latent demand (summarised in table 5.12) for an additional 1.5 senior, 4 junior 
and 3.5 mini pitches has been identified in the Borough. 

Playing Pitch Model (PPM)

Sport England’s PPM is used to assess whether current and future supply of pitches is 
sufficient at peak times. The PPM results are shown below.

17 Population Source Data for 2011 and 2016 provided by Swale District Council: Copy of Ward 
forecasts_14 494 dwelling scenario_results_version 2.xls
18 Girls and boys play alongside each other in mini soccer at U7s – U10s i.e. ages 6-9 years old.

No. of additional football teams by 2026
Analysis area Senior

men
Senior
women

Junior
boys

Junior
girls

Mini
soccer18

 Faversham 0.9 0.2 1.0 0.1 0.2
 Sheppey 3.9 0.0 3.6 0.2 1.7
 Sittingbourne 9.3 1.8 13.2 0.2 3.3
 SWALE 13.4 1.8 16.7 0.6 4.5

Page 156



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013              3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                     45

Table 5.16: Current and Future PPM summary 

Current surplus/deficiency of football 
pitches

Future surplus/deficiency of 
football pitches by 2026  

Analysis area 

Senior pitches Junior 
pitches

Mini 
pitches

Senior 
pitches

Junior 
pitches

Mini 
pitches

 Faversham 11.0 -5.0 2.5 8.0 -5.3 2.4
 Sheppey 0.5 -6.5 -4.0 -1.3 -8.3 -4.8
 Sittingbourne 16.5 -14.5 -2.0 12.7 -20.3 -3.6
 SWALE 28.0 -26.0 -3.5 19.5 -33.9 -6.0

Those sites which have not been allocated as having regular current play (i.e. no 
community use) have not been included in the PPM analysis above. 

It should be noted that these surplus/deficit predications should not be used in isolation 
and should be considered within the context of other report findings/outcomes. For 
example, there is a significant surplus of senior pitches, but a significant deficit of junior 
football pitches. The current deficit of junior pitches (-26.0) broadly equates to the surplus 
of senior pitches. However, it should be noted that junior teams in Swale (aged 13 
upwards) prefer to play on senior sized pitches and therefore a large proportion of senior 
pitches should be retained for junior play.  

The lack of designated junior sized pitches is further exaggerated by the level of latent 
demand expressed (four junior pitches). 

The current oversupply of senior pitches is generally aggregated spare capacity across 
primarily education sites where spare capacity is greatest, where although the facilities 
are available for community use tends only to be used for one or two matches per week. 
In the Faversham Analysis Area, for example, there is a small (2.5) over supply of mini 
pitches which is made up of spare capacity at Davington Primary School.  As such the 
oversupply of pitches should not be treated as a surplus of pitches. Three fifth of clubs 
report that senior membership levels have generally remained the same over the 
previous three years and it is not likely that senior participation will increase significantly 
in the Borough. 

The current lack of junior pitches in the Sittingbourne Analysis Area is further increased 
by the latent demand expressed for a further 2.5 junior pitches. In addition, the Sheppey 
Analysis Area shows a deficit of junior and mini pitches which again is attributed to the 
high incidence of junior and mini teams playing across senior pitches. 

By 2026, it is anticipated there will be a surplus of 19.5 senior pitches particularly in the 
Faversham and Sittingbourne analysis areas. There is a predicted deficiency of junior 
pitches (-33.9) across all analysis areas and a deficiency of mini (-6.0) pitches in three 
analysis areas; Sheppey, Sittingbourne and Faversham.  As identified with the current 
surplus of senior pitches, junior teams in Swale (aged 13 upwards) prefer to play on 
senior sized pitches and therefore a large proportion of senior pitches should be retained 
for junior play.  Increasing access to education sites which are not currenyl available for 
community use could help to address the current and future shortfall of junior and mini 
pitches. 

Page 157



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013              3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                     46

Football summary 
 There are a total of 244 teams playing on pitches in Swale.   
 The audit identifies 38 sites currently available for community use, providing a total of 96 

pitches. The 30 sites identified as having no community use accounts for 44% of total pitch 
provision.

 There are areas of population density, particularly on Sheppey and Faversham that are not 
served or sit on the periphery of a 15 minute catchment area of a football pitch for example 
Conyer, Uplees,, Graveny and Leydown-on-sea.

 In general the quality of pitches across Swale is deemed to be ‘adequate’. League 
consultation indicates that pitch quality often deteriorates towards the end of the playing 
season due to overplay on local authority pitches.  

 Just over three-fifth (61%) of clubs responding to the survey report that the number of senior 
teams fielded over the previous three years has remained roughly the same. Over a quarter 
of clubs (26%) report that the number of senior teams has increased and a small proportion 
of clubs (13%) report a decrease. 

 Six clubs report that if more pitches were available at their home ground they would have 
more teams. Latent demand does not necessary mean that more new pitches need to be 
created but that the capacity of existing pitches could be increased to meet demand.

 In general the current playing pitch stock should be protected and consideration should be 
given to changing the designation of some senior pitches to cater for junior and mini football. 
After taking into account latent demand there is a need to provide more junior and mini 
pitches across the Borough.  

 Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model Report (2012) provides a ‘global’ simplistic picture 
of the adequacy of provision to meet demand in by 2031. This identifies an oversupply of 
around two AGPs in Swale in 2012 and up to 3 pitches in 2031. However, this 
supply/demand balance does not take into account a number of factors including the 
location, nature, quality and accessibility of provision in relation to demand, facilities in 
neighbouring areas and the cross boundary movement of demand. 

 The PPM Model identifies that by 2026, it is anticipated there will be a surplus of 19.5 senior 
pitches particularly in the Faversham and Sittingbourne analysis areas. There is a predicted 
deficiency of junior pitches (-33.9) across all analysis areas and a deficiency of mini (-6.0) 
pitches in three analysis areas; Sheppey, Sittingbourne and Faversham. Increasing access 
to education sites which are not currently available for community use could help to address 
the current and predicted shortfall of junior and mini pitches. 

 The most likely future increase in the number of teams is identified in the category of junior 
boys, for which, there will be anticipated further 16.7 teams by 2026. These teams are most 
likely to occur in the Sittingbourne Analysis Area. 

 

Page 158



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013              3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                     47

PART 6: CRICKET 

6.1: Introduction

The Kent Cricket Board (KCB) is the governing and representative body for cricket within 
the County, including Swale. Its aim is to encourage, support and promote participation 
and development of the game at all levels ages and abilities, promote excellence in 
playing, coaching, officiating and the quality of both playing surfaces and social facilities.

Kent Cricket Board Facilities Strategy 2008 – 2013 

The Kent Cricket Board Facilities Strategy is in line with ECB’s Whole Sport Plan and is 
designed to support focus and affiliated clubs to provide quality facilities. It is also 
intended to prioritise the need for investment. The priorities identified for the Kent Region 
include:

 Improve the quality of practice facilities non-turf and fine turf based on area strategic 
need and value of the investment.

 Ensure all focus clubs have qualified ground staff.
 Improve the provision of pavilions and changing facilities particularly for officials 

changing accommodation.
 Advise clubs with less than 21 years tenure remaining on leases.
 Improve the quality of match playing facilities and expand provision where needed.
 Provision of suitable machinery to meet the above priorities (including covers, sight 

screens and cutting machinery).

Consultation

An electronic survey was distributed by email to all clubs playing in Swale. Responses 
were received from 16 of the 24 clubs (67% response rate). Results are used to inform 
key issues within this section of the report.

6.2: Current provision

In total, there are 28 cricket pitches in Swale, of which, 25 (88%) are available for 
community use. This is predominantly through resident club use.

There are two cricket pitches; Queen Elizabeth Grammar School and Westlands School, 
which have been excluded from the supply and demand analysis because there are no 
teams currently playing on the site and/or because they are not available for community 
use (referenced in Table 6.2). These sites could offer potential capacity/additional pitches 
if the current supply does not meet expressed demand. 

Table 6.1: Summary of pitches available for community use

 Analysis area Total no. of pitches Total no. of pitches available 
for community use 

 Faversham 10 9
 Sheppey 3 4
 Sittingbourne 13 12
 SWALE 26 25

Page 159



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                              48

Figure 6.1: Location of cricket pitches in Swale

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number 100020577.Created by Knight, Kavanagh & Page (www.kkp.co.uk)

MAIDSTONE

MEDWAY

ASHFORD

CANTERBURY

Sittingbourne

45

6

58

71

40

4

1

65

32

59

57
16

103

13

100

39

73

42

62

61

60

75
27

23

8 97

49

THURROCK

Faversham

Sheppey

50

Swale
Cricket sites by availability

No community use
Community use

Analysis Areas

Analysis area boundaries

Population density per square mile

40,400 to 40,500
16,000 to 40,400
12,100 to 16,000
7,900 to 12,100
5,400 to 7,900
3,200 to 5,400
2,200 to 3,200

700 to 2,200
300 to 700
100 to 300

P
age 160



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013             3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page          49

Table 6.2: Key to map of cricket pitches

Site name KKP 
ref

Analysis area Community 
use

Number 
of 

pitches
Bapchild Cricket Club 1 Faversham Yes 1
Davington Priory Cricket Club 8 Faversham Yes 1
Macknade Cricket Club 23 Faversham Yes 1
Norton Park 27 Faversham Yes 1
Provender Cricket Club 75 Faversham Yes 1
Queen Elizabeth Grammar School 97 Faversham No 1
Selling Cavaliers Cricket Club 60 Faversham Yes 1
Sharsted Sports Club 61 Faversham Yes 1
Sheldwich Cricket Club 62 Faversham Yes 1
Sparrows Hill 42 Faversham Yes 1
Gilbert Hall 13 Sheppey Yes 1
Sheppey Sports Club (cricket overmarked) 73 Sheppey Yes 1
Shurland Meadow 39 Sheppey Yes 1
St George's Church of England Primary 
School 

100 Sheppey Yes 1

Bredgar Recreation Ground 71 Sittingbourne Yes 1
Chapel Meadow 4 Sittingbourne Yes 1
Cold Harbour Lane (Rook Lane) 6 Sittingbourne Yes 1
Holywell Meadow 16 Sittingbourne Yes 1
Holywell Meadow (cricket overmarked) 57 Sittingbourne Yes 1
Milstead Cricket Club 59 Sittingbourne Yes 1
Rodmersham Cricket Club 32 Sittingbourne Yes 1
Sittingbourne Community College Sports 
Centre 

40 Sittingbourne Yes 1

The Grove 45 Sittingbourne Yes 1
The playstool (cricket overmarked) 58 Sittingbourne Yes 1
UK Paper Leisure Club 49 Sittingbourne Yes 1
Westlands School (cricket overmarked) 65 Sittingbourne No 1
Woodcombe Sports & Social Club 50 Sittingbourne Yes 1

Faversham (10 pitches) and Sittingbourne (12 pitches) analysis areas provide the most 
number of cricket pitches. When analysing a 15 minute service area drive time of existing 
pitches (see appendix six) there generally good access across Swale with a gap in 
provision to the North of Faversham in Conyer, Uplees and Graveny which sit on the 
periphery of the 15 minute catchment area. 

Security of tenure

Pitch ownership and management across Swale is varied but with most provision being 
through private sports/social club. Three pitches: The Playstool (leased to Borden CC), 
Davington Priory (leased to Davington Priory CC) and Woodcombe Sports and Social 
Club (leased to Woodcombe Sports and Social Club) are owned by Swale Borough 
Council.

Page 161



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013             3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page          50

Two clubs; Macknade and Minster (Sheppey) do not currently have formal lease 
agreements in place, however, both clubs are in the process of finalising lease 
agreements with the respective land owners. 

Pitch quality

Most pitches in Swale (23) are assessed as being of a good quality. Pitches located at 
UK Paper Leisure Club are rated as average quality. Two pitches; Queen Elizabeth 
Grammar School and Westlands School are rated as poor quality. Both pitches are 
located at school sites and are over marked with other pitches (i.e. football and rugby). 
The table below summarises the pitch quality following site visits.

Table 6.3: Pitch quality of all pitches 

Good Average Poor
23 1 2

Consultation with clubs further highlights that the overall quality of cricket pitches is 
considered, in general, to be good. Nearly three third of clubs (59%) report pitch quality is 
much/slightly better compared to the previous playing season due to a number of reasons 
including better management of pitch rotation and maintenance regimes. No clubs report 
a decline in pitch quality. 

Six clubs (Eastchurch CC, Bredgar CC, Bobbing Court & Lower Halstow CC, Gore Court 
CC, Davington Priory CC and Woodcoombe Sports & Social CC) report evidence of dog 
fouling/glass/stones/litter, of which, four of these sites is accessible to others and has no 
fencing. 

Maintaining high pitch quality is the most important aspect of cricket. If the wicket is poor, 
it can affect the quality of the game and can, in some instances, become dangerous. To 
obtain a full technical assessment of wicket and pitches, the ECB recommends a 
Performance Quality Standard Assessment (PQS). The PSQ looks at a cricket square to 
ascertain whether the pitch meets the Performance Quality Standards which are 
benchmarked by the Institute of Groundsmanship. The report identifies surface issues 
and suggests options for remediation together with likely costs. For further guidance on 
this can be sought from the ECB. 

Ancillary facilities

All 16 clubs that responded to the survey in Swale are identified as having access to 
changing room facilities at their home ground. In general, clubs provide two changing 
rooms, however, five clubs have access to more than three changing rooms. Upchurch 
CC accommodates the largest number of changing rooms (six). 

There is generally an acceptable standard of changing accommodation available at 
cricket clubs across Swale with nearly half of clubs (46%) rating the quality of their 
ancillary facilities as good. Changing facilities at three sites; Davington Priory, Shurland 
Meadow and Bredgar Recreation Ground are noted by users as being poor quality. 

Page 162



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013             3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page          51

Training

Access to cricket nets is important, particularly for pre-season/winter training. All clubs 
have access to training facilities. The level of access to training provision for clubs does 
vary. Subsequently some demand for additional cricket training facilities across Swale is 
reported by Macknade and Davington Priory cricket clubs. Munster (Sheppey) CC reports 
demand for better quality outdoor artificial nets to support its pre-season/winter training. 

Facility development

Some clubs report facility issues impacting on its ability to participate. The table below 
presents a summary of facility issues across Swale identified during consultation. 

Table 6.4: Facility development plans

Site Issue
Davington Priory CC The cricket pavilion is a wooden shack and is in need of renovation. 

The Club also report demand for a water supply to the cricket square 
which in return would help to increase the overall quality during dry 
conditions. 

Upchurch CC The Club is in the process of building improving its security by 
building a garage to store its equipment and machinery. 

 
6.3 Demand

Cricket clubs in Swale range from small clubs offering a single cricket team such as 
Provender CC to those with several senior and junior teams at different age groups, as is 
the case at Bapchild CC. A total of 24 clubs in Swale generate 62 senior teams (including 
midweek teams) and 39 junior teams. No womens teams have been identified. 

Consultation reports the number of clubs in Swale has declined over the previous ten 
years with many clubs amalgamating due to a lack of demand. 

Table 6.5: Summary of teams by analysis area

No. of competitive teamsAnalysis area
Seniors Juniors

 Faversham 21 15
 Sheppey 11 9
 Sittingbourne 30 15
 SWALE 62 39

An analysis of match play identifies that peak time use by senior teams is Saturday and 
juniors is on a Sunday. There are a total of eight clubs that provide multiple teams across 
different age groups and account for 63 teams playing in Swale. The remaining clubs are 
one team clubs. 

Page 163



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013             3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page          52

Priority clubs have been identified strategically by the ECB as those committed to long-
term junior development. This includes the adoption of a development plan (to identify 
how a club will help to develop the sport and its facilities) and achieving (or working 
towards) Clubmark accreditation. In return, clubs receive support (both technical and 
financial) from the ECB.  There are three priority clubs in Swale; Upchurch, Bobbing 
Court & Lower Halstow and Macknade. 

There is good junior participation in Swale with six clubs fielding more than two junior 
teams. Bapchild CC accommodates the largest number of junior teams (10). A continued 
increase in club membership levels, particularly juniors, could have an impact on access 
to, and the quality of, pitches. 

Eight out of ten clubs (87%) report that senior membership levels in have remained static 
over the previous three years. Minster (Sheppey) CC report an increase of two mid-week 
senior teams as well as an increase in junior membership levels in the previous three 
years. Bapchild CC also reports a growth in its senior playing membership by two teams 
(one Saturday League team & one Sunday Friendly team) to enable its junior cricketers to 
be exposed to senior cricket. 

Static participation levels are mirrored in junior cricket with over three fifth (64%) of clubs 
reporting its junior playing membership has remained static over the previous three years. 
Four clubs report a growth of an additional five teams (predominately at U9 level).  

Minster Sheppey CC signals its intent to increase the number of teams currently playing. 
Analysis of match play identifies its home ground (comprising one pitch with 10 grass 
wickets and one artificial wicket) has the capacity to accommodate additional play. 

Women’s and girls’ cricket

Women’s and girls’ cricket is a national priority and there is a target to establish two girls’ 
and one women’s team in every local authority over the next five years. 

Kent Cricket Board has recently appointed a Women’s and Girls Development Officer to 
work in conjunction with schools and clubs to increase the participation level of girl’s 
grass roots cricket across the County.  A junior girls’ cricket training session was 
established in Summer 2012 (mid week) using Bapchild CC. Consultation reports 
approximately 16 girls attending the weekly sessions. However, it should be noted that 
girls do also play cricket in mixed junior teams in Swale. 

School cricket

Chance to Shine (C2S) is being delivered through Kent Cricket Board, strategically 
placed due to either IMD wards, high areas of BME activity, or existing strong links 
between community clubs and local primary and secondary schools that will produce 
good migration rates. 

Each school receives 18 hours of free curriculum and extra curriculum coaching from a 
fully qualified level two coach, be it either a club based coach or NCB community coach. 
In addition, the school receives an assembly visit, entry to a local kwik and drax 
competition and teacher CPD. 

Page 164



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013             3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page          53

6.4: Provision of cricket pitch sites assessed by quality and capacity

Capacity analysis for cricket is measured on a seasonal rather than weekly basis. This is 
due to playability (i.e., only one match is generally played per pitch per day at weekends 
or weekday evening). Wickets are rotated throughout the season to reduce wear and 
allow repair. Therefore, it is more accurate to assess capacity seasonally rather than 
weekly. The capacity of a pitch to accommodate matches is driven by the number and 
quality of wickets. This section presents the current pitch stock available for cricket in 
Swale. It illustrates the: 

 Number of grass and artificial cricket wickets per pitch
 Number of competitive matches per season per pitch 

To help calculate pitch capacity, the ECB suggests that a good quality wicket should be 
able to take: 

 5 matches per season per grass wicket (adults).
 60 matches per season per synthetic wicket (adults). 

This information is used to allocate capacity ratings as follows:

If a pitch is shaded as ‘green’ it has spare capacity
If a pitch is rated as ‘amber’ it is used to capacity
If a pitch is rated as ‘red’ it is over played 

Page 165



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                            3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                       54

Table 6.6: Cricket pitch capacity

PitchesKKP 
ref

Site name Analysis area
No. of 
grass 

wickets19

No. of 
artificial 
wickets

Play
(matches 

per 
season)

Capacity 
(matches 

per 
season)

Capacity 
rating

Comment 

1 Bapchild Cricket Club Faversham 16 - 110 80 The pitch is overplayed at 
peak time by 30 matches 
during the cricket season. 

8 Davington Priory Cricket Club Faversham 6 - 18 30 The Club considers the pitch is 
undersized. It also reports 
evidence of dog 
fouling/stones/litter. 

23 Macknade Cricket Club Faversham 14 1 75 130 The Club is in negotiations 
with the landowner to secure a 
long term lease (i.e. 35 years).  
It rates the outfield and 
artificial wicket as uneven. 

27 Norton Park Faversham 11* - 20** 55 Site assessments rate the 
cricket pitch as good quality. 

42 Sparrows Hill Faversham 11* - 10** 55 Site comprises a traditional 
wooden pavilion and a cricket 
pitch. Homeground to 
Broughton under Bleam CC it 
has a lease (owned by Dawes 
Estate) which is due to expire 
in 2020. 

60 Selling Cavaliers Cricket Club Faversham 11* - 30** 55 Site assessments noted that 
part of the field had been 
ploughed. The old wooden 
pavilion on site is in need of 
some renovation.

19 *Where the number of wickets is unknown, the average of 11 wickets is used.

P
age 166



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                            3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                       55

KKP 
ref

Site name Analysis area Pitches Play
(matches 

per 
season)

Capacity 
(matches 

per 
season)

Capacity 
rating

Comment 
No. of 
grass 

wickets19

No. of 
artificial 
wickets

61 Sharsted Sports Club Faversham 11* - 10** 55 There is a dilapidated artificial 
wicket on the site. 

62 Sheldwich Cricket Club Faversham 11* - 40** 55 Attractive ground on 'common'. 
Small wooden clubhouse is in 
reasonable repair.

75 Provender Cricket Club Faversham 11* - 10** 55 Privately owned by a local 
resident access to the site is 
by invitation only. 

39 Shurland Meadow Sheppey 9 - 10 45 The site is owned by Swale 
Borough Council and is leased 
to Eastchurch CC. The Club 
reports there are regular 
issues with horse riders and 
golfers accessing the site. 

73 Sheppey Sports Club Sheppey 10 1 90 110 The cricket pitch is 
overmarked on the football 
pitches. 

13 Gilbert Hall Sheppey 10 1 77 110 Good quality site. 
4 Chapel Meadow Sittingbourne 28 - 144 140 Home ground to Bobbington 

Court & Lower Halstow and 
Newington CC  

16 Holywell Meadow Sittingbourne 11* - 70 55 The pitch is located 
immediately next to KKP Ref 
57 Holywell Meadow. Both 
pitches are home ground to 
Upchurch CC. The pitch is 
overplayed by 25 matches per 
season.

32 Rodmersham Cricket Club Sittingbourne 11* - 82 55 The pitch is overplayed by 27 
matches during the cricket 
season.  

P
age 167



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                            3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                       56

KKP 
ref

Site name Analysis area Pitches Play
(matches 

per 
season)

Capacity 
(matches 

per 
season)

Capacity 
rating

Comment 
No. of 
grass 

wickets19

No. of 
artificial 
wickets

40 Sittingbourne Community 
College Sports Centre 

Sittingbourne 11* 1 115 10 Used by Bapchild CC to 
accommodate its third XI 
competitive team. Site 
assessments note the quality 
of the artificial wicket is rising 
in places. 

45 The Grove Sittingbourne 2 - 30 20 The pitch is overplayed by 10 
matches during the cricket 
season. 

50 Woodcombe Sports and Social 
Club 

Sittingbourne 11* - 10** 55 The cricket pitch is currently 
used at weekend only to 
accommodate Woodcombe 
CC (friendly fixtures only). 
Note: As of the next cricket 
playing season (2013-14) the 
pitch will also accommodate 
Belnor CC (moving from its 
homeground at UK Paper 
Leisure Club). 

57 Holywell Meadow (cricket 
overmarked)

Sittingbourne 11* - 50 55 The pitch is located 
immediately next to KKP Ref 
16 Holywell Meadow. Both 
pitches are home ground to 
Upchurch CC 

58 The Playstool Sittingbourne 11* - 10** 55 The cricket pitch is 
overmarked on the football 
pitch which is assessed as 
good quality. 

59 Milstead Cricket Club Sittingbourne 11* - 30 55 Good quality site with spare 
capacity to accommodate 
additional play.

P
age 168



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                            3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                       57

KKP 
ref

Site name Analysis area Pitches Play
(matches 

per 
season)

Capacity 
(matches 

per 
season)

Capacity 
rating

Comment 
No. of 
grass 

wickets19

No. of 
artificial 
wickets

71 Bredgar Recreation Ground Sittingbourne 6 - 10 30 Consultation rates the pavilion 
as poor. 

6 Cold Harbour Lane Rook 
Lane)

Sittingbourne 11* - 10** 55 The site is used by Bobbing 
Court & Lower Halstow CC. It 
also on a Sunday by 
Newington CC (nomadic club). 

49 UK Paper Leisure Club Sittingbourne 7 - 20 35 The site is currently used by 
Belnor CC. However, as of the 
next playing season 2013 -14 
Belnor CC will relocate to 
Woodcombe Sports & Social 
Club. Consultation reports the 
site at UK Paper Leisure Club 
will no longer accommodate a 
cricket pitch. 

** In order to calculate pitch capacity at sites where clubs have not responded to consultation, the number of matches per season is given 
based on an average of 10 home matches per season for a senior team and 8 matches per season for a junior team. 

P
age 169



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                 3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                  58

6.5 Supply and demand analysis

Spare capacity

A significant number of sites in Swale (17 in total) are identified as having spare capacity. 
However, it should be noted the spare capacity of sites located on recreation or education 
sites do not take into account unrecorded or other public use. 

Overplay

Five sites are deemed to be overplayed in Swale; Bapchild, Chapel Meadow, Holywell 
Meadow, Rodmersham and The Grove. This is primarily due to the numbers of teams 
using the sites each week. Overplay is most significant at Bapchild CC (30 matches), 
Rodmersham CC (27 matches) and Holywell Meadow (25 matches). 

Temporal demand

Temporal demand identifies times of peak demand and use of pitches throughout the 
week. In total, there are 43.4 adult and 11.7 junior matches played per week for Cricket 
on pitches in Swale. The peak time use of cricket pitches for adult matches is on a 
Saturday (i.e. this is when most pitches are in use). All junior matches take place on a 
Sunday (100% of matches). The table below provides a summary of temporal demand for 
pitches in the Borough: 

Table 5:15: Temporal demand for pitches in Swale 

Day Games % of games No. of games 
Adult games 71%Saturday

 Junior games 0%
Adult games 0%Sunday

 Junior games 100%
Adult games 29%Midweek
Junior games 0%

Total 
43.4 adult games per 

week 
11.7 home games per 

week 

Cricket team generation rates (TGRs) 

TGRs indicate how many people in a specified age group are required to generate one 
team. They are derived by dividing the appropriate population age band in the area by the 
number of teams playing within the area in that age band. Calculating TGRs enables 
comparison of participation between different analysis areas where similar studies have 
been undertaken. 

The following current TGRs have been calculated for each analysis area. Where none is 
shown, no teams operate at that age group, for cricket, in that area. 

Page 170



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                 3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                  59

Table 6.7: Cricket TGRs

There is no national TGR for junior girls’ cricket (11-17). Participation rates are higher 
than national averages. There are high senior TGRs recorded for senior men and junior 
boys. 

It has not been possible to benchmark Swale’s Cricket team generation rate against 
those recorded for its nearest neighbours as these are not robust and up to date. In 
addition, it is not possible to benchmark TGR’s against its ‘nearest neighbours’ Dover, 
Sedgemoor, Lancaster and Havant as the local authorities either have not PPS in place 
or it is not robust and up to date. 

Future demand 

Population growth20 in Swale has been applied to provide an indication as to how many 
additional cricket teams will be generated in the future. The most significant increase will 
occur in the Sittingbourne analysis area with an additional 6.0 senior and 3.0 junior boys 
cricket teams

Table 6.8: Future demand increases (Number of additional teams)

No. of additional teams by 2026Analysis area
Senior
(18-55)

Men

Senior
(18-55)
Women

Junior
(11-17)
Boys

Junior
(11-17)
Girls

Faversham 1.1 - 0.8 -

Sheppey 1.8 - 1.5 -
Sittingbourne 6.0 - 3.0 -
SWALE 9.4 - 5.8 -

It is likely that women’s and girls’ cricket participation will further increase given the ECB 
national target to establish two junior girls’ and a women’s team in every local authority 
over the next five years (as detailed earlier).

Playing Pitch Model (PPM)

Sport England’s PPM is used to assess whether supply of pitches will be sufficient at 
peak times. The current TGRs recommended above are applied to the PPM to illustrate 
any shortfalls of pitches. A summary of surpluses and deficiencies is shown overleaf. 

20 Population Source Data for 2011 and 2016 provided by Swale District Council: Copy of Ward 
forecasts_14 494 dwelling scenario_results_version 2.xls

 Analysis area Senior 
(18-55) 

Men

Senior 
(18-55) 
Women

Junior 
(11-17) 
Boys

Junior 
(11-17) 
Girls

 Faversham 1:365 - 1:97 -
 Sheppey 1:921 - 1:205 -
 Sittingbourne 1:457 - 1:172 -
 SWALE 1:508 - 1:151 -
 NATIONAL AVERAGE 1:1,415 1:54,815 1:195 1:4,038

Page 171



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                 3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                  60

Table 6.9: PPM summary

Analysis area Current surplus/deficiency 
of cricket pitches

Future surplus/deficiency of 
cricket pitches by 2026  

Faversham -1.5 -2.0
Sheppey -1.5 -2.4
Sittingbourne -3.0 -6.0
SWALE -6.0 -10.4

Sites which have not been identified as accommodating current regular play are not 
included in the PPM analysis. It should also be noted that these surplus/deficit 
predications should not be used in isolation, but rather placed within the context of other 
findings and issues highlighted in the report.

The PPM analysis of cricket pitches shows a current deficiency in the provision at peak 
times in all areas. These shortfalls are due to the significant amount of adult matches 
occurring on a Saturday (71% of adult matches) during the week. The greatest shortfall is 
in the Sittingbourne analysis area. 

Junior teams are likely to play shorter games (and therefore more teams can be 
accommodated than specified by the PPM). This means that the shortfalls in current 
provision may not be as severe as they appear and in some instances current play can 
be accommodated on current supply. Analysis of site capacity (summarised in table 6.6) 
demonstrates that the large majority of sites (19 in total) have spare capacity and only a 
small number of sites (five in total) are operating at over capacity. Consultation reports 
the number of clubs in Swale has declined over the previous ten years with many clubs 
amalgamating due to a lack of demand. 

Although the PPM indicates there will be a greater shortfall of cricket pitches by 2026 if 
trends continue it is likely that increasing access to education sites (as oppose to new 
provision), where possible, could help to satisfy future demand. 

Page 172



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                 3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                  61

21 Population Source Data for 2011 and 2016 provided by Swale District Council: Copy of Ward 
forecasts_14 494 dwelling scenario_results_version 2.xls

Cricket summary 
 There are 28 cricket pitches, of which 25 (88%) are available for community use in Swale, 

accommodating 101 teams (including seniors and juniors). 
 The majority of the population in Swale are within a 15 minutes drive time catchment area 

of a Cricket pitch that has community access with only the areas around Faversham of 
Graveny, Uplees and Conyer sitting on the edge of a 15 minute catchment.

 Site assessments generally score the quality of pitches as good. Two pitches; Queen 
Elizabeth Grammar School and Westlands School are rated as poor quality. These sites 
are not currently available for community use. 

 Demand for additional cricket training facilities is expressed by Macknade and Davington 
Priory cricket clubs. Munster (Sheppey) CC reports demand for better quality outdoor 
artificial nets to support its pre season/winter training. 

 Analysis of match play indicates a number of sites (17 in total) which have spare capacity to 
accommodate additional play. However, five sites are deemed to be overplayed primarily 
due to the number of teams (both senior and juniors) using the sites each week. Where this 
is due to junior play i.e., Rodmersham Cricket Club provision of artificial wickets at sites 
would help to reduce overplay. 

 In order to meet the current and future shortfall of cricket pitches there is a need for 
additional cricket pitch provision; particularly in the Sittingbourne Analysis Area (where four 
sites are overplayed). 

 Whilst there is a small shortfall of pitches in Faversham Analysis Area, this could potentially 
be accommodated at Queen Elizabeth Grammar School (site provides one cricket pitch 
which is poor quality and is not available for community use). Consultation reports the 
School has plans in the future to relocate the cricket pitch to ensure provision is available 
throughout the cricket season. 

 The PPM analysis of cricket pitches shows a current deficiency in the provision at peak 
times in all areas. These shortfalls are due to the significant amount of adult matches 
occurring on a Saturday (71% of adult matches) during the week. The greatest shortfall is in 
the Sittingbourne analysis area. There will be a greater shortfall of cricket pitches by 2026. 
However, if trends continue it is likely that increasing access to education sites (as oppose 
to new provision), where possible, could help to satisfy future demand. 

 Population growth21 in Swale has been applied to provide an indication as to how many 
additional cricket teams will be generated in the future. The most significant increase will 
occur in the Sittingbourne analysis area with an additional 6.0 senior and 3.0 junior boys 
cricket teams by 2026. Furthermore, It is likely that women’s and girls’ cricket participation 
will further increase given the ECB national target to establish two junior girls’ and a 
women’s team in every local authority over the next five years (as detailed earlier).

Page 173



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                 3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                  62

PART 7: RUGBY

7.1: Introduction 

The Kent County Rugby Football Union (KRFU) administers rugby union across the 
County, including Swale. There are three active clubs (Sittingbourne, Sheppey and 
Faversham) playing competitively in Swale with the season operating from September to 
April.

Consultation 

An electronic survey was sent to rugby clubs playing in Swale, all of which responded. 
Results are used to inform key issues within this section of the report.

7.2: Current provision

In total, there are 14 rugby union pitches (eight senior and six mini pitches) located 
across three sites which are available for community use in Swale. 

Table 7.1: Summary of rugby union pitches available for community use 

Please note that the audit only assesses dedicated, line marked pitches. Towards a Level 
Playing Field methodology identifies that a rugby pitch is 144m x 69m and a junior pitch is 
70m x 43m. 

In addition, there are three senior rugby union pitches not available for community use. 
These are all located at educational sites and are located in the Faversham and 
Sittingbourne analysis areas. 

Figure 7.1 below indicates that the distribution of rugby pitches is concentrated in the 
Sittingbourne and Faversham analysis areas. The map also includes several sites without 
community use (identified as a blue dot on the map below). 

  

Number of pitches available for community use  Analysis area
Senior pitches Mini pitches

 Faversham 1 -
 Sheppey 3 3
 Sittingbourne 4 3
 SWALE 8 6

Page 174



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                               3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                    63

Figure 7.1: Location of rugby union pitches in Swale

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number 100020577.Created by Knight, Kavanagh & Page (www.kkp.co.uk)

MAIDSTONE

MEDWAY

ASHFORD

CANTERBURY

Sittingbourne

98

99

97

37

102

45

9

THURROCK

Faversham

Sheppey

Swale - Rugby Pitches
Assessed by Quality / Capacity

Over-used
At Guidance Level
No Community Use

Analysis Areas

Analysis area boundaries

Population density per square mile

40,400 to 40,500
16,000 to 40,400
12,100 to 16,000
7,900 to 12,100
5,400 to 7,900
3,200 to 5,400
2,200 to 3,200

700 to 2,200
300 to 700
100 to 300P

age 175



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013         3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              64

Table 7.2: Key to map 

KKP 
ref

Site name Analysis area Community 
use

Senior Mini

9 Faversham Recreation Ground Faversham Yes 1 -
97 Queen Elizabeth Grammar School Faversham No 1 -
98 The Abbey School Faversham No 1 -
37 Sheppey RFC Sheppey Yes 3 3

102 Fulston Manor School (Cromers 
Corner Playing Field) 

Sittingbourne Yes 2 -

99 Sittingbourne Community College 
Sports Centre 

Sittingbourne No 1 -

45 The Grove Sittingbourne Yes 2 3

The majority of the Swale population are within a 15 minute drive time of a Rugby pitch 
with community access (See appendix 7) with a few areas such as Upchurch, Graveny, 
Conyer and Uplees sitting on the periphery of these catchment areas.

Pitch quality

Site assessments suggest that the quality of rugby pitches across Swale is generally 
‘good’. However, it should be noted that site visits are ‘non technical’ and do not capture 
issues such as drainage and maintenance.  

Table 7.3: Pitch quality assessments of community use pitches following site visits  

Senior pitches Mini pitches
8 6

Good Average Poor Good Average Poor
6 2 - 6 - -

The pitches at Sheppey RFC are recognised as being of high quality despite being 
located on a floodplain.

7.3: Key summary of consultation 

Sittingbourne RFC  

The Club fields 13 teams including midis, juniors and seniors and has been awarded the 
RFU’s mini and youth ‘Seal of Approval’ accreditation. Its senior playing membership has 
remained static over the previous three years. However, it reports its mini/midi teams 
have increased at all ages from U6 to U12. 

Its home ground is located at The Grove.  The site includes five rugby pitches (two senior 
and three mini) a cricket pitch and a clubhouse facility. It has plans to increase by two 
youth boy’s teams and reports this will be accommodated at The Grove. However, the 
site is overplayed due to the amount of competitive and training fixtures assigned to the 
pitches. 

In order to accommodate its mini and youth section, it also accesses two rugby pitches at 
Fulston Manor School off site playing fields (Cromers Corner Playing Field). The 
changing facilities are not available for community use due poor quality. As a result, the 

Page 176



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013         3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              65

Club is actively seeking alternative venues where there is access to pitches alongside 
ancillary provision such as changing, car parking and social facilities and is in informal 
discussions with Sittingbourne Community College Sports Centre. 
Its long term aspiration is to secure its own home ground with access to a clubhouse 
facility and training provision. Whilst this is currently available at GCCC it believes its 
increasing membership (at mini/midi and youth level) will shortly outgrow the facilities 
available. 

Sheppey RFC 

Senior, youth and mini membership levels have remained static over the previous three 
years. It has been awarded the RFU’s mini and youth ‘Seal of Approval’ accreditation. 
The Club has plans to increase the number of teams by four (one senior mens, one youth 
boys, one youth girls’ and one mini/midi) which can be accommodated at its home 
ground. 

Its home ground is located on Sheppey and contains three senior (one floodlit) and three 
mini pitches, car parking and a clubhouse facility with four changing rooms. It reports at 
peak times (when the pitches are used by both genders) there is not enough changing to 
accommodate all teams. Supported by the RFU, it cites facility development plans which 
include an extension to the existing clubhouse to enable an increase in the number of 
changing rooms. Planning permission and design guidance is still required for this 
development. 

Faversham RFC 

The Club field two senior rugby teams and accesses local authority pitches at Faversham 
Recreation Ground. 

The changing facilities are rated by users as poor and in need of improvement. The 
showers are only available at weekends. Consultation suggests the pitches have tree 
roots emerging which create a health and safety issue (although some have been 
removed). Dog fouling and litter are also a reported issue on the pitches. 

Training facilities  

Rugby training is generally accommodated on existing competitive grass pitches (floodlit). 
As a result this contributes to a number being overplayed beyond their capacity. For 
example, pitches at The Grove are identified as being overused largely due to 
accommodating Sittingbourne RUFC’s training fixtures as well as competitive fixtures. 

Whilst there are a number of AGPs in Swale, none of these are International Rugby 
Board (IRB) approved. 

7.4: Demand

In total, there are 27 rugby union teams playing across Swale (eight senior, seven junior 
and 12 mini teams). Sheppey accommodates the highest number of teams (seven senior 
and ten junior).

Page 177



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013         3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              66

Table 7.4: Summary of teams by analysis area

Peak time demand for rugby pitches (matches) is on Sundays when both adult games 
(35% of matches) and all junior matches (100% of matches) are being played. 

Both Sheppey and Sittingbourne rugby clubs have active junior sections. Whilst most 
clubs do not have dedicated junior girls’ teams it should be noted that girls are able to 
play alongside boys up until the age of 12. This means that a number of girls may be 
playing rugby as part of a mixed team. Sheppey RFC is looking to increase girls’ rugby as 
part of its club development plan by a specific girls’ team which will be accommodated at 
its existing home ground. 

Latent demand 

Latent demand is defined as the number of additional teams that could be fielded if there 
was access to a sufficient number of pitches. No latent demand was identified during 
consultation.  

7.5: Provision of rugby union pitch sites assessed by quality and capacity

In order to conduct a supply and demand assessment of rugby pitches in Swale, the 
following assumptions have been applied to site by site analysis:

 All sites that are used for competitive rugby matches (regardless of whether this is 
secured community use) are included on the supply side.

 All competitive play is on senior sized pitches (with the exception of where mini 
pitches are provided).

 From U13 upwards, teams play 15-a-side rugby and use a full pitch.
 Mini teams (U7-12) play across half one adult team (i.e., two teams per senior pitch).
 For senior and junior teams the current level of play per week is set at 0.5 for each 

match played.  This is based on all teams operating on a traditional ‘home’ and 
‘away’ basis (this assumes half of matches will be played ‘away’).

 For mini teams, play per week is set at 0.25 for each match played based on all 
teams operating a traditional ‘home’ and ‘away’ system and that they play across half 
one adult team.

 All male adult club rugby takes place on a Saturday afternoon. 
 Training that takes place on club pitches is reflected by addition of team equivalents.

This section presents the current pitch stock available for rugby union in Swale. It 
illustrates the:

 Number of pitches rated as Good (G), Average (A) and Poor (P) on each site.
 Type of pitch(es) on each site (i.e., senior, junior, mini).

No. of competitive rugby union teams Analysis area
Senior men Senior women Juniors Mini rugby

 Faversham 2 - - -
 Sheppey 3 - 4 6
 Sittingbourne 3 - 3 7
 SWALE 8 - 7 13

Page 178



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013         3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page              67

The column entitled ‘matches per week’ is split into three sections – play, capacity and 
rating.  It indicates the:

 Average number of fixtures played on the Site each week.
 Capacity of the pitches on each site.
 Rating of the pitches, which indicates if pitches are played under capacity (green), 

played at capacity (amber) or played over-capacity (red).

Calculation of capacity is based on the qualitative ratings. Taking into consideration 
Sport England guidelines on capacity the following was concluded:

If a pitch is rated as ‘good’ its capacity is specified as two matches per week
If a pitch is rated as ‘acceptable’ its capacity is specified as one match per week
If a pitch is rated as ‘poor’ its capacity is specified as 0.5 match every other week

Page 179



SWALE DISTRICT COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                       3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                   68

Where sites are overplayed in the Borough this is as a result of overplay i.e. due to the large number of teams using the pitches for competitive 
matches and training (team equivalents). Team equivalents22 have been calculated on the basis that 30 players (two teams) train on the pitch 
for 90 minutes (team equivalent of one) per night. 

Table 7.5: Rugby union provision and level of community use 

22 Refer to Appendix two for list of team equivalents. 
23 This includes one floodlit training pitch which is used by Sittingbourne Rugby Club to accommodate training and competitive matches

Senior Mini Matches/training per weekKKP 
ref

Site name Analysis area
G A P G A P Actual 

play
Capacity Rating

Comments 

9 Faversham Recreation Ground Faversham 1 3 2 The pitch is slightly overplayed by 
one match each week. 

37 Sheppey RFC Sheppey 3 3 7 12 Although the pitches are showing 
as having spare capacity at peak 
time (Sunday) the pitches are 
being used to capacity. 

45 The Grove Sittingbourne 223 3 10.8 10 The site is overplayed due to the 
amount of competitive and 
training fixtures assigned to this 
site. In addition, the pitches are 
also occasionally used to host 
school matches and festivals.

102 Fulston Manor School (Cromers 
Corner Playing Field)

Sittingbourne 2 - 4 Although the pitches are available 
for community use these are only 
used occasionally. 

P
age 180



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013               3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page        69

7.6 Supply and demand analysis

Overplay

Two sites; Faversham Recreation Ground and The Grove are identified as being 
overplayed due to the amount of competitive and training fixtures assigned to the pitches. 
This is affecting the quality and therefore capacity of rugby pitches. 

Temporal demand

Temporal demand identifies times of peak demand and use of pitches throughout the 
week. The peak time use of rugby union football pitches is on a Saturday (i.e., this is 
when most pitches are in use). All adult competitive matches (four games per week) take 
place on a Saturday. Junior (3.5 games per week) and mini games (3.25 games per 
week) are solely on a Sunday (100% of matches). The table below provides a summary 
of temporal demand for pitches in the Borough: 

Table 7.6: Temporal demand for pitches in Swale 

Day Games % of games No. of games per 
week 

Adult games 100%
Junior games 0%

Saturday
 
 Mini games 0%

Adult games 0%
Junior games 100%

Sunday
 
 Mini games 100%

Adult games 0%
Junior games 0%

Midweek

Mini games 0%

Total 
4 adult games 

3.5 junior games 
3.25 mini games 

Rugby Team Generation Rates (TGRs) 

TGRs indicate how many people in a specified age group are required to generate one 
team. TGRs are derived by dividing the appropriate population age band in an area by 
the number of teams playing within that area in that age band. Calculating TGRs enables 
participation comparisons to be made between different areas. 

The following current TGRs have been calculated for each of the analysis area based on 
the current supply and demand. Where no TGR is shown this indicates that no teams 
operate at the age group, for football, in that area. 

Page 181



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013               3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page        70

Table 7.7: Rugby TGRs

Junior boys and mini-rugby is concentrated in two analysis areas; Sheppey and 
Sittingbourne. Where no TGR is shown this indicates there are no teams for that age 
group at present in Swale.  

TGRs for rugby in Swale are good compared to national averages, particularly at senior 
mens’ level and junior boys’. There is currently no participation recorded for junior girls’; 
this is a possible area for development in the future. However, this is the case across the 
Country and not just an issue in Swale. There is currently no recognised national average 
TGR for mini-rugby. 

It has not been possible to benchmark Swale’s Rugby team generation rate against those 
recorded for its nearest neighbours as these are not robust and up to date. In addition, it 
is not possible to benchmark TGR’s against its ‘nearest neighbours’ Dover, Sedgemoor, 
Lancaster and Havant as the local authorities either have not PPS in place or it is not 
robust and up to date. 

Future demand 

Population growth24 in Swale has been applied to provide an indication as to how many 
additional rugby teams will be generated in the future. This will result in an additional 4.2 
rugby teams across Swale by 2026. 

Table 7.8: Future demand increases

No. of additional teams by 2026
Analysis area Senior (18-55)

Men
Senior (18-55) 

Women
Junior (11-17 

Boys)
Junior (11-17 

Girls

Faversham 0.1 - - -

Sheppey 0.5 - 0.7 1.0

Sittingbourne 0.6 - 0.6 1.4

SWALE 1.2 - 1.1 2.0

24 Population Source Data for 2011 and 2016 provided by Swale District Council: Copy of Ward 
forecasts_14 494 dwelling scenario_results_version 2.xls

 Analysis area Senior 
(18-45) 
Men’

Senior 
(18-45) 
Women

Junior 
(13-17)
Boys

Mini-rugby  
(8-12) 
Mixed

 Faversham 1:2,715 - - -
 Sheppey 1:2,509 - 1:389 1:532
 Sittingbourne 1:3,344 - 1:715 1:644
 SWALE 1:2,874 - 1:703 1:783

 NATIONAL AVERAGE 1:7,032 1:43,770 1:2,105 -

Page 182



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013               3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page        71

In addition, Sittingbourne RFC has plans to increase by an additional two youth boy’s 
teams and reports this will be accommodated at The Grove. However, it should be noted 
that the site is already overplayed due to the amount of competitive and training fixtures 
assigned to the pitches. 

Spare capacity

The pitches at Sheppey RFC are shown as having spare capacity, although from an 
analysis of usage they are in fact used to capacity at peak time (Sunday). Therefore, any 
further competitive/training usage will impact on the pitch quality. 

Playing Pitch Model (PPM)

Sport England’s PPM is used to assess whether supply of pitches is sufficient at peak 
times. The results are shown below. 

Table 7.9: Current PPM summary 

Current surplus/deficiency of rugby 
union pitches

Future surplus/deficiency of rugby 
union pitches by 2026  

Analysis area 

Senior 
pitches

Junior 
pitches 

Mini 
pitches

Senior 
pitches

Junior 
pitches 

Mini 
pitches

 Faversham - - - -0.1 - 0 

 Sheppey 1.5 - 1.5 1.3 - 1.3

 Sittingbourne 2.5 - 1.3 2.2 - 0.9

 SWALE 4.0 - 2.8 3.4 - 2.2

Those sites which have not been allocated as having regular current play (i.e. no 
community use) have not been included in the PPM analysis above (this mostly includes 
school sites).

Across the Borough there is a current and future surplus of senior and mini rugby pitches. 
The surplus of senior pitches is attributed to the spare capacity of the rugby union pitches 
at Fulston Manor School (Cromers Corner Playing Field). Whilst there is an identified 
surplus of mini pitches recorded in the Sheppey analysis area analysis of pitch capacity 
identifies the mini pitches at Sheppey RFC are in face used to capacity at peak time 
(Sunday) and thus in reality there is no surplus at peak time. As such, access to sites 
which provide rugby union pitches and are not currently available for community use 
could potentially satisfy demand from Sheppey RFC.

Page 183



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013               3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page        72

25 Population Source Data for 2011 and 2016 provided by Swale District Council: Copy of Ward 
forecasts_14 494 dwelling scenario_results_version 2.xls

Rugby summary 
 In total, there are 14 rugby union pitches (eight senior and six mini pitches) located across 

three sites which are available for community use in Swale. 
 The majority of the Swale population are within a 15 minute drive time of a Rugby 

pitch with community access (See appendix 7) with a few areas such as Upchurch, 
Graveny, Conyer and Uplees sitting on the periphery of these catchment areas.

 In total, there are 28 rugby union teams playing across Swale. In addition, the majority of 
training occurs on competitive grass rugby pitches (due to a lack of designated training 
facilities) which further adds pressure on pitches.

 Quality of pitch provision is in general deemed to be of a sufficient level. 
 Sheppey RFC reports at peak times there is not enough changing provision to 

accommodate all teams. It has facility development plans which include an extension to the 
existing clubhouse. 

 Sport England’s PPM model identifies there is a current and future surplus of senior and 
mini rugby pitches. The current surplus is attributed to spare capacity of existing sites in 
Swale. It is likely that rugby union participation will increase in the Borough which could be 
satisfied by existing provision and ensuring these sites are available for community use.

 Population growth25 in Swale has been applied to provide an indication as to how many 
additional rugby teams will be generated in the future. This will result in an additional 4.2 
rugby teams across Swale by 2026. Furthermore, In addition, Sittingbourne RFC has plans 
to increase by an additional two youth boy’s teams and reports this will be accommodated 
at The Grove. However, it should be noted that the site is already overplayed due to the 
amount of competitive and training fixtures assigned to the pitches. 

Page 184



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013               3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page        73

PART 8: HOCKEY  

Governance of the sport is devolved by England Hockey (EH) at a regional and local level 
to regional and county associations. The game is played predominately on sand 
based/filled artificial grass pitches (AGPs). EH has also sanctioned (in partnership with 
The FA) competitive use of 40mm pile third generation turf pitches. However, this is 
currently only for ‘low level use’ (i.e., training and junior competition) and not for 
competitive hockey. 

It is also recommended that for training and community facilities long pile (60mm) is not 
the preferred option for teaching hockey. However, long pile surfaces are more preferable 
for introducing the game to beginners than poor grass or tarmac surfaces.

Consultation 

Representatives from all clubs from Swale (Old Bordenians, Faversham Ladies and Gore 
Court) were spoken to (100% response rate) as part of the consultation exercise. Results 
are used to inform key issues within this section of the report.

8.1: Current provision

There are six full size AGPs in Swale. Of these, three are sand filled and are suitable for 
competitive hockey use with The Abbey School, Isle of Sheppey Academy and 
Sittingbourne Community College Sports Centre (which also accommodates a sand filled  
AGP) being 3G surfaces. 

Table 8.1: Summary of full size AGPs by analysis area

Analysis area Number of AGPs
Faversham 1
Sheppey 1
Sittingbourne 4
SWALE 6

No grass hockey pitches were identified in the audit. All AGPs are located on 
education/dual use leisure centre sites which accommodate school use during the day 
and all are floodlit. There are no water based AGPs in Swale. 

Figure 8.1 overleaf shows that AGPs are concentrated in the Sittingbourne Analysis Area 
which accommodates four AGPs (three sand filled and one 3G). 

Page 185



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                      3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                               74

Figure 8.1: Location of AGPs in Swale

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number 100020577.Created by Knight, Kavanagh & Page (www.kkp.co.uk)

MAIDSTONE

MEDWAY

ASHFORD

CANTERBURY

Sittingbourne

40

40
64

53

54

44

THURROCK

Faversham

Sheppey

Swale
AGP by surface type

3G
Sand based

Analysis Areas

Analysis area boundaries

Population density per square mile

40,400 to 40,500
16,000 to 40,400
12,100 to 16,000
7,900 to 12,100
5,400 to 7,900
3,200 to 5,400
2,200 to 3,200

700 to 2,200
300 to 700
100 to 300P

age 186



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                                                      3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                                                               75

Table 8.2: Key to AGP location map in Swale 

Site KKP 
Ref

Analysis 
area

Year 
built 

Refurbished 
since built 

Size 
(meters)

Surface Quantity Floodlit Community use hours26 

The Abbey School 44 Faversham Unknown No 106 x 70 3G 1 Yes Mon – Fri: School closing 
time - 21:30 
Saturday: 10:00 – 20:00 
Sunday: 10:00 – 17:00 

Isle of Sheppey 
Academy

54 Sheppey 2004 No 110 x 70 3G 1 Yes Mon – Fri: 16:30 – 21:30 
Weekends: 09:00 – 21:30 

Sittingbourne 
Community College 
Sports Centre

40 Sittingbourne 2007 No 100 x 60 3G 1 Yes Mon – Fri: 17:00 – 22:30  
Weekends: 09:00 – 21:00

Sittingbourne 
Community College 
Sports Centre

40 Sittingbourne 2007 No 100 x 60 Sand 
filled 

1 Yes Mon – Fri: 17:00 – 22:30  
Weekends: 09:00 – 21:00

Borden Grammar 
School

53 Sittingbourne 2003 No 110 x 70 Sand 
filled

1 Yes Mon – Fri: 17:00 – 21:30
Weekends: 09:00 – 18:00 

Westlands School 64 Sittingbourne 1992 Yes (2006) 100 x 60 Sand 
filled 

1 Yes Mon – Fri: 17:00 – 22:00  
Weekends: 09:00 – 22:00

26 Indicative opening hours based on a Winter term-time schedule 

P
age 187



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013              3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page            76

8.2: Development 

‘The right pitches in the right places27’ 

In 2012, EH released its facility guidance which is intended to assist organisations 
wishing to build or protect hockey pitches for hockey. It identifies that many existing 
hockey AGPs are nearing the end of their useful life as a result of the installation boom of 
the 90’s. Significant investment is needed to update the playing stock and protect the 
sport against inappropriate surfaces for hockey as a result of the rising popularity of AGPs 
for a number of sports. 

EH ware seeking to invest in, and endorse clubs and hockey providers who have a sound 
understanding of the following:

 Single System – clubs and providers who have a good understanding of the Single 
System and its principles and are appropriately places to support the delivery. 

 ClubsFirst accreditation – clubs with the accreditation are recognised as producing a 
safe effective and child friendly hockey environment 

 Sustainability – hockey providers and clubs will have an approved development plan 
in place showing their commitment to developing hockey, retaining members and 
providing an insight into longer term goals. They will also need to have secured 
appropriate tenure. 

Development programmes 

England Hockey has a range of hockey programmes to support recreational and club 
activity which is summarised in the table below: 

Programme name Type Where/how is this delivered in 
Swale? 

Back to Hockey Back to Hockey provides a gentle 
introduction or re-introduction to 
hockey. It's open to all females 
whether they have played before or 
not.

Old Bordenians Hockey Club 

Rush Hockey Aimed at increasing participation 
through a small sided game (5-a-
side) and can be played on any 
indoor or outdoor surface 

Old Bordenians Hockey Club

Junior Development Centres (JDC) and Junior Academy Centres (JAC)

A JDC is a local training centre for the U13 to U17 age groups. Each centre is open to 
any player who has been nominated by their club, school or coach. After playing for a 
club or school, attending a centre is the next step on the Player Pathway. In order to 
become a JDC, the site must provide a full size (preferably floodlit) AGP. There is a JDC 
operated by Old Bordenians Hockey Club at Borden Grammar School. 

27 
http://englandhockey.co.uk/page.asp?section=1143&sectionTitle=The+Right+Pitches+in+the+Righ
t+Places  

Page 188

http://englandhockey.co.uk/page.asp?section=1143&sectionTitle=The+Right+Pitches+in+the+Right+Places
http://englandhockey.co.uk/page.asp?section=1143&sectionTitle=The+Right+Pitches+in+the+Right+Places


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013              3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page            77

A JAC is the next step on the Player Pathway.  JACs are located, in the majority of cases, 
at the same locations as JDCs. In Swale there is a JAC for U13 boys at Borden Grammar 
School.  

8.3: Key issues for hockey 

Quality

With the exception of Borden Grammar School, the remaining AGPs in Swale are 
assessed as ‘good’ quality. Borden Grammar School received a ‘below average’ score. 
The typical life span of an AGP is 10-12 years (this depends heavily on the type of sub 
base used, quality of the carpet that has been installed, amount of usage and the quality 
of maintenance). It is likely that two AGPs; Isle of Sheppey Academy and Borden 
Grammar School will require resurfacing in the next couple of years. 

Old Bordenians Hockey Club has recently submitted a funding application to Sport 
England’s Inspired Facilities Fund to replace the AGP (including a new surface) and is 
currently awaiting a decision. However, additional funding would be required to support 
this. This facility development has also been identified by England Hockey as a priority for 
funding as part of its latest facilities strategy. 

Isle of Sheppey Academy is undergoing facility developments which will see the quantity 
and quality of its outdoor sports provision improved and increased. However, resurfacing 
the AGP will not be initially included within the facility developments but is likely to be 
competed at a later stage. 

Community use  

All of the AGPs in Swale are available for community use both during the week and at 
weekends. Community use at The Abbey School is specified as part of the planning 
condition. However, the School is applying to SBC to extend community hours at the 
weekend to satisfy demand.

8.4 Supply and demand analysis

The two hockey clubs currently playing in Swale (Gore Court and Old Bordenians) field a 
total of 20 senior teams (17 senior and three junior teams). 

Faversham Ladies Hockey Club fields a ladies team, playing and training at Tower 
School, Hennington (located outside of the assessment area). At present this is the Club’s 
preferred home ground as it can guarantee access to the AGP at peak time (Saturday 
AM). However, the Club reports large proportions of its members are from Faversham 
and would consider relocating if access to an AGP in the Faversham area could be 
secured. 

Old Bordenians and Gore Court hockey clubs both have an active junior playing 
membership standing at 50 and 40 members. Both clubs report its playing membership 
(senior and junior) has remained static over the previous three years. 

Page 189



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013              3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page            78

Temporal demand

Temporal demand identifies times of peak demand and use of pitches throughout the 
week. The peak time use of artificial grass pitches for hockey is on a Saturday (i.e. this is 
when most pitches are in use). 

Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model November 2012 – Local Assessment 
Report for Swale Borough Council (Draft)

The Report includes a local assessment of swimming pools, sports halls and artificial 
grass (AGP) provision in Swale using its Facilities planning Model (FMP). The report was 
commissioned to help Swale Borough Council assess the extent to which the demand 
from the resident population of the Borough for these facility types may be currently met 
and to provide an indication of the likely impact of population growth. The key findings in 
relation to AGPs are summarised below. 

The FPM takes into account the population increase up to 20312829 The bespoke 
population projections used n the FPM indicate that the population of Swale will increase 
by 10.4%, or by 13,821 people from 132,522 in 2012 to 146,343 in 2031. 

Supply 

The FPM identifies a current supply of six AGPs across five sites. This total supply 
equates to a total capacity of 4,440 visits per week in the peak period.30 However, only 
half of the supply (three sand filled pitches at Borden Grammar School, The Westlands 
School AGP and Sittingbourne Community College) is suitable for hockey. All hockey 
provision is concentrated in the Sittingbourne area.  Therefore, a greater proportion of 
residents (78%) live further than a 20 minute walk of an AGPP and therefore less live 
within the walk time catchment of a site. 

The three AGPs provide Swale with 0.23 AGPs for hockey per 10,000 population (in 
2012) which reduces to 0.21 with the added population in 2031. 

Demand 

The demand for AGP provision in Swale totals 2,925 visits per week in the peak period 
(vpwpp). This equates to 3.97 AGPs of which approximately a quarter of the visits are for 
hockey. By 2032, the demand increases by an additional 300 vpwpp to 3,225 vpwpp and 
by approximately a third of an AGP to just over four AGPs (4.35). Hockey use accounts 
for 75 vpwpp of this additional demand.

28 Source:  Swale Borough Council commissioned ward level forecasts (August 2012 - version 2) consistent with district 
level forecast scenario based on building 14,494 dwellings between 2006-2031+ (10,406 dwellings between 2011-2031). 
Projections were produced by Business Intelligence, Research & Evaluation at Kent County Council.

30 Peak Period is the times when most people want to participate. Weekday: 12:00 to 13:30, 16:00 to 22.00, Saturday:  
09:00 to 16:00 and Sunday:    09:00 to 16:30

Page 190



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013              3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page            79

Supply/demand balance 

The FPM provides a ‘global’ simplistic picture of the adequacy of provision to meet 
demand in by 2031. This identifies an under supply (in 2012) of -0.2 AGPs in Swale. This 
undersupply is predicted to remain the same in 2031. 

It should be noted that this supply/demand balance does not take into account a number 
of factors including the location, nature, quality and accessibility of provision in relation to 
demand, facilities in neighbouring areas and the cross boundary movement of demand. 

Satisfied demand 

In 2012, the FPM identifies that 96.7% of demand was satisfied. This is higher than 
national and regional averages (England; 79.2%, South East (84.3%) and its 
neighbouring authorities Medway (92.9%), Ashford (94.9%) and on par with levels for 
Canterbury (97.2%) and Maidstone (97%).  A greater proportion of the demand is for 
football use (98.5%) than for hockey use (90.2%). In comparison, the neighbouring 
authorities; Medway, Maidstone, Ashford and Canterbury) also receive lower satisfied 
demand scores for hockey. 

Unmet demand 

In 2012, a small proportion of unmet demand (3.3%) equates to 100 vpwpp (0.13 of a 
pitch). Hockey use represents approximately three quarters if the unmet demand in 2012 
and two thirds in 2031. For hockey use 71% of unmet demand is due to residents living 
outside the catchment of a site and 29% due to lack of capacity. 

Figure 8.2: Aggregated unmet demand (2012)

Unmet demand is identified across 
the Borough. However, the areas 
with the potential to meet the most 
unmet demand in 2012 (equivalent 
to one AGP) are located towards the 
border with Medway and Maidstone. 

The map (together with the limited 
level of unmet demand is Swale) 
indicates that additional provision in 
these areas, due to the accessibility 
afforded by the A249 and A2 would 
be likely to meet a significant amount 
of unmet demand from neighbouring 
areas particularly  from Medway. 

In 2031, a number of areas along the 
A239 into Swale record a figure at or 
above 1 pitch for hockey use and an 
area to the south of The Abbey 
School in Faversham also record a 
figure of a single pitch. 

Page 191



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       80

Latent demand

Latent demand is defined as the number of additional teams that could be fielded if there 
was access to a sufficient number of pitches. Gore Court HC report latent demand equating 
to one senior men’s team. Analysis of play at its existing home ground Westlands School 
indicates the AGP is already at capacity at peak time. It also suggests there is demand for 
access mid week to accommodate additional training fixtures. Demand could be 
accommodated at Sittingbourne Community College Sports Centre where there is currently 
no hockey played (due to a lack of demand). This AGP could also help to satisfy latent 
demand. 

Hockey Team Generation Rates (TGRs)

TGRs indicate how many people in a specified age group are required to generate one 
team. TFGRs are derived by dividing the appropriate population age band in the area by the 
number of teams playing within that area in that age band. Calculating TGRs enables a 
comparison of participation to be made between different analysis areas. TGRs can help to 
quantify where and why to target sports development activities at a particular area where 
participation may be low. 

The following current TGRs have been calculated for each of the analysis area based on the 
current supply and demand. Where no TGR is shown this indicates that no teams operate at 
the age group, for hockey, in that area. 

Table 8.3: Hockey TGRs

The table above indicates that the population required to generate one team across all age 
groups is significantly less than the national average. Hockey participation is concentrated in 
the Sittingbourne analysis area. 

It has not been possible to benchmark Swale’s Hockey team generation rate against those 
recorded for its nearest neighbours as these are not robust and up to date. In addition, it is 
not possible to benchmark TGR’s against its ‘nearest neighbours’ Dover, Sedgemoor, 
Lancaster and Havant as the local authorities either have not PPS in place or it is not robust 
and up to date. 

 Analysis area Senior 
(16-45) 
Men’s

Senior 
(16-45) 

Women’s

Junior 
(11-15)
Boys

Junior 
(11-15) 
Girls

 Faversham - - - -
 Sheppey - - - -
 Sittingbourne 1:824 1:2194 1:271 -
 SWALE 1:1,890 1:4,849 1:614 -
 NATIONAL AVERAGE 1:7595 1:10,292 1:4,239 1:5115

Page 192



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       81

Future demand 

Population growth31 in Swale has been applied to provide an indication as to how many 
additional rugby teams will be generated in the future. This will result in an additional 3.8 
hockey teams across Swale by 2026. Growth is predicted to occur primarily in the 
Sittingbourne analysis area. 

Table 8.4: Future demand increases

No. of additional teams by 2026 Analysis area
Senior (16-45) 

Men 
Senior (16-45) 

Women 
Junior (11-15 

Boys) 
Junior (11-15 

Girls 

 Faversham - - - -
 Sheppey - - - -
 Sittingbourne 2.6 1.0 1.4 -
 SWALE 2.0 0.8 1.1 0.0

In addition, latent demand is identified by Gore Court HC equating to one senior men’s team. 

Usage

Research conducted by Sport England into the use of AGPs suggests that provision has two 
principal roles – midweek training for football and weekend matches for hockey. Often, the 
size of the pitch is divided up for training purposes. Football training tends to dominate the 
use of AGPs in Swale particularly on sites where there is not hockey usage i.e. The 
Sittingbourne Community College Sports Centre.   Where AGPs are provided in Swale these 
tend to be used mid week (for hockey training and at weekends (mostly Saturday) for 
competitive hockey fixtures. 

None of the hockey clubs in Swale own its AGP. Old Bordenians Hockey Club operates a 
long term lease (50 years expiring in 2053) on the AGP at Boren Grammar School which is 
owned by the Borden Grammar School Trust. Gore Court Hockey Club rents the AGP at 
Westlands School which is operated by Gore Court (Westlands Ltd).  

Table 8.3: Summary of hockey usage 

Site name Club Teams Usage
The Abbey School - - No usage from hockey teams due to 

3G surface.
Isle of Sheppey 
Academy 

- - No usage from hockey teams due to 
3G surface.

Borden Grammar 
School 

Old Bordenians 
Hockey Club

Eight senior 
teams

Three junior 
teams

Home ground for its matches and 
training programme for both senior 
and junior teams.

Sittingbourne 
Community College 
Sports Centre (one 3G 

- - Both pitches are available for 
community use. However, at present 
there is no hockey usage due to a 

31 Population Source Data for 2011 and 2016 provided by Swale District Council: Copy of Ward 
forecasts_14 494 dwelling scenario_results_version 2.xls

Page 193



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       82

Site name Club Teams Usage
and one sandbased) lack of demand. 

Westlands School Gore Court 
Hockey Club

Six mens teams 
Three ladies 

teams 

Used from 10:00 – 18:00 (plus) on a 
Saturday to accommodate the Club’s 
competitive matches. It is also used 
for its training fixtures. 

The table above highlights that demand from the two clubs (Old Bordenians and Gore Court) 
in Swale is currently being met by provision at their current home grounds. However, Old 
Bordenians Hockey Club cites plans to increase its playing membership which may result in 
additional teams over the next three years. However, it reports its existing home ground is at 
capacity and access to an additional AGP will be required. 

Gore Court Hockey Club consider the cost of hiring the AGP at Westlands School to be 
expensive. It also reports financial difficulties of managing the clubhouse due to increased 
costs for insurance. It has a formal facility development plan which identifies the creation of a 
sinking fund to replace the AGP in 2020. 

Faversham Hockey Club does not access any AGP provision for training primarily due to 
hire costs and travel. 

Hockey summary
 There are six floodlit full size AGPs in Swale. Three are suitable (sand filled) and available for 

competitive hockey; two are rated as good quality and one (Borden Grammar School) is rated 
as ‘below average’ quality. 

 There is significant football use (for training) of all AGPs in Swale which further adds to the wear 
and tear of carpets/surfaces.

 The hockey clubs currently play in Swale (Gore Court and Old Bordenians) field a total of 20 
senior teams.

 Faversham Ladies Hockey Club plays outside of Swale at Tower School, Hennington. Given 
that a large proportion of players are from Faversham, it would prefer to play in the Area.

 Borden Grammar School is currently operating at peak time capacity for hockey. Any additional 
growth from Old Bordenians Hockey Club could not be accommodated at the site.

 Gore Court HC report latent demand equating to one senior men’s team which cannot be 
accommodated at Westlands School which is also operating to peak time hockey capacity.

 Sittingbourne Community College Sports Centre is not used for community use for hockey and 
as such offers spare capacity to accommodate demand expressed from clubs.

 Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model Report 2012  provides a ‘global’ simplistic picture of 
the adequacy of provision to meet demand in by 2031. This identifies an under supply (in 2012) 
of -0.2 AGPs in Swale. This undersupply is predicted to remain the same in 2031. It should be 
notes that this supply/demand balance does not take into account a number of factors including 
the location, nature, quality and accessibility of provision in relation to demand, facilities in 
neighbouring areas and the cross boundary movement of demand. 

 Population growth32 in Swale has been applied to provide an indication as to how many 
additional rugby teams will be generated in the future. This will result in an additional 3.8 hockey 
teams across Swale by 2026. Growth is predicted to occur primarily in the Sittingbourne 
analysis area. 

 

32 Population Source Data for 2011 and 2016 provided by Swale District Council: Copy of Ward 
forecasts_14 494 dwelling scenario_results_version 2.xls

Page 194



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       83

PART 9: EDUCATION

9.1 Introduction

The provision of sport and recreation facilities at schools and colleges can make an 
important contribution to the overall stock of provision. It is therefore important to have 
accurate information about the number, type, quality and availability of facilities and pitches 
within the education sector for Swale.

The new Education and Inspection Act (2006) came into force in early 2009 and amends the 
existing legislation within the Schools Standards and Framework Act (SSFA) 1998, which 
was originally introduced by the Government requiring all schools to seek approval from the 
Secretary of State for Education and Employment (Education and Skills since July 2001 now 
the Department for Children, Schools and Families) for the sale or change of use of their 
playing fields. Section 77 of the SSFA seeks to protect school playing fields against disposal 
or change of use by requiring the prior consent of the Secretary of State before disposal or 
change of use may take place. The School Playing Fields General Disposal and Change of 
Use Consent (No.3) 2004 order highlights some limited circumstances in which the requisite 
approval has been delegated to the relevant governing body (i.e., local authority), which can 
decide whether the disposal or change of use meets the circumstances and criteria set out in 
the Consent Order33.

9.2: All education provision

The following tables provide an outline of pitch facilities available within Swale. 

The table below outlines the proportion that is currently available for use by the community 
(i.e. regular competitive fixtures by local sports clubs).

Table 9.1: Summary of all pitches at schools in Swale 

Total no. of education pitchesAnalysis area
Senior 
football

Junior 
football

Mini 
football

Rugby Cricket AGPs

 Faversham 7 6 6 2 1 1
 Sheppey 2 6 1 - 1 1
 Sittingbourne 17 19 5 3 2 4
 SWALE 26 31 12 5 4 6

A significant proportion of Swale’s junior football pitches (74%) are located at school sites; it 
being the most prevalent form of pitch provision found at schools. 

Just over a third (36%) of senior football pitches are located at schools, of which, nearly 
three quarters (73%) have community use. In comparison, a small percentage of mini 
football pitches (16%) are identified as having community use.

33 Full and detailed guidance can be accessed at http://www.teachernet.gov.uk/docbank/index.cfm?id=11600

Page 195

http://www.teachernet.gov.uk/docbank/index.cfm?id=11600


SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       84

Table 9.2: Summary of school pitches with community use in Swale 

No. of education pitches with community useAnalysis area
Senior 
football

Junior 
football

Mini 
football

Senior 
rugby

Cricket AGPs

 Faversham 7 - 2 - - 1
 Sheppey - - - - 1 1
 Sittingbourne 12 11 - 2 1 4
 SWALE 19 11 2 2 2 6

9.3: Secondary schools provision

The following table provides a summary of the key issues and findings relating to the quality 
of outdoor sports provision at secondary school sites that have been identified as a result of 
face to face consultation with school representatives. 

KKP 
ref

School Summary 

44 The Abbey 
School

Outdoor sports provision at the School includes three senior football 
pitches and a floodlit 3G AGP (funded by the Football Foundation). The 
pitches are considered to be ‘good’ quality and are playable all year 
round. 
During the football season the football pitches are available for 
community use and are used for local league fixtures. The School 
report the football pitches are being played to capacity. However, 
analysis of play identifies the pitches have the capacity to 
accommodate an additional seven matches each week. 
The site also accommodates a sizable grassed area which could 
accommodate further grassed sports provision. However, remedial 
work would be necessary to ensure the pitch can be used. 
As per the requirements of the funding application for the 3G pitch, 
Dover Athletic FC has preferential bookings. Peak use of the 3G pitch 
is mid week although there is spare capacity at weekends. 
Maintenance of the facilities is provided by a private maintenance 
company.

53 Borden 
Grammar 
School 

The School accommodates one senior and two junior football pitches, 
a cricket pitch (including an artificial strip), five outdoor cricket nets, 
multi use games area (MUGA) and a 300 metre grass athletic track. 
Site assessments score the grass pitches as adequate. However, the 
sand filled, floodlit AGP is ‘below average’ quality.  
Old Bordenians Hockey Club operates a long term lease (50 years 
expiring in 2053) on the AGP which is owned by the Borden Grammar 
School Trust. The AGP received a ‘below average’ score. The typical 
life span of an AGP is 10-12 years (this depends heavily on the type of 
sub base used, quality of the carpet that has been installed, amount of 
usage and the quality of maintenance). It is likely that the AGP will 
require resurfacing in the next couple of years. 
The football pitches are used at weekends by two clubs; Park Tavern 
FC and Sporting Sittingbourne. 
There are plans to convert junior football pitches into dual use 
football/rugby pitches.  External funding will be required to purchase 
dual use goal posts (the School is currently fundraising for this). 

Page 196



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       85

KKP 
ref

School Summary 

102 Fulston Manor 
School

 

The School’s on-site outdoor sport provision is confined to a concrete 
MUGA with includes line markings for four netball courts and six tennis 
courts. This is considered to be ‘good’ quality. 
Its outdoor grassed sports provision known as ‘Cromers Corner 
Playing Field’ is located off-site approximately 1km away from the main 
school site. The site includes a purpose built pavilion (including 
changing rooms) two senior football and two senior rugby union 
pitches, grids, athletic track (Summer only), two long jump pits 
(including run ups), two high jump areas, two throwing circles, softball 
pitch and two rounder’s pitches. 
The pitches are rated as ‘good’ quality but are unsecure and open 
access to the local community. Therefore, unofficial use is evident. 
The football pitches are regularly used by one community football team 
at the weekends. There are issues with the size of the football pitches 
as the markings do not meet The FA pitch dimension regulations. The 
rugby union pitches are used by Sittingbourne RFC occasionally. 
Comers Corner Playing Field is not extensively used by the School 
(due to the distance from the main school site). As a result, it has an 
agreement with its neighboring school; Highstead Grammar to access 
its outdoor sports provision for its PE curriculum.
It cites aspirations to apply to Sport England’s Iconic Facilities Fund for 
a new indoor sports facility.

56 Highstead 
Grammar 
School 

Site assessments score the five senior football pitches as ‘poor’ quality 
due to undulating pitch surface, poor line markings and no goal posts. 
The pitches are not currently available for competitive community use. 
Unofficial use is also a reported issue. 
The pitches are also not regularly used for PE lessons. It uses its 
concrete MUGA (currently line marked for three netball and four tennis 
courts) to deliver its curricular and extracurricular programme. 
However, this is not floodlit.  
The School is reluctant to open its sports provision for community 
particularly at weekends due to the extra staff time and management of 
bookings that would be required. 

54 Isle of Sheppey 
Academy

Isle of Sheppey Academy is undergoing facility developments which 
will see the quantity and quality of its outdoor sports provision 
improved and increased (due to be completed by March 2013). 
Its ‘east site’ currently accommodates two senior football pitches. 
Redevelopments will also include a cricket and senior rugby union 
pitch. This will help to address the current shortfall of one rugby union 
pitch identified in the supply and demand analysis (PPM).  
The football pitches are not currently available for community use to 
drainage issues (which will be addressed as part of the 
redevelopments). However, previously they have been used by the Isle 
of Sheppey FC for competitive matches. There are plans to increase 
the level of community use once redevelopments have completed. 
The 3G floodlit AGP is used regularly by the Sheppey Sunday Football 
League for competitive matches and by Sheppey Rugby Club for 
training fixtures. The AGP is reaching the end of it life span (built in 
2004). Resurfacing the AGP will not be initially included within the 
facility developments but is likely to be competed at a later stage. 

Page 197



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       86

KKP 
ref

School Summary 

97 Queen 
Elizabeth’s 
Grammar 
School 

Outdoor sports provision at the School includes four senior football, 
one senior rugby union and one cricket pitch. It also accommodates a 
MUGA (line markings for four netball and five tennis courts). 
Site assessments score the football and cricket pitches as ‘poor’ 
quality. The rugby pitch is scored as ‘good’ quality. The School reports 
the poor quality is as a result of recent poor maintenance by a privately 
contracted firm which has left problem areas. 
Whilst the football pitches are used for competitive matches there is no 
community use of the rugby pitches due to a lack of demand. 
The outdoor sports provision is, on occasions, used for excavation digs 
and the remains of a recent dig have left the cricket pitch unplayable.
There are plans in the future to relocate the cricket pitch to ensure 
provision is available throughout the cricket season. 
The MUGA is earmarked for development and will be lost as a result of 
classroom expansion. However, this will be provided elsewhere on the 
site. 

40 Sittingbourne 
College 

Its extensive outdoor sports provision includes two floodlit AGP’s (one 
sand filled and one 3G), two concrete MUGA (line markings for four 
netball courts), one cricket, nine football pitches (three junior and six 
senior) and one senior rugby union pitch. 
Site assessments and consultation rate the pitches as ‘good’ quality. 
However, the School reports there are slight issues with the edges of 
the artificial wicket which may need to be addressed in the near future. 
The School reports the pitches are played to capacity at peak times 
and it operates a waiting list. 
A number of community football teams use the football pitches for 
competitive matches including Teynham Gunners FC and Sharsted 
FC. 
The rugby and cricket pitches are mainly used for school fixtures and 
PE lessons. However, the College is open to community use should 
there be demand. 

64 & 
65

Westlands 
School

The outdoor sports provision includes a sand filled floodlit AGP, three 
senior football and a cricket pitch.  Site assessments score the football 
pitches as ‘good; quality. However, the cricket pitch received a ‘poor’ 
rating. 
The football pitches are available for community use and are used 
occasionally by local team; Swale Magpies FC. The School is 
reluctance to increase the level of community use as it believes this 
may have an impact on the quality of the pitches.  
Future redevelopment of the playing pitches is planned within the next 
two years as well as the development of a new long jump pit.

9.4: Primary school provision

An online survey was sent to each primary (junior and infant) and special school in Swale 
(55 in total) via an email portal to ascertain the quality, quantity and accessibility of outdoor 
sports pitch facilities. A 76% return rate was obtained.

Page 198



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       87

Schools with playing fields

The vast majority of primary schools that returned the survey are identified as having access 
to a grass playing field or hard court surface, with only four schools indicating that they 
didn’t. Furthermore, all provision is identified as being on-site, with the one exception of St. 
George’s CEP School which indicated that they use both on-site and off-site playing 
facilities. 

Type of outdoor sports facilities 

Several types of outdoor sports facilities are accommodated at primary schools in Swale. 
Most sites tend to contain a junior football pitch (54.0%), generic grass field (45.9%), Multi 
Use Games Area (MUGA) (45.9%), netball courts (48.6%) or a mini soccer pitch (51.3%). 

As to be expected, no primary schools provide senior football or rugby pitches. There is also 
no junior rugby pitches reported.

Figure 9.1: Type of outdoor sports facilities at Swale Primary Schools

Playing fields

The majority of responses relating to the condition of playing fields are positive. Overall 
quality of pitch provision is good, with all categories receiving a score of either ‘good’ or 
‘average’. In particular, 92% of primary schools score grass cover and length of grass as 
being ‘good’. The vast majority of primary schools also rate safety margins (92%) as good. 
Nine out of ten (93%) primary schools report there is no unofficial use and a further 95% 
report there is no dog fouling on their playing fields. 

Page 199



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       88

Goalpost quality was the only category that did not receive a high percentage. However, it 
should be noted that 41% of primary schools did not provide an answer to this question. This 
may be due to the goal posts not being erected at the time of the primary school survey. 

Table 9.4: Matrix of playing field scores

Category Good % Average % Poor % No answer/ 
not 

applicable %
Grass cover 92 3 - 5
Length of grass 92 3 - 5
Evenness of pitch 70 22 - 8
Size of pitch 89 - - 11
Slope of pitch 87 8 - 5
Adequate safety margins 92 - - 8
Line markings 89 6 - 5
Goalpost quality 51 8 - 41

Use of playing fields

71% of primary school playing fields are available for community use during the holidays for 
coaching or other similar activities. In the main activities tend to be football or cricket training 
and/or clubs and summer play schemes. The most common reasons as to why playing fields 
were not used during the holidays include lack of demand followed by issues with lack of 
changing accommodation and issues with access to the facilities. 

These results are supported when considering wider availability of playing fields for regular 
community use by sports clubs, with over half of primary schools (54%) reporting that they 
have playing fields that are available for community use (20 in total). However, in the 
majority of cases it is also likely that although available, some playing fields are not currently 
being used for competitive matches. Schools that report regular sports team usage are; 
Bysing Wood Primary School, Grove Park Primary School, St George’s CEP School and 
Regis Manor School. 

Ancillary facilities

The vast majority of primary schools (85%) do not have specific changing 
accommodation/rooms available for sports use. Of those that do, the majority are available 
for community use and most rate the quality of provision as good.

44% of primary schools state there is access to car parking areas on site that is available for 
community use. However, a higher proportion of schools (58%) suggest that car parking is 
inadequate to cater for community users.

Page 200



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       89

Plans to develop or expand existing provision 

The majority of primary schools (71%) do not plan to expand or develop their existing 
outdoor sports provision. However, a significant proportion of primary schools (27%) report 
they do have intentions to expand or develop. Of these, only two primary schools report 
formal plans to develop their facilities: 

 Grove Park Primary School  - plans to formally line mark its playground. 
 Ospringe CE Primary school – seeking eternal funding for permenent football goal 

psostes. However, the School is located in a conservation area so this may provide 
difficult. 

Murston Junior School also reported that they had plans to develop or expand but did not 
give details. 

Schools summary 
 There are 84 pitches (grass football, rugby, cricket and artificial grass pitches) located at 

schools in Swale. 
 Whilst a number of schools report their outdoor  playing fields are available for community use, 

only a small proportion of these  (six primary and seven secondary) are actually used i.e. 
currently available and being used for competitive community use. 

 In the majority of instances, where pitches are available and in use, access to school changing 
accommodation is limited or non-existent.    

 Overall quality of primary school pitch provision is good, with all categories receiving a score of 
either ‘good’ or ‘average’

 The quality of secondary outdoor sports provision varies site by site. However, where there is 
poor quality provision there is also limited community use. 

 The quality and quantity of outdoor sports facilities at school sites varies across Swale, but the 
majority of sites are reported as good quality and are generally better in secondary schools. 

Page 201



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       90

PART 10: SUMMARY 

This Assessment Report considers the supply and demand issues for playing pitches in 
Swale. It identifies local need from consultation highlighting the predominant issues. This will 
inform the development of the Strategy and Action Plan to address key issues. Strategic 
recommendations and provision standards will also be incorporated in this document.

Page 202



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       91

PART 11: CONSULTEE LIST 

Name Designation Organisation
Andrew Heap Business Development Manager Abbey School
Daniel Rooney Secretary AFC Sittingbourne
Simon Harris Sports Projects Manager & Active 

Ashford Coordinator
Ashford Borough Council

Sue Foreman Office Administrator Bapchild and Tonge Church of 
England Primary School

Craig Hunt Secretary Bapchild CC
Rusell Temblett Secretary Belnor CC
Daniel Gower Secretary Black Bull Town FC
Danny Flower Senior Contract Developer Blenwoods Ground Maintenance 

Ltd
Peter Aylott Secretary Bobbing Court  & Lower Halstow 

CC
Chris Brinn Head of Sixth Form Borden Grammar School
John Stubberfield Secretary Borden Village FC
Alan Nutten Secretary Boughton Under Blean CC
Julia Anthony Business Manager Boughton-under-Blean and Dunkirk 

Primary School
Dave Parry Secretary Bredgar CC
- Head Teacher Bredgar Church of England Primary 

School
Angela Hill Secretary Bredhurst Juniors FC
Jan Howe Finance Officer Bysing Wood Primary School
Richard Griffiths Outdoor Leisure Manager Canterbury City Council
- Head Teacher Canterbury Road Primary School
- Head Teacher Challenger Centre
Mr M Gates Secretary Chimney Boy FC
Craig Austin Secretary Classic Real FC
Barbara Dickenson Secretary Courtenay Rangers FC
Charlie Osmond Secretary Crooked Billet FC
- Head Teacher Davington Primary School
Graham Owen Secretary Davington Priory CC
Jamie Durbidge Secretary Dawes Hernhill Herons FC
Andy Hayward Secretary Eastchurch CC
Sylvia Bishop Finance Manager Eastchurch Church of England 

Primary School
- Head Teacher Eastling Primary School
- Head Teacher Elliott Park School
Jo Irvine - England Hockey Board 
Chris Whitaker Facilities and Investment Manager English Cricket Board 
- Head Teacher Ethelbert Road Primary School
Clare Smithson Secretary Faversham Ladies Hockey Club
Alex Delamain Secretary Faversham Rugby Club

Page 203



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       92

Name Designation Organisation
Tracey Axford Secretary Faversham Strikeforce FC
Harrison Grant Club Manager Faversham Town Elizabethans FC
Wendy Walker Secretary Faversham Town Juniors FC
Sharon Best Business Director Fulston Manor School
Dave Crompton Secretary Gore Court CC
Nigel Eves Secretary Gore Court Hockey Club
- Head Teacher Graveney Primary School
Mandy Lloyd Business Manager Grove Park Community Primary 

School
Mr Ryan Driver Head Teacher Halfway Houses Primary School
Daniel Goodwin Secretary Harps Inn FC
Jackie Warncken Office Manager Hartlip Endowed Church of England 

Primary School
- Head Teacher Hernhill Church of England Primary 

School
Ann Clements Finance & Property Manager Highsted Grammar School
Patrick Allison Secretary Holm Sports FC
- Head Teacher Hythe House Education
Jason Crofskey Head of PE Isle of Sheppey Academy
Jo Simms Secretary Iwade Herons FC
Lara Gibbons Business Manager Kemsley Primary School
Adam Hodder Cricket Development Officer Kent Cricket Board 
Darryl Hadden - Kent Football Association 
Karen Sport Coordinator Lansdowne Primary School
Richard Chesson Secretary Little Sharsted FC
- Head Teacher Lorenden Preparatory School
- Head Teacher Lower Halstow Primary School
- Head Teacher Luddenham School
- Head Teacher Lynsted and Norton Primary School
Trevor Martin Secretary Macknade CC
Jason Taylor Parks and Leisure Manager Maidstone Borough Council
Mr Stephen 
Beaumont

Secretary MDPFL / Invicta Primary League

- Head Teacher Meadowfield School
Tina Martin Medway Council
Mr John Wren Secretary Medway Messenger Sunday 

Football League
Mrs Christine Carey Secretary Medway News Youth League
Roger Chapman Secretary Milstead CC
Lara Gibbons Business Manager Milton Court Primary School
Mark Tucker Secretary Minster (Sheppey) CC
- Head Teacher Minster in Sheppey Primary School
- Head Teacher Minterne Community Junior School
Geoff Lawrence Secretary Murston CC

Page 204



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       93

Name Designation Organisation
- Head Teacher Murston Junior School
Debbie Harrison Secretary New Road Juniors FC
Lance Morgan Secretary Newington CC
Mark Ashworth Secretary Norton Sports FC
Martin Harrison Secretary Oak Athletic FC
David Wherrell Secretary Old Bordenians Hockey Club
David Brown Secretary Old Oak FC
Mrs Roberts Business Manager Ospringe Church of England 

Primary School
Colin Rogers Secretary Park Regis FC
Graham Smith Secretary Provender CC
Peter Kemp Head of PE Queen Elizabeth's Grammar School
- Head Teacher Queenborough School and Nursery
Eddy McEntire Secretary Range Rovers FC
Simon Topham Secretary Real 60 FC
Rick Bruin - RFU
Sam School Office Rodmersham School
Nicky School Office Rose Street Primary School
Mr Ray Chambers Secretary Sentinels FC
Jonathan Longhurst Secretary Sheerness East FC
Martin Read Secretary Sheerness East Youth FC
- Head Teacher Sheldwich Primary School
Neil Golding Secretary Sheppey Rugby Club
Mark Rogers Secretary Sheppey Sunday League
Mark Rogers Secretary Sheppey Sunday League
Hilary Carey Secretary Sittingbourne Athletic
Carole Harris Sports Centre Manager Sittingbourne Community College 

Sports Centre
John Pitts Secretary Sittingbourne FC
Trevor Smith Secretary Sittingbourne Lions FC
David Hall Secretary Sittingbourne Rugby Club
- Head Teacher South Avenue Infant School
Dale Greetham Planner Sport England
Mrs Caroline Wiles Business Manager St Edward's Catholic Primary 

School
Miss Hill Office Administrator St Georges C of E (Aided) Primary 

School
Barbara Fullegar Office Administrator St Mary of Charity C of E (Aided) 

Primary School
Mrs Caroline Wiles Business Manager St Peter's Catholic Primary School
Anne Jones Secretary Stockbury Athletic FC
Len Mayatt Open Spaces Manager Swale Borough Council
Alan Marolia - Swale Borough Council
Graeme Tuff Greenspace Manager Swale Borough Council

Page 205



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       94

Name Designation Organisation
Donner Seager Administrator – Pitch Bookings Swale Borough Council
James Thatcher Recreation Officer Swale Borough Council
Anne Adams - Swale Borough Council
David Simmons Cabinet Member for Environmental 

and Rural Affairs
Swale Borough Council

John Wright Cabinet Member for Regeneration Swale Borough Council
Gerry Lewin Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member 

for Planning
Swale Borough Council

John Rook Secretary Swale Magpies FC
Mrs E Pearson Head Teacher Teynham Parochial Church of 

England Primary School
John Cunningham Secretary Teynham Wanderers FC
Adam Wicketts Secretary The Beach FC
Stuart Lamb FA Regional Facilities Manager The Football Association 
- Head Teacher The Oaks Community Infant School
Phil Radley Secretary The Wheatsheaf FC
Mark Pidcott Secretary Upchurch CC
Mr Colin Boswell Secretary Valley Express Kent Youth League
- Head Teacher West Minster Primary School
Sonia Houlker Head of Sport Westlands School
Ian Davies Secretary Woodcoombe CC
Les Cadwaller Secretary Woodstock Ladies FC
David Brown Secretary Woodstock Park FC

 

Page 206



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       95

APPENDIX ONE: SOURCE OF SUPPLY AND DEMAND INFORMATION 

The table below provides a summary of the appropriate sources of demand information that 
have been used: 

Sport Source of information

Football  Football Participation Report Season 11/12 (produced by The FA)
 League directories (for leagues servicing the Borough)
 Consultation with leagues (refer to Part 11 Consultee list) 
 Swale Sports Club Register 
 Consultation with The Football Association 
 Booking records for Swale Borough Council, education and other pitch 

providers 
 Survey to local clubs and stakeholders
 Face to face consultation with key clubs 
 Internet 

Cricket  Club and league directory (for club and leagues servicing the Borough). 
 Consultation with leagues (refer to Part 11 Consultee list)
 Swale Sports Club Register 
 Consultation with the English Cricket Board 
 Booking records for Swale Borough Council, education and other pitch 

providers 
 Suvey to local clubs and stakeholders
 Face to face consultation with key clubs 
 Internet 

Rugby Union  Consultaion with The Rugby Football Union (Refer to Part 11 Consultee list) 
 Swale Sports Club Register 
 Booking records for Swale Borough Council, education and other pitch 

providers 
 Survey to local clubs and stakeholders
 Face to face consultation with key clubs 
 Internet 

England 
Hockey 

 Consultation with England Hockey 
 Swale Sports Club Register 
 Survey to local clubs and stakeholders
 Face to face consultation with key clubs 
 Booking records for Swale Borough Council, education and other pitch 

providers 
 Internet 
 Local knowledge

Education  Survey of education establishments  
 Face to face consultation with secondary schools
 Booking records for education providers 
 Local authority engagement 

All  Sport England: Active Places  
 Sport England: Market Segmentation 
 Sport England: Active People 

Page 207



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       96

APPENDIX TWO: TEAM EQUIVALENTS  

Rugby training team equivalents collated via consultation: 

Club Number of mid week rugby training equivalents
Sittingbourne Rugby Football Club 12
Faversham Rugby Union Football Club 4
Sheppey Rugby Union Football Club 4

Football training team equivalents collated via consultation34: 

Club Number of mid week football training equivalents
Faversham Strike Force FC 7.5
Sittingbourne Athletic FC 1
Courtenay Rangers FC 1

Consultation identified training on football pitches was limited as the large majority of teams 
in Swale played either off site (i.e. not on the pitch) or using artificial grass pitches. 

34 Collated via consultation 

Page 208



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       97

APPENDIX THREE: PLAYING PITCH MODEL TABLES (FOOTBALL, CRICKET AND 
RUGBY)35

SWALE  Football Cricket Rugby 
Union

Adult teams 119 62 8
Junior teams 114 39 7

STAGE ONE
Identifying teams
 Mini teams 30  13

Adult games 0.5 0.7 0.5
Junior games 0.5 0.3 0.5

STAGE TWO
Calculate home games per week
 Mini games 0.5  0.25

Adult games 59.5 43.4 4
Junior games 57 11.7 3.5

STAGE THREE (S1 x S2)
Assessing home games per week
 
 

Mini games 15  3.25

Saturday Adult games 23% 71% 100%
 Junior games 21% 0% 0%
 Mini games 13%  0%
Sunday Adult games 61% 0% 0%
 Junior games 79% 100% 100%
 Mini games 87%  100%
Midweek Adult games 17% 29% 0%
 Junior games 0% 0% 0%

STAGE FOUR
 
Establish temporal demand 
for pitches
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0%  0%

Saturday Adult games 13.5 31 4
 Junior games 12 0 0
 Mini games 2  0
Sunday Adult games 36 0 0
 Junior games 45 11.7 3.5
 Mini games 13  3.25
Midweek Adult games 0.5 12.4 0
 Junior games 0 0 0

STAGE FIVE (S3 x S4)
 
Defining pitches used for each
day
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0  0

Adult pitches 64 8
Junior pitches 20 0

STAGE SIX
Establishing pitches currently available
(community use only) Mini pitches 11

25
6

Saturday Adult pitches 50.5 4.0
 Junior pitches 8.0 0 
 Mini pitches 9.0

-6.0
6.0

Adult pitches 28.0 8.0
Junior pitches -25.0 -3.5

Sunday
 
 Mini pitches -2.0

13.3
2.8

Midweek Adult pitches 54.0 8.0
 Junior pitches 20.0 0 

STAGE SEVEN (S6 - S5)
 
Identifying shortfall (-) and 
oversupply (+)
 
 
 
 

 Mini pitches 11.0
12.6

6.0

35 Note: The PPM has not been used for hockey (artificial grass pitches) as conclusions in relation to 
current and future demand have been concluded following a review of Sport England’s Facilities 
Planning Model November 2012 – Local Assessment Report and consultation with clubs and 
stakeholders.

Page 209



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       98

FAVERSHAM  Football Cricket Rugby 
Union

Adult teams 21 21 2

Junior teams 26 15 0
STAGE ONE
 Identifying teams
 Mini teams 3  0

Adult games 0.5 0.7 0.5

Junior games 0.5 0.3 0.5
STAGE TWO
 Calculate home games per week
 Mini games 0.5  0.25

Adult games 10.5 14.7 1

Junior games 13 4.5 0
STAGE THREE (S1 x S2)
 Assessing home games per week 
 Mini games 1.5  0

Saturday Adult games 43% 71% 100%

 Junior games 54% 0% 0%

 Mini games 100%  0%

Sunday Adult games 57% 0% 0%

 Junior games 46% 100% 0%

 Mini games 0%  0%

Midweek Adult games 0% 29% 0%

 Junior games 0% 0% 0%

STAGE FOUR
 
Establish temporal demand 
for pitches
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0%  0%

Saturday Adult games 4.5 10.5 1

 Junior games 7 0 0

 Mini games 1.5  0

Sunday Adult games 6 0 0

 Junior games 6 4.5 0

 Mini games 0  0

Midweek Adult games 0 4.2 0

 Junior games 0 0 0

STAGE FIVE (S3 x S4)
 
Defining pitches used for each
day
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0  0

Adult pitches 17 1

Junior pitches 2 0
STAGE SIX
Establishing pitches currently available
(community use only) Mini pitches 4

9
0

Saturday Adult pitches 12.5 0 

 Junior pitches -5.0 0 
 Mini pitches 2.5

-1.5
0 

Adult pitches 11.0 1.0

Junior pitches -4.0 0 
Sunday
 
 Mini pitches 4.0

4.5
0 

Midweek Adult pitches 17.0 1.0

 Junior pitches 2.0 0 

STAGE SEVEN (S6 - S5)
identifying shortfall (-) and 
oversupply (+)
 
 
 
 

 Mini pitches 4.0
4.8

0 

Page 210



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       99

SHEPPEY  Football Cricket Rugby 
Union

Adult teams 23 11 3

Junior teams 22 9 4
STAGE ONE
 Identifying teams 

Mini teams 10  6

Adult games 0.5 0.7 0.5

Junior games 0.5 0.3 0.5
STAGE TWO
Calculate home games per week
 Mini games 0.5  0.25

Adult games 11.5 7.7 1.5

Junior games 11 2.7 2
STAGE THREE (S1 x S2)
 Assessing home games per week 
 Mini games 5  1.5

Saturday Adult games 9% 71% 100%

 Junior games 5% 0% 0%

 Mini games 0%  0%

Sunday Adult games 91% 0% 0%

 Junior games 95% 100% 100%

 Mini games 100%  100%

Midweek Adult games 0% 29% 0%

 Junior games 0% 0% 0%

STAGE FOUR
 
 
Establish temporal demand 
for pitches
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0%  0%

Saturday Adult games 1 5.5 1.5

 Junior games 0.5 0 0

 Mini games 0  0

Sunday Adult games 10.5 0 0

 Junior games 10.5 2.7 2

 Mini games 5  1.5

Midweek Adult games 0 2.2 0

 Junior games 0 0 0

STAGE FIVE (S3 x S4)
 
 
Defining pitches used for each
day
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0  0

Adult pitches 11 3

Junior pitches 4 0
STAGE SIX
 Establishing pitches currently available
(community use only) Mini pitches 1

4
3

Saturday Adult pitches 10.0 1.5

 Junior pitches 3.5 0 
 Mini pitches 1.0

-1.5
3.0

Adult pitches 0.5 3.0

Junior pitches -6.5 -2.0
Sunday
 
 Mini pitches -4.0

1.3
1.5

Midweek Adult pitches 11.0 3.0

 Junior pitches 4.0 0 

STAGE SEVEN (S6 - S5)
 
 
Identifying shortfall (-) and 
oversupply (+)
 
 
 
 

 Mini pitches 1.0
1.8

3.0

Page 211



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       100

SITTINGBOURNE  Football Cricket Rugby 
Union

Adult teams 56 30 3

Junior teams 66 15 3
STAGE ONE
 Identifying teams
 Mini teams 17  7

Adult games 0.5 0.7 0.5

Junior games 0.5 0.3 0.5
STAGE TWO
 
Calculate home games per week Mini games 0.5  0.25

Adult games 28 21 1.5

Junior games 33 4.5 1.5
STAGE THREE (S1 x S2)
 
Assessing home games per week Mini games 8.5  1.75

Saturday Adult games 29% 71% 100%

 Junior games 14% 0% 0%

 Mini games 6%  0%

Sunday Adult games 70% 0% 0%

 Junior games 86% 100% 100%

 Mini games 94%  100%

Midweek Adult games 2% 29% 0%

 Junior games 0% 0% 0%

STAGE FOUR
 
 
Establish temporal demand 
for pitches
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0%  0%

Saturday Adult games 8 15 1.5

 Junior games 4.5 0 0

 Mini games 0.5  0

Sunday Adult games 19.5 0 0

 Junior games 28.5 4.5 1.5

 Mini games 8  1.75

Midweek Adult games 0.5 6 0

 Junior games 0 0 0

STAGE FIVE (S3 x S4)
 
 
Defining pitches used for each
day
 
 
 
 

 Mini games 0  0

Adult pitches 36 4

Junior pitches 14 0
STAGE SIX
 Establishing pitches currently available
(community use only) Mini pitches 6

12
3

Saturday Adult pitches 28.0 2.5

 Junior pitches 9.5 0 
 Mini pitches 5.5

-3.0
3.0

Adult pitches 16.5 4.0

Junior pitches -14.5 -1.5
Sunday
 
 Mini pitches -2.0

7.5
1.3

Midweek Adult pitches 35.5 4.0

 Junior pitches 14.0 0 

STAGE SEVEN (S6 - S5)
 
 
Identifying shortfall (-) and 
oversupply (+)
 
 
 
 

 Mini pitches 6.0
6.0

3.0

Page 212



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       101

APPENDIX FOUR: SITE VISIT PROFORMAS

  

KKP Site reference Site Name
Number of pitches Pitch ID(s) Pitch Type
Community Use?

Pitch Issues:

Background information: Number of games played on pitch each season

Number of games cancelled due to unfitness of pitch (excluding frozen pitches)

% of games cancelled per season

 

Element Comments

>94% 85-94% 70-84% 60-69% <60%

Excellent Good Very Poor

No - not adequate

No - not adequate

Flat Slight Gentle Moderate Severe

Excellent Good Very Poor

Yes - lots

Yes - lots

Yes - lots

Yes - lots

0 1 to 2 hrs 4+

 Poor

Poor

Training area Yes No eg nets/ goals/ grids off main body of pitch

Line markings - quality Excellent Good e.g. Have they been painted recently; are lines straight and clear etc

Cricket Only - Is the wicket protected when not used Yes No Is the wicket protected when not in use -  can be roped off or covered.

About the equipment/ wicket…
Winter Sports Only-  Goal Posts - quality Excellent Good Upright, straight, painted , for football, goals are there safe net hooks at both ends.  If posts 

are dismantled after game, or are removable goals,  assume Excellent.

Changing Accomodation Yes No Is the pitch served by changing facilities

Training ;  Estimated number of hours per week in season 2 to 4 hrs Training which takes place on the pitch area

Changing Accomodation

Problem Areas: Evidence of Damage to surface None Yes - some eg. golf divots, car-parking on field etc. If no evidence, assume none.May wish to refer to 
user survey

Problem Areas: Evidence of Unofficial use None Yes - some eg informal, casual use, unbooked use, kids kickabout etc. If no evidence, assume none 
.May wish to refer to user survey

Problem Areas: Evidence of Glass/ stones/ litter None Yes - some If no evidence, assume none. May wish to refer to user survey

Problem Areas: Evidence of Dog fouling None Yes - some If no evidence, assume none. May wish to refer to user survey

Slope of pitch / cricket outfield (gradient and cross fall) Cricket wickets should be flat.

Evenness of pitch / cricket field Poor Where field is comletely level = 'Excellent'

Adequate safety margins Yes - fully No- but adequate Does it meet the NGB standard?   See pitch sizes tab for dimensions

Length of grass Poor The ideal length of grass will vary between sports

Size of pitch / cricket field Yes - fully No- but adequate Does it meet the NGB standard?   See pitch sizes tab for dimensions

Non Technical Visual Quality Assessment - Individual Pitch Assessment

Assessment Criteria (please rank each of the following aspects for each pitch with an 'X' in the coloured box to the right of the chosen answer)

Rating Guidance notes
About the winter pitch/cricket field 
Grass cover - entire pitch / cricket field Where, 90%+ grass cover should be given 'Excellent'; less than 60% should be considered 

'very poor'

P
age 213



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       102

KKP Site reference Assessment undertaken by:
Site Name: Date of Assessment:
Changing Accom 
Name

Capacity of changing rooms; (Number of teams that can change at any one time in the facility) 

Changing Accomodation Issues:

Element Comments

Excellent Good Average Poor No changing

None

Yes - Good No  

Yes - Good No  

Poor

Poor/non

Poor

 Non Technical Visual Quality Assessment - Changing Accomodation

Assessment Criteria (please rank each of the following aspects for each pitch with an 'X' in the coloured box to the right of the 
chosen answer)

Rating Guidance notes
About the Changing Accomodation 

Overall Quality  
Perceived quality of changing accommodationDoes it look well 
maintained, clean, safe etc

Evidence of vandalism Yes - some Yes - lots Damage to pavillion, graffiti, broken glass etc

Showers Are there showers facilities,  what is their quality (if known)

Toilets Are there toilets - what is their condition (if known)

Yes - OK

Yes - OK

Yes -poor

Yes -poor

Parking Good OK Is there enough for circa 20 cars, bays marked out etc

Links to public transort Good OK
Is the site close to public transport links, proximity to bus stop, 
train station, hubs. 

Security Good OK
Does the accomodation look secure - secure doors/windows, 
evidence of breakins ( may get info from User Surveys)

Segregated changing Yes  No

Are there separate changing rooms for each team - can 
accomodation be used by both male and female teams at same 
time

P
age 214



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       103

APPENDIX FIVE: FOOTBALL PITCH SERVICE AREAS

P
age 215



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       104

APPENDIX SIX: CRICKET PITCH SERVICE AREAS

P
age 216



SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL
PLAYING PITCH ASSESSMENT

July 2013                3-007-1213 Final Report: Knight Kavanagh & Page                       105

APPENDIX SEVEN: RUGBY PITCH SERVICE AREAS

P
age 217



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Policy Development and Review Committee - Policies, plans and strategies due for review in 2015/16

Policies, plans and 
strategies

Service unit Due date for 
publication of 
new/revised 
policy, plan or 
strategy

Policy 
Development and 
Review Committee 
dates

Commentary

Housing Allocations 
Policy

Resident Services Autumn 2015 28 October 2015

Playing Pitch 
Strategy

Commissioning and Customer 
Contact Unit

December 2015 28 October 2015

Access 
Strategy/Digital First

Commissioning and Customer 
Contact Unit 

18 November 2015

Local Engagement 
Forum review

Economy and Community 
Services

18 November 2015

Sports Facilities 
Strategy 

Economy and Community 
Services

March 2016 18 November 2015

Corporate Equality 
Strategy

Policy and Performance March 2016 20 January 2016 The Committee 
considered an 
earlier report on 
this on 18/03/15.  

Data Quality 
Standard

Policy and Performance Revised standard 
to be published by 
31 March 2016

20 January 2016 Existing standard to 
be revised.  

Busking Policy Economy and Communities March 2016 20 January 2016
Open Spaces 
Strategy

Commissioning and Customer 
Contact

January 2016 24 February 2016

Volunteering 
Strategy refresh

Economy and Communities By March 2016 24 February 2016

Play Policy Commissioning and Customer By March 2016 24 February 2016

P
age 219

A
genda Item

 6



2

Policies, plans and 
strategies

Service unit Due date for 
publication of 
new/revised 
policy, plan or 
strategy

Policy 
Development and 
Review Committee 
dates

Commentary

Contact Unit
Revised Property 
Asset Strategy 2016-
19

Property Services May 2016 24 February 2016

Review of Council’s 
policy on use of 
Section 215 of the 
Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 
powers  

Planning Services - 24 February 2016 Section 215 of the 
Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 
provides local 
planning authorities 
with a power to 
require land to be 
cleaned up when its 
condition adversely 
affects the amenity 
of an area.  

Policy Development and Review Committee dates 2015/16: 

Committee meeting Deadline for reports
Wednesday 28 October 2015 Friday 16 October 2015
Wednesday 18 November 2015 Friday 6 November 2015
Wednesday 20 January 2016 Friday 8 January 2016
Wednesday 24 February 2016 Friday 12 February 2016

P
age 220


	Agenda
	4 Housing Allocations Policy
	Appendix I - Housing Allocations Policy

	5 Playing Pitch Strategy
	Appendix I
	Appendix II

	6 Committee Work Programme

